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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
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WEBSITE OF THE COMPANY

http://www.landing.com.hk

In the case of any inconsistency, the English text of this report shall

prevail over the Chinese text.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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Dr. Yang Zhihui (“Dr. Yang"), aged 49, is the Chairman of the board
of directors of Landing International Development Limited (the
“Company”) and has been an executive director of the Company
since 19 July 2013. He is one of the directors and the sole shareholder
of Landing International Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company. Dr. Yang had been a director of Hubei Landing Holding
Co., Ltd. (shares of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 000971) until December 2014 and a director and
general manager of China Dive Company Limited (shares of which
are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300526) until
December 2020. He was awarded with an honorary degree of Doctor
of Philosophy in Business Management at Jeju National University
in March 2017. Dr. Yang has extensive experience in property
development in the People’s Republic of China.

Ms. Chan Mee Sze (“Ms. Chan”), aged 46, has been an executive
director of the Company since 1 September 2018. She holds
several directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) as well. Ms. Chan obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Laws from University of London and a Master’s degree
in Business Administration from University of Dundee. She is also a
fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries
and a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms.
Chan has extensive experience in corporate administration and
corporate finance. She was an executive director of OCl International
Holdings Limited (shares of which are listed on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”), stock
code: 329) from April 2011 to August 2018 and an independent non-
executive director of Mingyuan Medicare Development Company
Limited (shares of which were listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 233) from May 2016 to January 2020.

Mr. Yeung Lo (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 51, has been an executive
director of the Company since 9 January 2020. He currently serves
as a Chief Operation Officer at Jeju Shinhwa World, the flagship
integrated resort project of the Group, which operated and
developed by Landing Jeju Development Co., Ltd. (“Landing Jeju”,
the wholly owned subsidiary of the Company). Mr. Yeung holds
several directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group as well. He
graduated from McGill University, Montreal, Canada with Bachelor's
degree of Engineering in Computer. Mr. Yeung recently served as
the Chief Executive Officer in GONGZI (Macau) Investment Company
Limited from 2018 to early 2019, and earlier as a Senior Vice President
(International Marketing Macau) in Crown Melbourne Limited from
2015 to 2017. He has over 20 years of professional experience in sales
and operations for technology solutions vendors and gaming and
hospitality services providers.
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Dr. Wong Hoi Po (“Dr. Wong"), aged 44, has been an executive
director of the Company since 3 February 2020. Dr. Wong holds
a Doctoral Degree in Business Administration, a Master’s degree
of Business Administration in Finance, and a Bachelor's degree in
Accounting from the United States. He currently serves as a Chief
Financial Officer at Jeju Shinhwa World, the flagship integrated
resort project of the Group, which operated and developed by
Landing Jeju and he previously served as a Senior Vice President at
Landing Jeju from 1 March 2019 to 5 January 2020. Dr. Wong holds
several directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group as well.
Prior to joining Landing Jeju, he worked as a Chief Financial Officer
at Creative Brilliant Investment Company Limited, Macau from
2016 to 2019. Before 2016, Dr. Wong had worked as an executive
director of finance at Venetian Macau Limited for 10 years. As an
external auditor, he started his finance and accounting career for an
accounting firm in the United States back in 2000. With approximately
20 years of professional and practical experience in the field of
accounting and finance, Dr. Wong also served as a part-time visiting
associate professor at Macau University of Science & Technology
lecturing a number of business administration programs at master's
degree level.

Ms. Pu Shen Chen ("Ms. Pu”), aged 49, has been an executive
director of the Company since 19 February 2020. She is a seasoned
senior business leader with extensive gaming industry experience
in management, operations and marketing to her current role as
the Chief Operation Officer at Landing Casino, which operated by
Landing Entertainment Korea Co., Ltd., the wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, and she previously served as an Executive Vice
President at Landing Casino from April 2019 to January 2020. Ms.
Pu holds several directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group
as well. In 2017 to 2019, she held the chief executive officer position
at a gaming services company. Before that, Ms. Pu's professional
career began her executive positions at MGM Resorts International
and MGM Grand Paradise Limited since 1996. Ms. Pu received
her Bachelor of Science in Hotel Administration from University of
Nevada, Las Vegas.

Mr. Li Chun Kei (“Mr. Li"), aged 37, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 15 January 2020.
Mr. Li graduated from University of Hull, United Kingdom with
Bachelor’s degree of Law in July 2007. He is a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountant. Mr. Li has over 10 years of
experience in corporate finance and accounting. He also worked in
PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2008 to 2011,
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Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham (“Mr. Shek”), aged 75, has been an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since 14 August
2020. Mr. Shek graduated from the University of Sydney and holds
a Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Diploma in Education. He was
appointed as a Justice of the Peace in 1995 and was awarded the
Silver Bauhinia Star and the Gold Bauhinia Star by the government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “HKSAR") in 2007
and 2013 respectively. Mr. Shek is a member of the HKSAR Legislative
Council representing the Real Estate and Construction Functional
Constituency, a member of the Advisory Committee on Corruption
of the Independent Commission Against Corruption, a member
of the Court and Council of The University of Hong Kong and a
honorary member of Court of The Hong Kong University of Science &
Technology.

Currently, Mr. Shek is an independent non-executive director of
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock code: 1313),
Chuang'’s China Investments Limited (stock code: 298), Chuang's
Consortium International Limited (stock code: 367), Cosmopolitan
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 120), Country Garden
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007), CSI Properties Limited
(stock code: 497), Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (stock
code: 3699), Far East Consortium International Limited (stock code:
35), Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group Limited
(stock code: 1341), ITC Properties Group Limited (stock code: 199),
Lai Fung Holdings Limited (stock code: 1125), Lifestyle International
Holdings Limited (stock code:1212), NWS Holdings Limited (stock
code: 659), Paliburg Holdings Limited (stock code: 617) and SIM
Holdings Limited (stock code: 880), all being listed public companies
in Hong Kong. He is also an independent non-executive director of
Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited (the manager of Champion
Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 2778)) and Regal Portfolio
Management Limited (the manager of Regal Real Estate Investment
Trust (stock code: 1881)), both trusts are listed on the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Shek is an executive director of Goldin Financial Holdings Limited
(stock code: 530), being listed public company in Hong Kong.

During the last three years, Mr. Shek was an independent non-
executive director of Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
47), Midas International Holdings Limited (now known as Magnus
Concordia Group Limited) (stock code: 1172) and MTR Corporation
Limited (stock code: 66), all being listed public companies in Hong
Kong.
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Mr. Du Peng (“Mr. Du”), aged 39, has been an independent non-
executive Director of the Company since 12 March 2021. Mr. Du
graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law with
a Doctoral degree of marketing in June 2009. He is the Head of
Department of Marketing, the Director of Management Case
Research Center and the Associate Professor of School of Business
and Administration in Zhongnan University of Economics and Law.
Mr. Du has over 12 years of experience in marketing consultancy and
training.

Save as disclosed herein, there is no other relationship between each
of the Directors and senior management as required to be disclosed
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Director(s)”) (the “Board”)
of Landing International Development Limited (the “Company”), |
have the pleasure to report on the financial results, operations and
other aspects of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company is an investment holding company, and during the
Year, the principal activities of the Group are (i) development and
operation of the integrated leisure and entertainment resort (the
“Integrated Resort Development”); (ii) operation of gaming and
entertainment facilities (the “Gaming Business”); and (iii) property
development (the “Property Development”).

Financial Results

For the Year, the Group's consolidated revenue was approximately
HK$788,011,000 (2019: approximately HK$815,533,000), representing
a slight decrease of approximately 3.4% when compared to the year
ended 31 December 2019. The decrease in consolidated revenue
was mainly due to the outbreak of COVID-19 leading to the (i) drop
of visitation to the Group's foreigner-only casino; and (ii) reduction
of property sale activities. However, as a result of the increase in
consumption and visitation by domestic customers in South Korea, an
increase in revenue generated from integrated resort was recorded in
the second half of the Year. During the Year, non-gaming revenue was
approximately HK$601,525,000 (2019: approximately HK$602,416,000)
while gaming revenue was approximately HK$186,486,000 (2019:
approximately HK$213,117,000).

For the Year, the loss attributable to the owners of the Company
was approximately HK$2,115,001,000 (2019: approximately
HK$2,132,855,000). The basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to owners of the parent was HK63.28 cents (2019: HK72.67 cents).
Despite the decline in consolidated revenue for the Year, mainly
attributable to the (i) decrease in operating expenses and employee
benefit expenses; (i) decrease in fair values of investment properties;
and (iii) decrease in impairment of trade and other receivables and
property, plant and equipment, the consolidated net loss for the Year
was slightly less than the consolidated net loss for the year ended 31
December 2019.

As at 31 December 2020, the consolidated net asset value of the
Company was approximately HK$10,446,617,000 (2019: approximately
HK$11,884,767,000) and the consolidated net asset value per number
of ordinary shares in issue attributable to owners of the parent was
approximately HK$2.97 (2019: approximately HK$4.05).

AAERREGBEBRZERARAR(TARQF )
Ex(g)e((EEg ) MARSART
REMBRAR(AEAKE ) BE_T_FTF
ToA=t-"ALFE(XFED2HBE
B RERRREMER -

B L s L3

ARBIRREERRAR RAFE  AEEE
BEBR()ERREEEA KRB RIREE R
((REEBRNBER]  ()E2BY RRERE
(IMEEEH])  Li)MEER(NERR]) -

P RAE

HEAFE  AEBELSRE W= A788,011,000
BIL(ZZ — %+ 49815,533,0008 L) © &
HE-"Z-hAF+-A=1+—HBILEERAN
D HI3.4% o BRE W R D E B B R AT
A& (COVID-19) @ MBE « () ANEBINE A
ERBRELEMPRETER M)VDEHEEE
B o AT ARERAHEFAEE R
MEEN AFETH+FREEBNHKASR
Frig& o AFE - JEEF U 49601,525,000
BIT(ZZE— N F : £9602,416,000587T) © M
B U5 49186,486,0008 T (— T — LG : 4
213,117,000 7T) °

HEAFEARAABEEAEMLEEY
£2,115,001,0008 (= & — L F: &
2,132,855,000/870) - I A RHA AEEGRE
AN EERE A 6328 BI( = —hF 1 72.67
B - RERBEAFERANERD =B
R EEBRAREERANERRED : (VRE
YIEB N FEE T B (i) EWE 558 R H A
FEBGRIAA R EE - BE KR ERRER D -
MHEATEGABEFERERBEE S
—NFE+ A=+ BALFENGRABIEFE -

RZBE_EBEF+-_A=+—0 ARAEEE
BESFE L) 510,446,617,000 T(ZF— N4 -
#711,884,767,000/87T) * MmEHARIEER ARG
BREBITERBRZGEEEFENR297E
TL(ZE—NF  #94.0587C) °

Annual Report 2020 £k 9



LETTER FROM THE BOARD
EHE R

OPERATION AND BUSINESS REVIEW
Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The global economy has been facing severe challenges since the
widespread of COVID-19 pandemic in January 2020, resulting in a
materially adverse effect on our operating results throughout 2020.
The number of foreign visitors decreased by 85.6% for the Year in
South Korea compared to that of 2019, according to the statistics
released by Korea Tourism Organisation.

A series of travel restrictions and control measures have been
implemented within and across different countries to mitigate the risk
of COVID-19. After the first wave of infection, South Korea detected
only single-digit numbers of new cases in several days in April 2020, it
was brought under control from April to July. However the number of
confirmed cases increased again thereafter in August and December.
The Government of South Korea has introduced some measures
concerning cross border travelling, including COVID-19 testing
before arrival, mandatory screenings for international arrivals at all
ports and a 14-day self-quarantine requirement regardless of testing
outcomes. Attributable to the early robust public health response
based around extensive testing and tech-powered contact tracing
being implemented by the Government of South Korea, the number
of infected case had remained very low in Jeju in 2020.

Our major business in Jeju Island, South Korea, which largely relies
on entertainment and hospitality market conditions, especially
the gaming business, has been inevitably affected by COVID-19.
Operating hours and maximum capacity across our attractions,
restaurants and facilities are being continuously adjusted according
to government guidelines. In order to strengthen the epidemic
prevention, measures like body temperature monitoring and
enhanced disinfection cleaning are implemented.

With the rollout of COVID vaccines giving hope, it is expected that
the vaccines are likely to ease various kind of restrictions in the
foreseeable future. However, at the present time, we are still facing
difficulties in anticipating the material development of COVID-19
and a wide range of public policies to be introduced globally and
regionally, especially the travel restrictions, which could significantly
affect our core businesses.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
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OPERATION AND BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Integrated Resort Development

Jeju Shinhwa World, an integrated resort located in Jeju Island, South
Korea is the core business of the Group developed by Landing Jeju
Development Co., Ltd. (“Landing Jeju”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company.

Jeju Shinhwa World is an iconic world-class resort destination
in Northeast Asia comprising of a selection of premium hotels,
convention & exhibition centre, retail mall, food & beverage outlets,
leisure and entertainment complex, theme park and water park, and
the largest foreigners-only casino in Jeju.

More than 2,000 high-quality guest rooms and suites are available for
bookings including own brand label Landing Resort, the first and only
five-star rated Marriott resort, family adventure at Shinhwa Resort
and full-serviced Somerset suites in Jeju. The hotels are strategically
positioned to cater to all segments of guests visiting the resort.
All hotels in the resort have consistently ranked high in reviews by
the guests and won multiple commendations from the hospitality
industry. The infinity pool in Shinhwa Resort has quickly become a big
draw to the visitors with its spectacular view of Jeju’s natural horizon
during the day and its DJ pool party events in the evening. The
spectacular view of Jeju’s natural horizon distinguishes Jeju Shinhwa
World as the best integrated resort in Northeast Asia. A unique
garden where scents of the forest filled with fresh woodland air and
traces of Jeju culture.

Shinhwa Theme Park attracts both domestic and foreign tourists. The
park is themed with Larva characters from a popular local animated
production and offers more than 15 amazing rides and attractions
for children and families with add-on seasonal attractions such as ice
rink in winter months and bumper cars in summer months. The theme
park is also an ideal venue for large scale events and has been used
for New Year's Eve countdown party, FIFA World Cup soccer event,
dinner function for USPGA golf tournament, etc.

Shinhwa Waterpark is the newest and largest waterpark in Jeju with
18,000 square meters of space. It features a wave pool, water slides,
rides, spa, kid pool, and a private cabana area suitable for visitors of
all ages. Since its opening in August 2018, Shinhwa Waterpark has
anchored itself to be the first-choice water park attraction in Jeju,
which can host more than 4,000 visitors during peak days.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
EHE R

OPERATION AND BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Integrated Resort Development (continued)

Jeju Shinhwa World also houses the most extensive food and
beverage outlets under one roof in Jeju, offering a wide selection
of local and international cuisines including the most authentic
Cantonese restaurant well-liked by both tourists and local residents
which is helmed by an award-winning master chef. After dining, the
poolside bar by Shinhwa Resort's signature Sky Pool offer a romantic
view of Jeju island’s iconic Oreum ridge lines.

The MICE business capitalising on the largest column-free ballroom in
Jeju and the adjacent conference room facilities, Landing Convention
Centre in Jeju Shinhwa World has been the host venue for many high
profile regional and international events. Due to Jeju's close proximity
to major cities in China and visa-free policy, Landing Convention
Centre is an ideal place for various conferences and incentive groups
from China.

Since the travel restrictions implemented and the widespread
of COVID-19 pandemic at the beginning of 2020, visitations had
dropped dramatically during the Year. Large scale expansion projects,
such as Four Seasons Resorts and Lionsgate Movie World, were
suspended to preserve healthy liquidity of the Group. In response to
the decreasing number of cross-border travellers, we concentrated
on domestic market by offering discounted family packages and
promotion events that combined our water and theme parks, food
and beverage as bundles. Our enhanced marketing strategy has been
rewarded a satisfactory response with improving hotel occupancy rate
since May 2020. During the high season in 2020, the occupancy rate
had surged to over 80%.

For the Year, Jeju Shinhwa World generated segment revenue of
approximately HK$504,233,000 (2019: approximately HK$488,615,000),
which mainly derived from its hotels, MICE events, food and
beverage services, attraction theme parks and merchandise sales
as well as leases of retail spaces in the resort. Segment loss of the
Integrated Resort Development for the Year was approximately
HK$1,280,324,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,076,090,000).
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
R

OPERATION AND BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Gaming Business

Landing Casino located in Jeju Shinhwa World is currently the
largest foreigners-only casino in Jeju with 155 gaming tables, 239
slot machines and electronic table games with exclusive gaming area
approximately 5,500 square meters. With its scale and international
standard gaming equipment and best practices, Landing Casino
used to host some of the biggest gaming tournaments in the industry
which were attended by some of the most renowned professional
players from every part of the world and attracted customers from all
over Asian region including VIPs who have never visited Jeju before.

The outbreak of COVID-19, since January 2020 has adversely affected
our Gaming Business due to the dramatic decrease of cross-border
visitors traveled to Jeju from China and elsewhere under a series
of travel restrictions and control measures within and across the
countries.

For the Year, Landing Casino recorded net revenue of approximately
HK$186,486,000 (2019: approximately HK$213,117,000) and segment
loss from the Gaming Business was approximately HK$509,375,000
(2019: approximately HK$469,038,000).

As of 31 December 2020, impairment of approximately HK$5,438,000
and HK$294,462,000 were made on the relevant goodwill and
intangible assets of the business of Landing Casino, respectively.
However, no impairment was recorded on the relevant property,
plant and equipment after the assessment.

Property Development

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the sales and marketing activities
for selling the resort condominiums and villas in zone R of Jeju
Shinhwa World were inevitably affected during the Year.

For the Year, revenue from sales of residential properties
amounted to approximately HK$97,292,000 (2019: approximately
HK$113,801,000) and segment profit of approximately HK$8,725,000
(2019: approximately HK$23,226,000) was recorded in the Property
Development segment.

As of 31 December 2020, approximately HK$875,637,000 (2019:
approximately HK$982,533,000) was classified as completed
properties for sale.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
EHE R

OUTLOOK

We believe that COVID-19 will continue to influence our business
for the immediate future. Given the uncertainties as to when the
COVID-19 pandemic will be under control and the business impact
thereof will be challenging, we will continue to closely monitor the
development of the circumstances and work diligently to sustain our
business during this challenging period of time.

Before the lifting of travel restrictions cross different countries, we
will continue to focus on domestic market in South Korea by offering
attractive packages and promotion events. In the meantime, we will
continue to implement stringent cost control measures to enhance
our competitiveness and get our Jeju Shinhwa World, including
Landing Casino ready for the recovery of overseas demands.

Due to the lockdown and travel restrictions in the Philippines, the
Group has faced difficulties in identifying another lease of land
as required by Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation
("PAGCOR”) for the development of an integrated resort in the
Philippines. However, the Group has been granted a suspension
by PAGCOR of the prescribed period provided under Article VI,
paragraph (a) of the provision license, under which the Group is
allowed to have further time to submit a remedy for the provisional
license. As there has been a significant change in global business
environment and market condition during the Year and perhaps
more public policies would be introduced under the impact of
COVID-19, the Company will adopt a cautious approach to evaluate
the feasibility of relevant lease of land and development should
opportunities arise.

Facing the unexpected challenges caused by the impact of COVID-19
pandemic, the Company will continue to appraise the funding
needs and the financial position of the Group from time to time and
will strive to implement appropriate measures promptly, including
modifying our business plans and marketing strategies, where
appropriate, exploring fundraising and financing facilities if and
when opportunities arise. On the other hand, the Group will appraise
other potential projects to broaden the scope of business and will
also improve its facilities to complement the existing business in Jeju
Shinhwa World in order to fuel the growth of the Group.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
R

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is aware that it is exposed to various risks, including

general risk factors applied to the overall market and specific risk

factors applied to our respective business segments. There are risk

management and internal control systems established to ensure that

significant risks which may adversely affect the implementation of the

Group's business strategy and performance are identified, reported,

monitored, and managed on a continuous basis. Principal risks and

uncertainties of the Group include:

Integrated Resort Development

i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

market conditions and trends in the tourism industry: the
general market conditions and prospects of the global economy
will affect the growth and profitability of the tourism industry in
South Korea. Other factors can influence the tourism industry as
well, such as international tourism patterns, currency fluctuations
and the favourability of government policies. Any recession
in the global economy, deflation or change in government
policies, or deterioration in the tourism industry in South Korea
would adversely affect Jeju Shinhwa World's operations and
profitabilities;

shortage of labour and rising labour costs: the service industry
is generally labour intensive and the Group may encounter
difficulties staffing the operations. The operations in Jeju
Shinhwa World requires large number of labour from various
professions with specific skills. Significant increase in the costs
of labour would increase the Group's staff costs and adversely
affect the Group's profitability; and

project cost overruns and delays: the construction progress
may be affected by unforeseeable factors such as weather
interference, natural disasters, or shortages of building materials
or skilled labour. Contractors may be responsible for the
additional costs of delays. If the contractors are not able to fulfill
their obligations, the Group may be required to bear additional
project costs.

the outbreak of infectious disease (i.e. COVID-19) may have a
severe impact on the visitation of the Group’s attractions and
thereby affect the operations performance of the Company.
The Group's integrated resort development, which is heavily
dependent on entertainment and hospitality market condition,
will be inevitably affected.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
EHE R

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

Gaming Business

i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

winnings of players in casino could exceed casino’s winnings:
due to an inherent risk in the gaming industry, a casino does not
have full control over its win-rates or those of the players. If the
win-rates of players exceed those of the casino, the Group may
record a loss from gaming operations, which could materially
and adversely affect the Group's business, cash flow, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects;

theoretical win rates for casino operations depend on various
factors, some beyond its control: in addition to the element of
chance, theoretical win rates are also affected by other factors,
including players’ skill and experience, the mix of games played,
the financial resources of players, the spread of table limits, the
volume of bets played and the amount of time players spend
on gambling. These factors, alone or in combination, may
negatively impact the casino’s win rates, which may materially
and adversely affect the Group's business, cash flow, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects;

risk of fraud or cheating by gaming patrons: players in the
casino may commit fraud or attempt to cheat at times in
collusion with employees of the casino in order to increase
their winnings. Failure to discover such schemes in a timely
manner could result in losses in gaming operations. In addition,
negative publicity arising from such schemes could have a
material and adverse impact on the Group's reputation, which
may further adversely affect the Company’s business, cash flow,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects; and

anti-money laundering policies and compliances with applicable
anti-money laundering laws may not be sufficient in preventing
money laundering activities at the casino: the casino gaming
industry is prone to potential money laundering and other
illegal activities and the casino may not be able to completely
prevent money laundering and other illegal activities from
occurring within its casino premises.

the outbreak of infectious disease (i.e. COVID-19) may have
a severe impact on the number of patrons of the Group's
foreigner-only casino, which is heavily rely on tourism industry
in South Korea. The operation and profitability will therefore be
inevitably affected.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
R

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

Property Development

() changes in government regulations and policies: the local
governments may periodically revise relevant regulations and
policies in property development according to the latest market
development in real estate, and this will significantly affect the
Group's development plans, budgets and strategies;

(i) environmental risk: the potential liability for environmental
problems could result in substantial costs due to a variety of
laws and regulations concerning the protection for health and
the environment; and

(iii)  volatile real estate prices: real estate demands and prices are
sensitive to various economic and social factors, for example,
the state of the economy, bank interest rates, the size of the
population and the prevailing immigration policy. The real
estate prices could be volatile due to these factors, in turn
affecting the Group's turnover, budget and operation.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had non-current assets
of approximately HK$11,511,550,000 (2019: approximately
HK$12,597,475,000) and net current assets of approximately
HK$720,048,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,106,435,000). The current
ratio, expressed as the ratio of the current assets over the current
liabilities, was 1.5 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 1.8). The decrease
in the current ratio is mainly due to the decrease in prepayment
and other receivables as at 31 December 2020. The decrease in
prepayment was mainly due to the full refund of prepaid purchase
costs of an item of property, plant and equipment. The decrease
in other receivables was mainly due to the continuous repayment
received for loans and loan interest receivables.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
EHE R

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY
(continued)

For the Year, the impairment of trade and other receivables (net)
amounted to approximately HK$52,815,000 (2019: approximately
HK$181,383,000). The provisions mainly consisted of overdue
receivables with long aging periods. As at 31 December 2020,
the Group had prepayments, trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$425,093,000 (2019: approximately HK$939,626,000).
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$647,418,000, with approximately HK$419,623,000,
HK$206,692,000 and HK$19,310,000 held in Hong Kong dollars
("HKD"), Korean Won (“KRW") and United States dollars (“USD"),
respectively and the remaining balances mainly held in UK pound
sterling ("GBP") (2019: approximately HK$398,033,000, with
approximately HK$11,707,000, HK$205,574,000, HK$4,538,000 and
HK$175,015,000 held in HKD, KRW, USD and Philippine Pesos (“"PHP"),
respectively and the remaining balances mainly held in GBP).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had current trade and other
payables of approximately HK$471,735,000 (2019: approximately
HK$510,418,000) and bank and other borrowings in KRW with
fixed interest rate of approximately HK$2,536,498,000 (2019:
bank and other borrowings in USD with floating interest rate of
approximately HK$140,774,000 and in KRW with fixed interest rate of
approximately HK$2,426,137,000) while total liabilities of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$3,101,925,000 (2019: approximately
HK$3,235,073,000). The Group's gearing ratio, which was measured
on the basis of the Group's total liabilities divided by total assets, was
22.9% (2019: 21.4%).
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
R

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Placing

On 22 April 2020, the Company completed the placing (the “Placing”)
of 586,978,800 shares (the “Placing Shares”) under the general
mandate to not less than six placees, who are independent third
parties, at the placing price of HK$0.235 per share pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement dated 30 March 2020,
entered between the Company and the placing agent. The Placing
Shares representing approximately 16.67% of the issued share capital
of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issuance of the
Placing Shares immediately upon completion. The net proceeds from
the Placing, after deduction of the placing commission and other
related expenses, amounted to approximately HK$137,100,000 is
intended to use for general working capital of the Gaming Business
and the Integrated Resort Development in Jeju Island, South Korea
and payment of interest expenses. As at 31 December 2020, the
whole amount of such net proceeds has been applied towards
its intended use as stated in the announcement dated 30 March
2020, of which, approximately HK$107,745,000 was applied towards
employee benefit and other operating expenses and approximately
HK$29,355,000 was applied towards interest expenses.

As at 31 December 2020 and the date of this report, the total number
of issued ordinary shares of the Company was 3,521,877,510 shares
with nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Investments

Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income

As at 31 December 2020, the Group was holding listed equity
investments at a fair value of approximately HK$30,420,000
(representing approximately 0.2% of the consolidated total assets of
the Group), which were classified as equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income (2019: approximately
HK$35,846,000). Net fair value losses in respect of these investments
of approximately HK$5,426,000, which was mainly resulted from
the downward movement of stock price of the equity investment
in Kingston Financial Group Limited (the shares of which are listed
on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1031), were
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
during the Year. There was no single equity investment representing
more than 0.2% of the consolidated total assets of the Group as at 31
December 2020.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS (continued)

Disclosable Transaction - Disposal

On 15 May 2020, the Group completed the disposal of the entire
issued share capital of Stepwide Developments Limited (“Stepwide”),
which through its indirect subsidiary, Landing Korea Co., Ltd.,
holding lands and buildings in Jeju, South Korea, at a consideration
of HK$120,000,000. After the disposal, the Company is no longer
a shareholder of Stepwide. Hence, the financial results, assets and
liabilities of Stepwide and its subsidiaries ceased to be consolidated
into the consolidated financial statement of the Company. Details
of this transaction were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 11 May 2020 and 14 May 2020.

On 25 August 2020, the Group completed the sale of one Bombardier
Global 6000 aircraft at the consideration of US$18,875,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$147,225,000). Details of this transaction were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 24 August
2020.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other significant investment,
material acquisition or disposal during the period under review that
the shareholders of the Company should be notified of.

The Company will make further announcements and comply with
the relevant requirement under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as and
when appropriate in case there is any material investment(s) being
identified and entered into by the Group. The Company does not
rule out the possibility that the Group will conduct debt and/or equity
fundraising exercises when suitable fundraising opportunities arise
in order to support future developments and/or investments of the
Group and the Company will comply with the Listing Rules, where
applicable, in this regard.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

BEA AR

RIMEBMK  AEBBUATEARAE

2020 2019
—EIEH —T-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHBT
Contracted, but not provided for: BRI 4B REBE -
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB R 12,600 322,758
Properties under development BRAME - 46,888
12,600 369,646
Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material capital B EXFTIEEEIN - AEBUETMEKRER
commitments. HE o
CONTINGENT LIABILITY KA AR

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2019: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the following assets of the Group were
pledged to certain banks or financial institutions to secure general
banking facilities and other facilities payable granted to the Group:

NZZEZFF+_A=+—H0 AEBLEMF
MEARAREBE(ZZE—HLEF &) -

¥ kA

R-FE-_TF+-_A=1+—H A&EERET
RITHUBRIBIEIRATEE - ERASER
BE—RIRTTRE MEMENEE 2R

2020 2019

—EIEF —T-hF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FTET FHBT

Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE 1,405,418 1,523,652

Investment properties wEMZE 54,649 3,936

Completed properties for sale HEETERME 875,637 951,074
Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material B ENXFIEZEEI  AEBWETHNENEE

charges on assets. A o

CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT AND LIQUIDITY
RISK

The Group's objective regarding cash flow management is to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through a combination of internal resources, bank borrowings,
and other debt or equity securities, as appropriate. The Group is
comfortable with the present financial and liquidity position, and will
continue to maintain a reasonable liquidity buffer to ensure sufficient
funds are available to meet liquidity requirements at all times.
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CURRENCY AND INTEREST RATE STRUCTURE

Business transactions of the Group are mainly denominated in HKD,
KRW, USD, RMB and PHP. Currently, the Group has not entered into
any agreement to hedge against foreign exchange risk. In view of the
fluctuation of KRW, USD, RMB and PHP in recent years, the Group will
continue monitoring the situation closely and will introduce suitable
measures as and when appropriate.

The Group had limited exposure to interest rate fluctuations on
bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2020, as the interest
rates applicable to the bank and other borrowings are mostly fixed
throughout their respective loan terms.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had around 1,525 (2019: around
1,785) full-time employees with total staff costs (including Directors’
remuneration) amounting to approximately HK$553,574,000
(2019: approximately HK$692,316,000) including management and
administrative staff. The employees were mainly stationed in South
Korea and Hong Kong. The remuneration, promotion and salary
increments of employees are assessed according to the individual's
performance, as well as professional and working experience, and in
accordance with prevailing industry practices. The Group also offers a
variety of training schemes to its employees.

CASH INCIDENT
Updates on the Cash Incident

In early January 2021, the amount of approximately KRW14.56 billion
cash (equivalent to approximately HK$103.8 million) (the “Missing
Fund”) of the Group being kept in Jeju Shinhwa World, an integrated
resort development owned by the Group was missing and the
Group has been unable to reach the employee-in-charge (the “Cash
Incident”). The Company has immediately reported the Cash Incident
to the police in Jeju, South Korea and the investigation is still on-
going currently.
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CASH INCIDENT (continued)
Updates on the Cash Incident (continued)

As previously announced by the Company, Jeju Special Self-
Governing Provincial Police Agency of Korea (the “Jeju Police”)
issued an Investigation Progress Notification to the Group in
March 2021. The Group was given to understand that (i) certain
suspected accomplices have been identified; (ii) arrest warrants
for those suspected accomplices were issued by the Korean court
and the wanted actions were also filed with and commenced by
the International Criminal Police Organization; (iii) three suspected
accomplices were arrested so far; and (iv) approximately KRW 13.4
billion (equivalent to approximately HK$95.5 million) (the “Seized
Money") were seized by the Jeju Police in accordance with the due
process of Korean law, and are being kept in the deposit account of
a bank under the name of the Jeju Police, and the Seized Money is
expected to be part of the amount of the Group missed as a result of
the Cash Incident.

The investigation by the Jeju Police is still on-going, and it is
anticipated that the Seized Money will be returned to the Group after
the relevant investigation and/or legal procedures are complete.

Actions taken

Immediately after the Cash Incident, security measures and control
procedures were strengthened, even though they have been similar
and consistent with those for safe deposit boxes at a bank, e.g.
increase personal identity verification steps when approaching the
safe deposit box, setting the time limit for entering into the safe
deposit room after identity verification. Moreover, every effort has
been being made to assist and further the Jeju Police’s investigation.

To the best knowledge of the Board, the Jeju Police has identified a
few suspects who may have involved in the Cash Incident and none is,
or is related to, any director of the Company. Whilst the investigation
has been conducted by the Jeju Police, the Company has also set
up a special team in Jeju to conduct an internal review concerning
the existing security measures and control procedures, with a view
to identify potential issues and advise on improvement. In addition,
the Group has also conducted an internal review of its recent cash
position and no indications of any irregularities found. The Group will
consider engaging external professional and/or consultant to conduct
further investigation or review to assess if there is any other indication
of potential risk in this regard, if and when appropriate.
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CASH INCIDENT (continued)
Impact of the Cash Incident

Independent legal opinions were sought in respect of the status and
position of the Missing Fund and Seized Money and it is considered
that the Group have the ownership of the Seized Money seized by
the Jeju Police as at the date of this report. The cash loss resulting
from the Cash Incident amounting to approximately HK$28,961,000
had been accounted for and reflected in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss of the Group for the Year.

Having made all reasonable enquiries and sought professional
opinions, the Board is of the views that:

(@) the Cash Incident has had limited significance on the Group's
overall operations;

(b)  the Cash Incident did not and does not have material impact on
the financial position of the Group; and

()  the Cash Incident did not and does not have material impact on
the daily operations of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As aforementioned herein, on 4 January 2021, the management of
the Group discovered that certain funds amounting to approximately
KRW14,555,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$103,713,000)
belonging to the Group kept in Jeju, South Korea was missing (the
“Cash Incident”). The Group was unable to reach the employee-in-
charge of the funds and the Cash Incident was reported to the police
in South Korea.

Further, up to the date of this report, the Cash Incident is
still under investigation by the Jeju Police and approximately
KRW13,400,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$95,483,000) was
seized by the Jeju Police and the seized money will be retained by
the Jeju Police until the investigation process is complete.

Details of this Cash Incident are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 5 January 2021, 4 March 2021 and 15 March 2021.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company, the
Board shall consider, among others, (i) the actual and expected
financial results of the Company; (ii) factors having impacts on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company; (iii)
the Company's business strategy and operational plans; and (iv) the
current and expected liquidity position and capital requirements of
the Company. Further, the Company’s declaration of dividends is also
subject to the compliance with the Company's bye-laws, the Listing
Rules and applicable law(s).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2019: Nil).

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to convey our sincere gratitude
to all employees for their diligence and contributions to the Group.

| would also like to acknowledge the continual support from our
customers, suppliers, bankers and shareholders during the Year.

Jie B BUR
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For and on behalf of the Board

Yang Zhihui
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company is committed to upholding a high standard of
corporate governance and business ethics in the belief that they are
essential for maintaining and promoting investors’ confidence and
maximising shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the rising
expectations of shareholders, to comply with increasingly stringent
local and international regulatory requirements, and to fulfil its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and
adopted and complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
"CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except for
the following deviations:

(i) Dr. Yang Zhihui, the chairman and an executive Director of the
Company, was unable to attend the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 26 June 2020 (the “AGM") since he had
other business engagement out of Hong Kong, which deviated
from code provision E.1.2; and

(i)  after the retirement of the Directors upon the conclusion of
the AGM, the Company failed to comply with Rule 3.10(1),
Rule 3.10A and Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the terms
of reference of each of the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) of the Company (the “Board Committees”).
Following the appointment of Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham as
the independent non-executive Director and a member of
each of the Board Committees on 14 August 2020, the Board
comprised five executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. As a result, the number of independent
non-executive Directors and the number of members of each
of the Board Committees comply with the requirements under
Rule 3.10(1), Rule 3.10A and Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
the terms of reference of each of the Board Committees.
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THE BOARD

The Board is mainly responsible for overseeing the business and
affairs of the Group and aims to enhance the Company's value for
stakeholders. The Directors, individually and collectively, must act in
good faith in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
Roles of the Board include reviewing and guiding corporate strategies
and policies, monitoring financial and operating performance and
establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management and
internal control systems.

The primary role of the Board is to oversee how management serves
the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. To do this,
the Board has adopted corporate governance principles aimed at
ensuring that the Board is independent and fully informed on the key
strategic issues facing the Company. As at the date of this report, the
Board comprises five executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors.

The Company appointed Dr. Yang Zhihui as the chairman of the
Board and executive Director on 19 July 2013. Dr. Yang Zhihui has
over a decade's experience in property development in the People's
Republic of China. There is a clear distinction between the chairman’s
responsibilities and the executive directors’ responsibilities for
running the day-to-day business of the Company so as to ensure a
balance of power and segregation of duties. The primary role of the
chairman is to formulate the overall strategic development of the
Group. The Company does not have a position of “Chief Executive
Officer”, therefore, the executive Directors undertake the day-to-day
management of the Company's business and strategic planning of
the Group with the advice of all non- executive Directors. Under the
existing arrangement, the Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is adequately ensured and the current arrangement
is for the benefit of the Group. However, the Board will also review
regularly the board composition and appoint a Chief Executive
Officer if a suitable candidate is identified.
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The balanced board composition has been formed to ensure strong
independence exists across the Board and save as mentioned herein,
the Company has met the requirements under Rule 3.10 and Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules for the Board to include at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing at least one-third
of the Board. At least one of the independent non-executive Directors
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules. The brief biographical details of the Directors are set
out on pages 5 to 8, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications. The Company has received from the
three independent non-executive Directors annual confirmations
of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company considers such Directors to be independent. In
respect of code provision D.1.4 under the CG Code, formal letters of
appointment for Directors setting out the key terms and conditions of
their respective appointment were executed by all Directors.

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-Laws”),
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the
meeting at which he retires.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting of members after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to facilitate fullest
possible attendance. The company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) assists the executive Directors in setting the
agenda of Board meetings and each Director is invited to present
any business that he wishes to discuss or propose at such meetings.
Board papers are circulated to all Directors within reasonable time
before the Board meetings to ensure timely access to relevant
information. Directors may choose to take independent professional
advice if necessary. Draft and final versions of minutes are circulated
to all Directors for comments. Final versions of minutes are kept by
the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director. The Company held
nineteen (19) Board meetings and two (2) general meetings in 2020.
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The Board has established three Board Committees to oversee ZEEEEK U -—REEZECEEARREE
particular areas of the Company's affairs and to assist in the execution EBW LEBE UWHMETEBRE -FIEESZ
of its responsibility. All Board Committees are provided with sufficient B &¥EIEECWERABITERS - WAl
resources to perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are HABERSKBUTEEXER  EAHARQF
able to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’'s {1 - RARERE  EEgHEFTEEE 2
expense. As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board ~ #ARKEFINT » MEX B 2BEITHARERE -

and the Board Committees are given below and their respective

responsibilities are discussed in this report.

Board of Directors
gze

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee
EVEES RERZE® gMzEe

Executive Directors:
Dr. Yang Zhihui (Chairman)
Ms. Chan Mee Sze
Mr. Yeung Lo

(appointed on 9 January 2020)
Dr. Wong Hoi Po

(appointed on 3 February 2020)
Ms. Pu Shen Chen

(appointed on 19 February 2020)
Mr. Chu Huafeng

(resigned on 3 February 2020)
Ms. Zhou Xueyun

(resigned on 9 January 2020)

PBTEE:
NBEBT(FE)
BEEZL
BEREAE(RZZZEF
—ANBEZE)
THEEL(R=E=ZF
“AZREZME)
BEL AT (M-S F
_H‘H'Lmé%ﬁ)
fFEBTERZES
_H—Elﬁif )
EXRT(RZZEE
*ﬂﬂﬁ%ﬂ )
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Board of Directors
Exe

Nomination
Committee

REzEE

Remuneration
Committee

FMzEeE

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Li Chun Kei
(appointed on 15 January 2020)

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham
(appointed on 14 August 2020)
Mr. Du Peng
(appointed on 12 March 2021)
Mr. Lin Liangyong
(appointed on 26 June 2020 and
ceased on 12 March 2021)

Mr. Bao Jingiao
(retired on 26 June 2020)

Mr. Li Mingfa
(retired on 26 June 2020)

Mr. Nguyen Van Tu Peter (appointed
on 22 January 2020 and passed
away on 16 June 2020)

Ms. Wang Yuying
(resigned on 22 January 2020)

Audit
Committee
EVERES
ﬁj#ﬁ“§$'
FHEBRE(RZZZE committee chairman
—ATRBEZRT) (effective from
22 January 2020)
ZEEIRE
(BZZ=ZF—H
“+ZHRER)
BRHEERZZZT member
NATHEBREZRT) K&
HEEER=Z=—F member
=ATZHEZFE) [54=]
WRBFE(RZZ-ZF member
NAZTAREZRER %8
R-E-_—F=A+-H
BRIERS)
HEMEE(RZE=E member
NAZHAREML) [54=]
FREEE(RZT=ZF member
NAZHAREL) 341
MEBLE(MN_ZT_ZF member
—RAZ+ZREZA X E

RR-E-TEXAHABEL)
ITE¥Z+(R-Z-TF
—AZ+ZRAEHME)

committee chairman

ZESIR

committee chairman
(effective from
22 January 2020)
ZE8IR
(BZZ-%5—H
“t+ZHBER)
member

e

member

&

member

K&

member
&
member
&
member

K&

committee chairman

ZESIR

committee chairman
(effective from

22 January 2020)
ZEBER
(BZZ-2%—H
“t+ZHEER)
member

E

member

) E

member

8

member
) E
member
!
member

K&

committee chairman

ZEEIR

An updated list of Directors, identifying their roles and functions at
the Company, is available on the websites of the Company and the

Stock Exchange.

B TN BE

AARGHEERE(ETIREEARBZA
EEEHNANLRR KE
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TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

There is no service contract signed between the Company and
any independent non-executive Director. All independent non-
executive Directors were appointed for a term of one year, which is
automatically renewable for successive term of one year upon the
expiry of the relevant term.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance
with the requirement set out in the CG Code (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. All director appointments will be
made on the basis of merit and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

NOMINATION POLICY

According to the nomination policy adopted by the Company (the
“Nomination Policy”), the Nomination Committee shall nominate
suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders of the Company for election
as Directors at general meetings or appointment as Directors to
fill casual vacancies with reference to various factors to assess the
suitability of a proposed candidate. The Nomination Committee shall
ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.

B EPTEF RN

AR EBIIFNTEEL EBRITRF AL -
EBMFMTESZERR—F UNEH
EHERRABDER AR —F -

EHETREZULBOR

REBOEXEARTAMEME EFTECRMNE
ZENEZTHARR(ESERNES TR
K]  RRARISRBEBEBETHRERES
gXEZ L BREETRVUER - Fik - X
ERBEER FELR REARAH - &
EMAZEHARARS RER . UEBIRE
ZREFENEANE UBEHEEEZSK
BZT2ifE

A BUR

REARBFAZRZBER(TREBE]) - &
HLREER2EZHARFAREATEAE
% BREFERBAEAE  UHEZEY
RERAGRARFBREZEETESFTRHEME
EENAHBRRZEZR - REZBQARRES
SERE KBLREAARREBERZEZR
75 E R e
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s
auditor, Zenith CPA Limited, is set out as follows:

A B ) <2

RAREEAR BN BN TAR B ZEEHE
SR EEMAERQRNMEHIIMT

Fee paid/

Services rendered payable
SRR et EAEA
HK$'000

T

Audit of financial statements EAZP T RE 3,500
Review of interim results ERMFHIES 450
Total =) 3,950

In respect of the auditor’s remuneration for the audit services paid
or payable by the Company and its subsidiaries, respectively, please
refer to note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee is comprised of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Chun Kei
(Committee Chairman), Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham and Mr. Du Peng.

The written terms of reference stipulating the authority and duties of
the Audit Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange to comply with the provisions of the CG
Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to, among others,
(i) review and monitor the preparation of the Group's financial
statements and annual and half-year reports and accounts; (ii)
monitor, develop and implement the Group's policy on external
auditors; (iii) recommend the appointment and reappointment of
the Group's external auditor; (iv) supervise the Group's financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems;
and (v) develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board.
The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and the
external auditor the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and has discussed auditing and financial reporting matters
and risk management and internal control systems.

During the Year, three meetings were held by the Audit Committee
and attended by the members to review and discuss financial
reporting matters, including the review of the interim and annual
consolidated financial statements and re-appointment/appointment
of an external auditor. During the Year, there were no disagreements
between the Board and the Audit Committee.

EBEARRLREMNBRARD MBS RS E
HEMNIZEAES - FRRREMFEHREN
FF7 e

EREHRT

RARERH  BERZB Q@R =RBIIFNTT
EXdEK DRRFHEEAE(ZESRER)
AW EREHEEE -

EVZEG v ENRERETARLZE S E
B WERMRERTEXNA LR KB
PRAEutE & o

BEZZBe I ERER(HHEE))EMNME
BASEMBBRERANEFRFFEREMAE

B3 (NER - FIERATAREELHING
REED 2 BOR ¢ (i) SR MBI AR E 2 5N

AR IR RS (VEBARE ZHBH
HBHE - AREERABEZEHE - RV HIE
FREARRZBRREEERTR  WAE
EFeRMEBES BEXREGCHEEER
SMNERZBEN KA BHARERM 2 25t RAIK
B WETSARZBRRYHHEREEIALE
R EIE M AEBESIEHIE

AEERN BRRZBEERTZRNERH 8K
BEHFeRAEHNMBIYBHREEE &
REHTHIFERAMBRERNANRENZE
SRENBRER c AFERN EEFGREX
ZEGZMUEBERDL -
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The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the
corporate governance functions set out in the code provision D.3.1
of the CG Code. The Audit Committee reviewed the Company's
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the code of conduct and compliance
manual, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee is comprised
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Chun
Kei (Committee Chairman), Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham and Mr. Du
Peng.

The written terms of reference stipulating the authority and duties
of the Nomination Committee are available on websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange to comply with the provisions of
the CG Code.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are to, among others,
(i) review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes;
(ii) make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment and succession planning of
Directors; (iii) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
selection of individuals nominated for directorships; and (iv) assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee will also monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy and review the
respective policy, as appropriate, to ensure their effectiveness.

During the Year, nine meetings were held by the Nomination
Committee and attended by the members to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment of Directors.

EREZEENMBAERTEEE R TR ZTRIE
X D3NFAEHAEERBE - ERZEEC
ARRZEEERBMRETER EERSRE
EEZBIIRFEREEER  ARANETE
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BERALREARENZWE
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B WERERE AT AR AR R KR
FRA8ULEE
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee is
comprised of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Li Chun Kei (Committee Chairman), Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham and
Mr. Du Peng.

The written terms of reference stipulating the authority and duties of
the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange to comply with the provisions of
the CG Code.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to, among
others, (i) make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for Directors’ and senior management
remuneration; (ii) ensure that they are fairly rewarded for their
individual contribution to the Group's overall performance, having
regard to the interests of shareholders; (iii) make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors
and senior management; and (iv) review and approve performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time.

The remuneration payable to each of the Directors of the Company
is determined with reference to their individual performance,
comparable market statistics and the operating results of the
Company. During the Year, nine meetings were held by the
Remuneration Committee and attended by the members to review
and discuss the Company'’s policy and structure of remuneration of
the Directors. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

HiMZHE

RABRERH  HFWEZ B h =R BLIFANTT
BEEEK DR RFTHEBAE(ZREEXE)
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ETRBRCEERBERRE » THRE RE
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The overall attendance records of the Directors at the Board EFR _ZT_ZTFHFEFTEEH ZEEZLB
meetings, Board Committee meetings and general meeting in 2020, €& MR A S 2 BB 0 WHF 2
and their training records are set out as below: HOERE N T

Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Training
ENZEE REZEE  FHZEE
Ezecd ] EE ] g8  RRAE &3
(191in total) (3intotal) Qintota)  (intotal)l  (2intotal)

Number of meetings during the Year EEERERRY (B#197) (R3R)  (Bf9R)  (RH9R)  (Rf2R)
Executive Directors HirEs
Dr. Yang Zhihui (Chairman) WEZRL(£E) 1419 NATER  NATER  NATER 072 v
Ms. Chan Mee Sze RxExt 719 NATER  NARER  NATER 22
Mr. Yeung Lo BEAER-Z_2F

(appointed on 9 January 2020) —ANBEEL) 1518 NATER  NANER  NANER 22 v
Dr. Wong Hoi Po TERBL(R-Z_ZF

(appointed on 3 February 2020) “AZREZE) e NATEER  NATEE  NATER 22 v
Ms. Pu Shen Chen BEYRT(R-Z-ZF

(appointed on 19 February 2020) ZATNAEZRE) 1313 NATER  NATEE  NATER 22 v
Mr. Chu Huafeng Rt s (R=F-5F

(resigned on 3 February 2020) “R=H %E) y4 NANER  NANEE  NATER 0/0
Ms. Zhou Xueyun ASENT(R-Z_ZF

(resigned on 9 January 2020) —-ANE Eﬁfi) 0 NARMER  NANER  NATER 00
Independent BukuiEs

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Li Chun Kei FHEEE(R-Z_ZF

(appointed on 15 January 2020) —RTHREZA) 1717 33 n n 202 v
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham REREE(R-E-Z

(appointed on 14 August 2020) NATHREZ E) 3 N 10 10 1/1 v
Mr. Lin Liangyong MRERE(R_Z_TF

(appointed on 26 June 2020 and ceased on /\ﬂ +/\ H%@i’r&

12 March 2021) \ZF--FZBT-RRLRH) 44 /1 202 202 il v
Mr. Bao Jingjao EErdyipimeet e 3

(retired on 26 June 2020) ANBZTHRERAE) 13/15 202 57 517 01
Mr. Li Mingfa PRREE(R-T-RE

(retired on 26 June 2020) NAZHABEA) 15/15 22 n n 0/1
Mr. Nguyen Van Tu Peter (appointed MEEEE(R-_T_ZF

on 22 January 2020 and passed *H*#H%E&

away on 16 June 2020} R-B-RERAT/AARL) 111 202 33 33 00
Ms. Wang Yuying IFERT(R-FRF

(resigned on 22 January 2020) —RB=t+=REf) 23 0/0 2 2 0/0
N/A: FNiE R
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for
directors’ and officers’ liabilities incurred in discharge of their duties
while holding office as the Directors and officers of the Company.

TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Any newly appointed Director is provided with comprehensive and
formal induction to ensure that he has a proper understanding of
the operations and businesses of the Group as well as the director’s
duties, responsibilities, and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

During the Year, all Directors were provided with regular updates on
the Group's business and operation, as well as its financial position
and budget. They were also provided with the information which
covered topics, including but not limited to, corporate governance
matters, disclosure and compliance of inside information, updates
and changes in relation to legislative and regulatory requirements
in which the Group conducts its business, and reading materials
which are relevant to their duties and responsibilities for their study
and reference. During the Year, all Directors have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills pursuant to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG
Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its model code for
securities transactions by the Directors. Following a specific enquiry
to all Directors by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

B RO A R AR B
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE GROUP’S
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view, and
are prepared in accordance with the relevant statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards in force, and are published
in a timely manner. The Directors are responsible for selecting and
applying suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis and
ensuring timely adoption of Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s independent auditor
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
are set out in the "Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 75 to 84
of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives. Besides, the Board is
responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems for the Group on an ongoing basis, to
safeguard investments of shareholders and assets of the Group, and
to maintain proper accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information for internal and external reporting. The systems
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements or loss of
assets. Also, the risk management system is designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group's
strategic or business objectives.
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The Board has entrusted the Audit Committee to review risk
management and internal control issues, if any, identified by the
external auditor, regulatory authorities and management, as well
as to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee
reports material issues, if any, to the Board. Regular reviews
are conducted during the Year on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, covering all material
controls in areas of financial, operational and compliance controls,
various functions for risk management as well as physical and
information systems security. An annual review of the effectiveness
of the Group's risk management and internal control systems is
conducted, and the Board receives annually a confirmation from
management of the Company on the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group has also established a formal risk assessment system. The
risk assessment exercise is performed annually through questionnaires
and interviews with senior management and function heads to
identify and evaluate significant risks of the Group. These identified
risks are prioritised based on the likelihood of their occurrence and
the significance of their impact on business of the Group. Moreover,
remedial actions or mitigation control measures are developed to
manage these risks to an acceptable level.

On an annual basis, the Group reviews the need to have an internal
audit function. During the Year, the operating subsidiaries of the
Group assign specific independent officers to perform the internal
audit function to conduct analysis and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
controls systems, and have procedures in place to keep information
confidential and manage actual or potential conflicts of interest.
There was no significant deficiencies in risk management and internal
controls reported.

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant sections of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and Listing Rules. To
prevent possible mishandling of inside information within the Group,
safeguards on the handling and dissemination of inside information
have been implemented; including stringent internal structures have
been designed to prevent the misuse of inside information and avoid
conflicts of interest. All members of the Board, senior management,
executives, function heads, and staff who are likely to possess inside
information are bound by the SFO and the Listing Rules (including
the Model Code).
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To ensure compliance with all applicable laws and regulations on the
prevention of money laundering, especially for the Gaming Business,
the Group had engaged an internationally reputed consulting firm
having practices in both Hong Kong and South Korea to review and
advise on the anti-money laundering ("AML") and counter-terrorism
financing (“CTF") framework, the related design of controls and the
policies of the Gaming Business. Based on the applicable laws and
regulations and with reference to professional advices, the subsidiary
of the Company operating the Gaming Business has developed its
own internal control policy, including especially those related to
compliance with the applicable AML and CTF laws and regulations.
The responsible department will, from time to time, evaluate that
policy. During the current year, the Group engaged a Korean law
firm to perform an independent assessment on the design and
operation of AML and CTF policies, procedures and controls, as well
as the related monitoring system. The Board has also reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems,
including the AML and CTF controls, and found the result satisfactory.

For the Year, the Board, through the review of the Audit Committee,
considers that (i) the Group's risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate, and the Group had complied
with the provisions on risk management and internal control as
set forth in the CG Code; and that (ii) the resources, qualifications,
experience, training programmes, and budget of the accounting,
financial reporting and outsourced internal audit functions of the
Group are adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lok Man Tsit (“Ms. Lok”) has been appointed as the Company
Secretary since 22 January 2020. Ms. Lok has more than 12 years of
experience in acting as a company secretary of listed companies
on the Stock Exchange and providing related company secretarial
services. She holds a master degree of Science in Professional
Accounting and Corporate Governance. Ms. Lok is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the
Chartered Governance Institute.

The appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary are subject
to the Board's approval in accordance with the Bye-Laws. Whilst
the Company Secretary reports to the chairman of the Board on the
Group's company secretarial and corporate governance matters, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary.
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According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Lok has taken no less

than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Year.

VOTING BY POLL

Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company

are taken by poll. Procedures regarding the conduct of the poll are

explained to the shareholders at the commencement of each general

meeting, and questions from shareholders regarding the voting

procedures are answered.

SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS

Procedure to Convene a Special General Meeting

(i)

(iii)

Requisition to convene a special general meeting can be
deposited by the members of the Company holding at the date
of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth (10%)
of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of the
deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company.

The requisitionists must submit their requisition in writing, in
which it must state the objects of the meeting, and be duly
signed by the requisitionists, mailed and deposited at Suites
5815-5816, 58/F., Two International Finance Centre, No. 8
Finance Street, Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary; and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

The requisition will be verified with the Company’s share
registrar and upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to
convene a special general meeting by serving sufficient notice
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all registered
shareholders, provided that the requisitionists have deposited
a sum of money reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses involved in convening a special general meeting.
On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in
order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, a special general meeting will not be convened as
requested.

RIEETRANEI290%  BREREIRBEAFE
EEZTDRNS/)E 2 B EE -

BT AR

B2 AR FBMRAE TR Z R R BIE
EHRKR - ARETRBEZERFRE KR
AERAHARREE  MRREBRREF
ZIRPIS R -

i S A A
BRBRRENRKEZREF

() NEEEREHFEHEENRARRRK
RARGRRZARBBEWEATDR+5
Z—(10%) 2 A RBIRR - AT ERAFRK
REFRIRE -

(i) RESREFEUSERZER  BHAZ
REZEN  TRHRZEREREE B
BRrEFETREBESRERSHP
& Z HA581E5815-5816%E + & T A &l M
E YABERENEEKA—2HZHE
2ERERBZBLURAM -

(i) ERBHARFTBROHBFELERZE @ &
HERERBRERFARERE - Aalf
EBEREZGRELITHE  ME2EE
RRERELEDEN - GREBREER X
g HREEREARIAEHEEENE
NARBBAREFIASERAS 2K
He R MEREZEATHER 2
SEREBHENSHEBER  BRERBIK

ENTERERAR -

40

Landing International Development Limited #4022 B3 Je A LA 5]



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

e SR e

(iv)  Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition. If the directors do not within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the said
date.

(v} A meeting convened under this section by the requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which meetings are to be convened by Directors in
accordance to the Bye-Laws and the Listing Rules.

(vi)  Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by
reason of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a meeting
shall be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company.

Procedure for Making Enquiries to be Put to the Board and
the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board
by email: enquiry@landing.com.hk, fax: (852) 3621 0052, or mail to
Suites 5815-5816, 58/F., Two International Finance Centre, No. 8
Finance Street, Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

Procedure to Put Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the "Bermuda
Companies Act”), shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting right of all the shareholders having at
the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which
the requisition relates; or not less than 100 shareholders are entitled
to request the Company to give shareholders notice of a resolution
which is intended to be moved at the general meeting. A written
notice to that effect signed by the requisitionist(s) with detailed
contact information must be deposited at the Company's principle
place of business in Hong Kong at Suites 5815-5816, 58/F., Two
International Finance Centre, No. 8 Finance Street, Central, Hong
Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary. The notice shall
contain, inter alia, a description of the proposed resolution desired
to be put forward at the general meeting, the reasons for such a
proposal and any material interest of the proposing shareholder in
such a proposal.
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The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar in
Bermuda or Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Company will ask the Board to include the
resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.

BYE-LAWS

The Company's Bye-Laws (in both English and Chinese) are available
on both the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
During the Year, there has been no significant change to the
Company's constitutional documents.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The purpose of the shareholder communication is to promote
effective communication with shareholders, encourage shareholders
to engage actively with the Company and enable them to exercise
their rights as shareholders effectively.

Information shall be communicated to shareholders through the
Company's annual general meeting and other general meetings that may
be convened, as well as by maintaining a website (www.landing.com.hk)
on which information about the Company’s notices, announcements,
proxy forms, circulars, financial reports, results announcements (for
both interim and annual reporting periods) and Bye-Laws are made
available.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

The Group is pleased to present the 2020 Environmental, Social and
Governance (“"ESG") Report which focuses on ESG performance
and various sustainability initiatives. This ESG report is outlined
commitment in creating environmental, employee, operational and
community values.

Reporting Guideline

This ESG report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide as set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. The Board
confirms that it has reviewed and approved the report. For
governance section, please refer to the Corporate Governance
Report in Annual Report 2020.

Reporting Boundary and Period

This ESG report covers the Group's business operations in Hong
Kong and South Korea for the financial year from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2020. With respect to material environmental and
social topics, the Group aims to provide a better understanding of
its practices and governance for its stakeholders. Data in this ESG
report are analysed to account for year-on-year changes and clearly
presented in a way that allows consistent comparison.

Feedback

The Group shall continue to work towards sustainable growth
through communications with its stakeholders. Your feedback is
valuable and helps the Group improve the report further. Please
feel free to contact the Group for any questions or comments at
enquiry@landing.com.hk.
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ESG MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group is principally engaged in the development and operation
of integrated leisure and entertainment resorts, gaming and
entertainment facilities and property development. Management of
the Group is conscious of its corporate social responsibilities (“CSR")
and continuously strives to be a responsible corporation. While it
works to offer superlative leisure experiences to its customers, it also
bears and fulfils its share of corporate social responsibilities.

Material ESG issues for the Group are energy consumption,
health and safety and business ethics. The Board has taken up the
responsibility for formulating ESG related policies and programmes
and overseeing their implementation. The senior management
of the Group is responsible for managing the Group’s work and
performance in key ESG related areas by constant optimisation of
policies, formulation of innovative initiatives, ensuring adequate
allocation of resources and embedding sustainability concerns in all
operations and actions of the Group.

Stakeholder Engagement

Stakeholders of the Group include customers, shareholders,
employees, business partners, regulators, suppliers and the media
and practically all of them are now concerned about environmental
and social impacts of its operations. The Group engages with all
stakeholders to the best of its ability to obtain their perspectives and
prioritise ESG plans accordingly. Several channels are used to ensure
effective communication with different stakeholders.

B A RERE I

AEBTENFERMKEFEANREMREE
B BRERREREUARDEER - KK
EEREERACELEER((LAEMHEER
£ VTREFNIKRAEETZLE - ERAT
PiRRHIEN 2 KEERORE - AIAERE
TTHARHERE -

RAREME r TBRE HENEREER
BERER RREEZEMNEXER -EF8AR
BHERE e MEEEBRRELAE - X
EEZSBENMTENEBRBER - AEESH
EREREEREAREEIERE HERE
AHBEREN TIERKRR BB TEELRK
R BIERIFE S AR TRBOEEIRKL
BHAHEEROBIMATEBNMA RS
R1T® °

NEEEE 2SR

AEEZNZEEERRER, BR EE -
BB BRERE HEBLKE mAET
AN AEER LRI AEEEEURENR
HEezHE AEEERKBZHEMENEH
BERE  AERRENER  LEREEER
FIEIRE HERERTEINEERF - A%
BEAZEREEFRENRANGZABEELETSE
MBI

Key Stakeholder Groups  Key Concerns Engagement Channels
FRAHAEE AR TEEIERE SHERE
Customers ®  Compliance with all laws and ®  Customer loyalty or membership
regulations programmes and events
®  Quality products and services ®  Customer satisfaction surveys
e  Customer satisfaction e  Customer services hotline and emails
®  Social media
5F s BIYRBEEERER s EFAPERSEIEREY
s BEERKRREK e EFREEWREZE
s EFREE s EFRBAKKE
e  HXKE
44 Landing International Development Limited %5 4h B4 B %% 7 PR 2\ 7]



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B - A R AR Ol

Key Stakeholder Groups
FRAHAEEAR

Key Concerns

TERIRE

Engagement Channels
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Shareholders
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Employees

Business partners

KRB

Regulators

Suppliers

R

Media
Hee

Economic performance
Full compliance with regulations

REER
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Compensation and benefits
Occupational health and safety
Career development opportunities
Corporate culture and engagement
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BEBRERE
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Long-term partnerships
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Regulatory compliance
Ethical operation
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Long-term partnerships
Ethical business practices
Supplier assessment criteria
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Community engagement initiatives
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Annual general meeting and other
meetings

Corporate communications including
circulars, notifications, results
announcements, annual and interim
reports
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Performance appraisals
Employee involvement in volunteering and
CSR projects
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Meetings and discussion sessions

LE VSR

In-person meeting with regulators
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In-person meetings
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Supplier due diligence procedures
g3

HIEEE X

HEBSHEERRF

Management interviews

EEENH

Annual Report 2020 43 45



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B - A E KAl

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

The Group continuously assesses the impact of its operations on
the environment and designs action plans to mitigate it to the
extent possible. During the reporting period, the Group complied
with all relevant laws and regulations in South Korea, where are a
major part of operations. These include but not limited to the Air
Quality Preservation Act, the Water Quality Preservation Act and the
Waste Management Act. The Hong Kong headquarter maintains
office-based operations and strictly comply with environmental laws
applicable in Hong Kong.

Energy Consumption

Sources of energy consumed by the Group include electricity,
liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), diesel and petrol. Major consumption
is in daily operations of hotels and casino in Jeju Shinhwa World
("JSW"), South Korea. The Group consumed a total of 92,101,548.91
kWh of energy, with an intensity of 116.88 kWh/thousand Hong Kong
dollars revenue, representing a 12% decrease over the previous year.
The decrease in diesel consumption in 2020 was attributed to the
suspended operation of the airport shuttle bus due to the COVID-19
pandemic.

Energy Consumption
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For enhancing its energy efficiency, the Group has implemented an
energy management system at JSW. Several measures have been
taken to reduce energy consumption at JSW, while ensuring that
customer experience is not affected adversely. These measures are:

° The push for use of light-emitting diodes (LED) lights continued,
which helped reduce electricity consumption.
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® Inrooms, parking spaces and staircases, the Group has installed
sensors that automatically dim or turn off lights when the space
is vacant. At nights, lights in public areas are turned off to
reduce electricity usage.

*  Notices are regularly sent to all employees on energy saving
every Monday and Friday.

e  The green roof system reduces electricity consumption for
cooling.

o Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning (HVAC) systems
operate according to seasonal change. Filter replacement are
increased from 2 to 4 times annually for energy efficiency.

®  When customers do not need air-conditioning in the casino it is
switched off.

e The manmade waterfall serving as an ornamental attraction has
its operational time reduced by 3 hours per day.

In addition to reducing energy consumption in absolute terms,
the Group is working to expand use of renewable energy. At
JSW, the Group has a solar generating capacity of 340 kWh and
the output is used in hotels, condominiums and other facilities.
For continued progress, the Group considers it important to raise
employees’ awareness on an ongoing basis. Therefore, the Group
has implemented green measures at the head office, encouraging
employees to turn off lights and electronic and electrical appliances
when not in use.

Operations of the Group result in emissions of greenhouse gases.
These include fuel consumed by vehicles, besides purchased
electricity. Direct emissions (Scope |) were 9,901.49 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (tCOze), while indirect emissions (Scope Il) were
25,571.87 tCOze. The intensity for total greenhouse gas emission is
0.045 tCOze/thousand Hong Kong dollars revenue.
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Water Saving

For reducing water consumption, the Group has clearly defined
policies that emphasise higher usage efficiency and recycling, and set
up a grey water and storm water recycling facility at the JSW resort.
Also, the Group has the required effluent treatment facilities which
ensure that sewage discharged by the resort meets the stipulated
environmental standards.

The Group's daily treatment capacity is 600 tonnes of grey water,
which works out to 15,000 tonnes of wastewater annually. Recycled
water is used for watering plants, cleaning premises, etc. In 2020,
619,092.00 m?® of water is consumed!, with an intensity of 0.79 m?/
thousand Hong Kong dollars revenue, while 281,751.00 m? of the total
consumption is recycled. The Group did not face any difficulties in
sourcing water fit for the purpose during the year.

Water Consumption
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Emission Mitigation

The Group consumes fuel in its vehicles and for operating
construction machinery. During the year, 0.0562 tonnes of sulphur
dioxide (SOx), 12.1795 tonnes of nitrogen oxide (NOx) and 0.3909
tonnes of particulate matter (PM) are generated. The installation
of boilers at JSW accounts for the overall increase in air emissions
compared to last year. In order to reduce the air pollution caused
by fuel consumption, the Group draws plans for reducing air
pollution and greenhouse gas emissions which mainly comprise
energy-efficiency measures.

! Figure excludes water consumption at Hong Kong headquarter since the
water usage is not available from the management office for rental premises.
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The management of the Group regularly reviews ESG initiatives
and measures. Environmental audits are conducted regularly to
help achieve better compliance with national and local regulatory

requirements.

Another important step being taken for minimisation of air
pollutants at JSW is the replacement of traditional petrol
vehicles by electric carts and electric vehicles for in-resort
transportation. In addition, super low NOx emission boilers are
now in place to replace conventional burners. In compliance
with applicable laws, operations records are reported to the
designated governmental authority, along with results of tests of
air emissions. Another source of pollution is leakage of refrigerants
and this is checked by regular inspections of all pipes used in
air-conditioning.

Air Pollutants
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Waste Management

"Reduction, Reuse and Recycling” is the core guiding principle in
the context of waste management. This idea is constantly promoted
among employees and visitors, to control generation of waste. The
Group's estate management services team helps implement the
prescribed procedures and other relevant measures.
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Considerable non-hazardous waste is generated by guests visiting
the resort, including plastic bottles, packaging materials and metal
containers. These are all collected in bins placed at appropriate
points. This waste is then handed over to designated parties who
recycle it. The Group also encourages use of reusable dishes,
silverware and glassware in order to minimise use of disposables.

A separate facility has been built for treatment of waste food. Food
waste is dried and compressed in order to reduce the volume. It is
then incinerated in conformity with local regulatory requirements. The
process of incineration generates ash which is treated as fertiliser for
gardening.

In 2020, a total of 3,393.00 tonnes of non-hazardous waste and 0.79
tonnes of hazardous waste was generated, while 1,746.00 tonnes of
waste was recycled. During the year, the Group's operation did not
involve in significant consumption of packaging materials.

Environmental and Natural Resources

Before setting up the JSW, the Group had commissioned a
consultant for a comprehensive environmental impact assessment
covering potential adverse environmental impacts. In tune with advice
rendered by the consultant, the resort design included eco-friendly
features and this has helped reduce the environmental impact of its
operations.

The Group tries to minimise consumption of resources of all kinds,
including the use of paper, by encouraging employees to use
of softcopies as well as both sides of paper in case hard copies
are unavoidable. Similarly, envelopes and file folders are re-used
wherever possible. In the long run, these approaches enhance the
employee’s awareness of environmental protection and minimise
waste generation.

The Group implemented an array of initiatives for increasing
resource usage efficiency that include energy conservation,
rainwater harvesting and wastewater recycling, apart from following
responsible sourcing practices for office furniture and equipment. To
further enhance environmental consciousness, the Group also offer
employee training on general waste separation methods.

Engaging with the community where we operate, the Group
disseminates environmental protection messages to the community.
To this end, the Group organises environmental protection events
regularly, while volunteer clubs collaborate with community service
organisations in Jeju for the benefit of local residents. In 2020, 20
employees were involved in resort waste collection, cleaning and
environment improvement work at JSSW. The Group is looking forward
to encouraging employees to support environmental protection
activities in future.
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SOCIAL ASPECT
Employment

Providing the right kind of working environment and growth
opportunities to its employees is of paramount importance as the
Group views employees as its most important asset. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group had a total of 1,525 employees, of which
were mainly based in Jeju, South Korea. The Group's overall turnover
rate and new hire rate were 56.3% and 38.8% respectively. The Group
has made it a practice to strictly comply with all employment laws and
regulations applicable at Jeju, including but not limited to the Labour
Standards Act of South Korea and the Employment Ordinance and
Minimum Wage Ordinance in Hong Kong.

The Group's policies are implemented based on the principles
of equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination. The
Group complies with the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
and Race Discrimination Ordinance. All employees enjoy equal
opportunities for promotion and are treated in a fair and open
manner regardless of age, gender, marital status, family status,
race, skin colour, nationality, religion, political affiliation or sexual
orientation.

The Group believes in free and frank discussions and communication
with employees through several channels. While a safe and enjoyable
work environment, equitable compensation, benefit schemes,
opportunities for career growth and a variety of learning and
development programmes are given, we strive to create a strong
corporate culture where employees’ contributions are recognised
and rewarded.

Development and Training

The Group strives for the best available talent but further honing
of skills is always required and this is an important part of human
resources strategy. The Group's goal is to be a leading developer
and operator of leisure resorts and for ensuring continued growth
we provide comprehensive and appropriate training to employees.
Emphasis is always on enhancement of problem-solving skills
and work efficiency. The Group adheres to the Vocational Skills
Development Act in South Korea.

JSW stresses training programmes designed for specific positions,
one example being leadership training at appropriate levels and
service training at all levels, covering all resort operations. The Group
are also working on training some of employees to become tutors
and have designed a systematic Train-the-Trainer course for this
purpose.
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Besides the regular training provided by different departments which
is specific to duties of the concerned employees, approximately
94.89% employee of the Group completed an average of 8.93 hours
of training.

Health and Safety

Ensuring occupational health and safety of employees is a task
the Group takes seriously. It strictly complies with all relevant
occupational health and safety regulations including but not
limited to Occupational Safety and Health Act in South Korea and
Occupation Health and Safety Ordinance in Hong Kong. Providing
a safe and healthy working environment is achieved by the following

measures:

e Office as well as work environment at the resort must comply
with or exceed requirements of the relevant laws;

e Safety procedures for work entailing risks should be clearly
defined and communicated;

®  Protective equipment, medical insurance and regular health
check-ups are provided for employees;

®  Machinery and equipment are checked regularly to prevent
malfunctioning that may lead to accidents;

® Inthe case of emergency events like a fire or an explosion, there
should be clearly laid out procedures for employees to follow;

e Allworkplace injuries are recorded and causes are analysed.

Safety training was provided to employees during the year.
Inspections and work environment checks were carried out on a
regular basis. In 2020, the Group recorded 5 cases of work-related
injury and no case of work-related fatalities. To raise the safety
awareness of the sub-contractors, monthly meetings and weekly
inspections were organised.

The Group was not aware of any instance of non-compliance with
laws and regulations that have a significant impact, relating to a safe
working environment and protection from occupational hazards
during the year.

BARBPISTEEEE THBEMEHZER
EANSN - REBA94.89% 18 B ek F19478.93
&l )N 2 3 31 o

BEREZE

REBREREREELE2ANEENEEZTIE
22—  AEERKRETHEEERERREL
Z2HO - BIEETRAEEREL D ERERE
(Occupational Safety and Health Act) & & &
¥ REEREN - BRRELZERER 2 TE
RE  BRATNIEHRER

[y

s EBREREANMAZERIRHFEAMNE L
MARBAEMRE ¢

s BEREATKBESRERIZZERE
7

o  REBRMHMFENERS
EMS IR

- BRI A K

o  TEHIRBHIB[ERME UM LHBRRES
HEBEEN

o MEENMNAKBESZRESMHE  BA
ARSI B AE 7 R IR B IRBE

o IHBMEILGEHR ASWKEA -

FRARERRBREHZ2FY - WEHE
TREREZEIERE R-ZE_TF A&
B SRR IEMERE  ARA TIEMGmFW -
RRENADEHZREER  BARTERELE
BEETRE -

FA - AEEYL T REROERFOER
MEREEERARFELZE2TERERRELR
BEBETEBREAZENER

52 Landing International Development Limited %5 4h B8 B %% 47 PR 2\ 7]



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B - A R AR Ol

T XA

AEEBRKETEES T IZ % %K (Labour
Standard Act) WA IFEBREMET N, 5%
BI&E T o SEAR BB T ARERESF

Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the Labour Standard Act in
South Korea and prohibits the use of child and/or forced labour.

L

Ensuring Workplace Safety
BRIERERS

Compliance is ensured by way of the following:

Age Verification
BREFR

Age Restriction
F iR PR

No employee should be less than 16
years of age

BENFRIEER 165

No employee who is under 18 should
be assigned any hazardous work and
asked to work at night so that their

Diligent verification of age must

be conducted before hiring a new
employee by the human resources

studies are not affected
18BEATZEETAIREAEGRRZ
TE- WEEFHK FTIE - #Rw2
2%

department. Documents submitted
as proof of age are checked and
it is ensured the appearance of
the applicants are consistent with
the photograph on the identity
documents.

EREAHEEERN - ANEIREEAE
REHFR - ERARZAEBRFR
ZXM - WHERPBEAGTRERL S
BEAX M FRRFAEA

fid IR SR B 85 T B - BN AR IR AR
B RDERERIITE © B RRE B 5 R I 1 7 B
TEGM  YEBRANBRIBEZMERBE
MUBEZEEERTEIRNED - A
HREEREREFT AR ZREA - WK 0@
TR RRIAL EEE -

When an instance of forced labour comes to light, immediate actions
stipulated by the relevant legislation are taken. The subject employee
is removed from the workplace immediately. The human resources
department is asked to verify all relevant information and confirm
whether the employee is indeed a case of forced labour. The reasons
why the employee was not identified in the recruitment process is
analysed and rectification measures are taken within 90 working days.

FA - AEEW B EERMEEDEG FOER
MEAEEBRERNIS TRBTEBKREKR

During the year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with laws and regulations having a significant impact on the Group

relating to employment and labour practices; nor did we identify any ~#% - IMEZRE(MFEBRAETILRHIST
incidents relating to the use of child or forced labour. ZE
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OPERATION ASPECT
Supply Chain Management

Setting up and operating JSW has entailed working with several
contractors and suppliers and the Group has developed and
maintained long-term relationships with them. The Group selects
business partners carefully through due diligence, in order to obtain
and supply high-quality products and services. Transparent, fair and
open procedures are the hallmarks of procurement procedures for
all materials, services and contents. The Group cooperates with only
those business partners who believe in the same ethical values and
standards.

The Group worked with 328 suppliers during the year, of which 322
were Korean enterprises and the remaining 6 enterprises were from
diverse regions such as Macau, Malaysia and Singapore.

Product Responsibility

The Group's JSW resort and casino improve customer satisfaction
by providing world-class products and services. Whenever a
customer complaint is received, remedial procedures are followed
to resolve it promptly, often by offering feasible solutions or further
assistance. During the year, the total number of complaints received
by mainly the hospitality business and the attractions unit was 2,113
respectively. They were all handled and solved in a prompt manner
after thorough review and investigation.

The Group complies with all applicable laws and regulations,
which include but are not limited to Product Liability Act, Personal
Information Protection Act and casino regulations promulgated
by The National Gambling Control Commission in South Korea.
Confidentiality of personal information is maintained diligently, in
accordance with consumer data protection and privacy policies.
Use of personal data by staff is monitored to ensure information
collected from guests and customers is stored and managed in strict
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations. Access to such
information is limited to employees specifically authorised to use it,
for specified purposes.
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At JSW, the Group has clearly laid out the privacy policy and
posted it on the resort’s website as required by the Korean Personal
Information Protection Act. JSW collects only information necessary
for smooth operations. The Group obtains prior consent of customers
if the information is to be provided to third parties for bona fide
reasons. Selective personal data are collected and used in full
compliance with the Information Network Law of Republic of Korea.

Protecting intellectual property rights of its own as well as those
of suppliers, customers, business partners, competitors and others
is an essential component of business practices followed by the
Group. In all contracts with third parties, there are clauses stipulating
observance and protection of intellectual property rights. In order
to stay up-to-date on applicable laws and regulations and to avoid
any infringements, expert advice is sought regularly from patent and
trademark lawyers.

To the best of our knowledge, there were no incidents of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that could have had a
significant impact, in respect of occupational health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided or methods of redressal.

Responsible Gaming

The casino at the resort in Jeju is allowed to entertain only foreign
nationals and unlawful entry of Korean citizens is prevented by using
the following initiatives.
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the casino

19BRA T AL AIREESS

*  “"No Minors Allowed” signs are displayed prominently at the entrance of the casino
to inform all guests about prohibition against people under the age of 19 entering

e HRLS/ANERUBEIIRAKFALIFEAIZERE  NBHMEEAZL

e Strict enforcement of identity checks before guests are allowed to enter the casino
o EANEAREGHERWITHEORE

e  Casino reserves the right to deny access or remove a person from the gaming area

under circumstances it deems appropriate such as behaviours affecting the safety or

security of others

o EFRFEMARETRIREMALZEZZENT @ REGRBEBZATESIE

AN T REAREE R 2 R R
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The casino ensures responsible gaming by working closely with the
relevant government authorities and community bodies, minimising
any negative social impact. The highest standards of professional
integrity are followed.

Training is provided to the entire staff of the casino for promotion
and practice of responsible gaming. Resort staff is trained to make
culturally appropriate interventions when necessary and provide any
available information, support and referrals to guests. The Group has
a responsible gaming awareness training programme that all new
hires are required to attend and this is followed by annual refresher
programmes that equip the staff to offer the necessary help and
resources to guests when needed.

In order to ensure responsible gaming, it is necessary to build the
requisite awareness among the staff of the casino and the resort. For
this purpose, informative messages are posted on staff notice boards,
as well as internal newsletters and posters in staff areas.

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly adheres to the anti-corruption related laws and
regulations where it operates, including Improper Solicitation and
Graft Act in South Korea and Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in
Hong Kong, especially when it enters into contracts and agreements
with suppliers of goods and services. The Group tolerates no
instances of corruption or bribery. There was no concluded legal
case regarding corrupt practices brought against the Company or its
employees during the year.

Casino strives to remain alert about compliance with applicable laws
and regulations on prevention of money laundering. The Group had
engaged an independent third-party consulting firm, both in Hong
Kong and South Korea, to examine the efficacy of its systems and
advise on the Anti-Money Laundering ("AML") and Counter Terrorism
Financing ("CTF") framework, besides the design of controls and
policies of the gaming business.

The Group operating gaming business has developed a detailed
policy for internal controls, which ensures compliance with the
applicable AML and CTF laws and regulations.

The Board also reviews the internal control system and its
enforcement periodically. The latest of such reviews has returned
satisfactory results.
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During the year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with laws and regulations that could have a significant impact on the
Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Community Investment

Giving back to the community is a part of the Group’s cultural
ethos. During the year, the Group recorded a total of 60 hours
of volunteering service in a community care programme, as well
as HK$900,000 donations, which went to investments in town

FA - AREEY A EERERDED N AR B
MBERNEEEBBER - R BFERARES
EBREATE ZEMIBER -

HERE

TR AARBZXEERD - FAR - A
SEEM R BIESE K0/ NEME TR
5% 900,000/ 8 TLHHBF - EIRENMEERE -
TEABEMKELBEMRE  FFEHENTEAE
B o AEBDIREUATERBITHEREE

development, theme park and water park tickets, youth association
and community organisation. The following initiatives were
undertaken to meet its responsibility towards the community.

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY SR BRI 2L
2020 2019
e e i —TNF
ENVIRONMENT RIB
Total Energy Consumption (kWh) RERBEE(TRE) 92,101,548.91  104,862,651.46
Gasoline/Petrol (kWh) B (T RE) 331,006.35 521,431.50
Diesel (kWh) gem (FRLE) 455,429.65 1,003,299.86
Liquefied petroleum gas (kWh) BICA AR (FEE) 42,237,796.91 49,902,113.91
Purchased electricity (kWh) BEE I (TRE) 49,077,316.00  53,435,806.19
Energy Consumption Intensity EREERE
(kWh/Revenue HK$'000) (FEREFHTRES) 116.88 128.58
Water Consumption (m?) FEKE(ZTTK) 619,092.00 735,344.52
Water Consumption Intensity FRERE
(m3/Revenue HK$'000) (37K Fmxles) 0.79 0.90
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions (tCOz¢) A EREBATKE (M _FtBREE) 35,473.36 40,000.82
Scope 1 (tCOze) HE—(H_ftixss 9,901.49 11,139.63
Scope 2 (tCOze) BE - (E-_StiRES 25,571.87 28,861.19
Greenhouse Gas Emission Intensity RERBHHNERE
(tCO2e/Revenue HK$'000) (-S|t g e TH TS 0.045 0.049
Air Emissions ERGEY
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (tonnes) RE/ () 12.1795 1.0621
Sulphur oxides (SOx) (tonnes) e L () 0.0562 0.0060
Particulate matters (PM) (tonnes) SR () 0.3909 0.0317
Waste BEEY
Hazardous waste (tonnes) BEREZEY(HE) 0.79 0.81
Non-hazardous waste (tonnes) EEREEY () 3,393.00 5,265.31
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2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NF
WORKFORCE DEMOGRAPHICS EEAOLS
Total Headcount BETHY 1,525 1,785
Employee Turnover Rate EERAE 56.3% n/a NiEH
Employee New Hire Rate EEH ARE 38.8% n/a TN
HEALTH AND SAFETY BRERZZE
Occupational Health and BEREEZE2RE
Safety Performance
Number of work-related injuries TE&E 5 2
Lost days due to work injury ETEmERH TIERE 226 n/a @M
Work-related fatalities TER BN 0 n/a TiE
Safety Training T2
Total training hours HEIET 2K 40,309 n/a TE A
Percentage of employees trained XillREBED® 30.7% n/a TiEH
DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING BRERIEI
Total Number of Employees Trained ZIEEAH
By Gender ZMRIE D
Male S 847 n/a NE
Female M 600 n/a TiE
By Position RBALE D
Office staff MAZEANE 268 n/a TiE A
Operations staff HEAB 1179 n/a TE A
Total Training Hours of Employees BESEIRH
By Gender I RIE S
Male S 7,570 n/a TNiE
Female gegis 6,053 n/a TiE
By Position RBALE D
Office staff WAEAE 3,252 n/a TE R
Operations staff ZEBAR 10,371 n/a TiE A
SUPPLIERS HEER
Total Number of Suppliers GYEREE 328 n/a 1~ iE A
By Geographical Distribution it o M El o
Korea rAe 322 n/a TiE A
Macau JRFT 3 n/a TE A
Malaysia B RPE 2 n/a i A
Singapore Hroond 1 n/a TiEMA
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EHEE A

The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

Details of (i) business review and relevant principal risks and
uncertainties and (ii) future development of the Group's business
are set out respectively in the "Operation and Business Review”,
“Outlook” and “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” sections under
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of the Letter from the Board.

The Group understands the success of the Group's business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, including employees,
customers, suppliers, banks, regulators and shareholders. The Group
will continue to ensure effective communication and maintain good
relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

Key Financial Ratios

Details of the Group's business performance are indicated in
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of the Letter from the
Board, and other financial ratios are set out below:

EZRNRZBEAFE ZFRLEELS
B -
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ARRABRBREZERRE - KRB ETEMBE QT
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i
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BRAG)EM R NAEREE 2R R ETHAR
= RMAREEBRRER ZFBDHHER
ExgIEEEIwmENIT INEENKER
Rl TREIRETZAREETAARE IF
B o

AEBPAAAREEERBRDBURNE X E a8
HEEZXE  BHREER &P  #fER R
17 EERBLRER AKEREEESETR
M ARE RS ARUBEB R RIFREA -

TR E
ERAEBEBRAY ENNE B R R ER
BB AT —ERFIT - MEbH B EHR
WX

2020 2019

=F=%F —TNF

Debt to equity ratio BEXRBRELE 29.7% 27.2%

Quick ratio REL X 0.8 1.0
Notes: 5T

(1M Debt to equity ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total equity.
Debt to equity ratio increased from 27.2% in 2019 to 29.7% in 2020.

2 Quick ratio is calculated by dividing total current assets less inventories
and completed properties for sale by total current liabilities. Quick ratio
decreased from 1.0 in 2019 to 0.8 in 2020.

Environmental Policies and Performance

Details of the Company's environmental policies and performance
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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BABBLERAZS—NFI22%LAE=F
ZEF2297% e

2 BRELLERDURBEERERTERGFEDER
MEBRDEBELEFESE - R ERH-T
—NEZI10RPE_ZT-_TFE 208"
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance of the applicable rules
and regulations. The Group has been allocating system and staff
resources to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and regulations
and to maintain cordial working relationships with regulators
effectively through effective communications. During the Year,
the Group has complied with, among others, to the best of our
knowledge, the following major laws and regulations:

Hong Kong

— the Listing Rules;
—  the SFO;
—  Companies Ordinance; and

—  the Gambling Ordinance.

South Korea

—  Tourism Promotion Act;

—  Special Act on the Establishment of Jeju Special Self-governing
Province and the Development of Free International City;

— Jeju Special Self-governing Province Tourism Promotion
Ordinance;

—  Foreign Exchange Transaction Act;

—  Building Act (and its Enforcement Decree);

—  Landscape Act (and its Enforcement Decree);

—  Environmental Impact Assessment Act (and its Enforcement
Decree);

—  Road Act;

EREREESR

AEBEGREBTEERTERROIMBRE 2
TERER ARE-—ENERRRANER
DRERFEETROINAE  WEBARER

g B

sSNm

ERBREZEAFERE - AFER - B
BAPIFTEE -

AEEDET(HPEE)UTE

2IEBIFER

&E

EmAAN
&5 MG R
RAENED] - R

HRBFAR A ZR (Tourism Promotion Act)

BXOSZOE N BRI B oA B KR B K
B B ¥ M % Al X & (Special Act on
the Establishment of Jeju Special
Self- governing Province and the
Development of Free International
City) :

BN BB R & Ik R & Bl Jeju
Special Self-governing Province Tourism
Promotion Ordinance) ;

N (B X 5 7k Z(Foreign Exchange
Transaction Act)

BEERR(RAEMES ) (Building Act
(and its Enforcement Decree)) :

HEER (REEHEES) (Landscape Act
(and its Enforcement Decree)) :

BREZETGLER(RAEEBES)
(Environmental Impact Assessment Act
(and its Enforcement Decree)) :

B AS (Road Act)
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—  Jeju Special Self-governing Province Building Ordinance;

—  Commercial Act; and

—  Foreign Investment Promotion Act.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 85 and 86.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

On 22 April 2020, the Company completed the placing (the “Placing”)
of 586,978,800 shares (the “Placing Shares”) under the general
mandate to not less than six placees, who are independent third
parties, at the placing price of HK$0.235 per share pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement dated 30 March 2020,
entered between the Company and the placing agent. The Placing
Shares representing approximately 16.67% of the issued share capital
of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issuance of the
Placing Shares immediately upon completion. The fund raised by the
Placing has been fully utilized as intended. For details of the Placing,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 30 March
2020 and 22 April 2020.

Movements of the share capital of the Company during the Year are
set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Details of distributable reserves of the Company are set out in note
39 to the consolidated financial statements.

—  BNE R B R EREED (Jeju Special
Self-governing Province Building
Ordinance) :

—  PFAER (Commercial Act) : &

—  HNEIRE R E AR (Foreign Investment
Promotion Act) °
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on
page 228.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr. Yang Zhihui (Chairman)

Ms. Chan Mee Sze

Mr. Yeung Lo (appointed on 9 January 2020)

Dr. Wong Hoi Po (appointed on 3 February 2020)
Ms. Pu Shen Chen (appointed on 19 February 2020)
Mr. Chu Huafeng (resigned on 3 February 2020)
Ms. Zhou Xueyun (resigned on 9 January 2020)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Li Chun Kei (appointed on 15 January 2020)

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham (appointed on 14 August 2020)

Mr. Du Peng (appointed on 12 March 2021)

Mr. Lin Liangyong (appointed on 26 June 2020 and ceased on
12 March 2021)

Mr. Bao Jingiao (retired on 26 June 2020)

Mr. Li Mingfa (retired on 26 June 2020)

Mr. Nguyen Van Tu Peter (appointed on 22 January 2020 and
passed away on 16 June 2020)

Ms. Wang Yuying (resigned on 22 January 2020)

In accordance with Bye-Law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-Laws and
code provision A.4 of the CG Code under Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, Dr. Yang Zhihui, Ms. Chan Mee Sze and Mr. Yeung Lo will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and are
eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Bye-Law 83(2) of the Company’s Bye-Laws and
code provision A.4 of the CG Code under Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, Mr. Du Peng will be subject to election by shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in information
of Directors are set out below:

Name of Director

EEHA

Details of changes

BEFE

ER gy 4]

RIE MR BIE 13.51B(1) -
AN

EZENNESH

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham
Vali T Pivlas

Mr. Yeung Lo
BEEE

Dr. Wong Hoi Po
=ANEL

Appointed as independent non-executive director of Hao Tian International
Construction Investment Group Limited (shares of which are listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1341) with effect from 15 October 2020
EEZERERERERRESEAR DA (KRN PEBERZAER 1 - BRHASE
1B 2B EHITES - RZE_TFTATHRRARENR

Re-designed as executive director of Goldin Financial Holdings Limited (shares of
which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 530) with
effect from 1 March 2021
ERAEIASRERM(EE)ERABAZHTEST(ERNPBIMER LT - ROK
5 :530) BT —F=A—BHEEX

Ceased as non-executive director of Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority
with effect from 16 March 2021

TEARIMATESFEEERZIFNTESE BT - —F=A T EELEXN

Entitled to a monthly cash allowance of HK$38,000 with effect from 1 November 2020
BREESRESZEMET A 38,0008 RZE_TF+—H—HBEX

Entitled to a monthly cash allowance of HK$38,000 with effect from 1 November 2020
BREESIREEET A 38,0008 RZE-_TF+—A—HEEX

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company and any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under note 34 to the consolidation financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
Year.

ERZIRB A
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Bye-Law 164 of the Company’s Bye-Laws and relevant
provisions of the regulations stipulated, every Director or other
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
losses and liabilities which he may incur or sustain in or about the
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto,
and no Director or other officers shall be liable for any loss, damages
or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company
in the execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto,
provided that this Bye-Law shall only have effect in so far as its
provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda Companies Act.

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is
currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year.
The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ and officers’
liabilities insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for the directors of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
each Director and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV the SFO), which are
required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) pursuant
to section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

6 v 78 1 0 SC

1R R A 2 BRI 164 16 R AR ETHE 2 48
MY SEEFRALFARMEABERE
ATRB LRI EEABATEL —1)
BARERL  BARARTNEERBFDEE
TERARGE - s EE R HAREBER
HA (TR BB Y EE T A RS AR A
HRAAR AL BEATEAE
A B TR0 B E SR T B 2 R B UE 2 1R
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REFMRZEEREGRE AR RN EE
MRFEERER - ARAREFATEREE
EhEEBEREERR  SAKEESRRMHA
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R R ERITHA B A 6 AT
R W 3 T BB By ~ A B B By B A5 2
ZHERE B, R

RIB-_ZTHE+_A=+—H FEEZEREARD
AIFETBRABRARA REREEZE(EER
BHEMBEGEOIEXVE) 2k - BERD
BEHF A ) RIEES KBS KRAIEXVEE
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Percentage of
issued Share

Number of Long or Capital of the

Name Capacity Shares held  Short Position Company

RN

EBITRA

w# &) FEROBE HFAIKE B

Dr. Yang Zhihui (“Dr. Yang”) Held by controlled 1,481,567,297 Long 42.07%
MEEEL ( [{PELX] ) corporation (Note) &f&

PRIEH 2 AR A (BHEE)
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Note: 1,481,567,297 ordinary shares are held by Landing International Limited

("LIL"), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands whose entire
issued share capital is held by Dr. Yang. Dr. Yang is one of the directors of
LIL as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors was a director or employee of a company which had an
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO and
none of the Directors, the chief executive of the Company nor their
associates had any other interests or short positions in the shares of
the Company, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which any such Director or the
chief executive of the Company is taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be entered into the register
maintained by the Company, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or
(c) to be notified to the Company or the Stock Exchange, pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective associates was interested
in any business apart from the Group's businesses, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group's
business as at the date of this report.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the
SFO shows the following shareholders had notified the Company of
relevant interests and short positions, being 5% or more of the issued
share capital of the Company.

BB AR A 4y ] e Ay B HH B Bt o o
ZHEE R B

RZZE_ZEF+_A=+—0 REARQERE
BEHMHBEROEXVEBE 336 IEFEZEEMR
RERMARLE > TIRREMNERAFRA
RADBITRAPHAEARREHITIRAS%
HA L Z B ERAR -

Percentage of
issued Share

Number of Long or Capital of
Name Capacity Shares held  Short Position ~ the Company
HARRF
BBITRA
"L LB g% FEROEE HFRIKE Bak
LIL Beneficial Owner 1,481,567,297 Long 42.07%
B S EER EmEBA (Note 1) F&
(MF3E1)
Ms. Xu Ning (“"Ms. Xu") Interest of spouse 1,481,567,297 Long 42.07%
mrat([thaxl) [iRYEp (Note 1) #fE
(MF3E1)
Tinmark Development Limited Held by controlled 138,283,200 Long 3.93%
("Tinmark”) corporation (Note 2) 7=
Tinmark Development Limited FriEfle ARIFA (f3E2)
([Tinmark])
Beneficial Owner 79,201,200 Long 2.25%
EmEBA (Note 2) 1F@
(3E2)
Mr. Yao Jianhui (“Mr. Yao") Held by controlled 217,484,400 Long 6.18%
phEmE S ([ Bk ) corporation (Note 3) &
Frizslc AREE (PfF5E3)
Beneficial Owner 4,425,600 Long 0.12%
EmEBA (Note 3) F&
(MF3E3)
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Notes:

1. LIL, whose entire issued share capital is held by Dr. Yang, is interested in
1,481,567,297 shares of the Company. Ms. Xu is the spouse of Dr. Yang.
Under the SFO, Ms. Xu is deemed to be interested in the same number of
shares in which Dr. Yang is interested in.

2. Tinmark, through its owned subsidiaries, holds 138,283,200 shares of the
Company. Together with 79,201,200 shares of the Company beneficially
owned by Tinmark, representing approximately 6.18% of the total number of
issued shares of the Company.

3. Tinmark, is a controlled corporation wholly owned by Mr. Yao, which is
interested in 217,484,400 shares of the Company. Together with the 4,425,600
shares of the Company beneficially owned by Mr. Yao, Mr. Yao is deemed to
be interested in a total of 221,910,000 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 6.30% of the total number of issued shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no other person
(other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company)
or their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of, the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON- EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No disclosure was required for the connected transaction(s), if any,
according to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Year.
PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of any of listed securities
of the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 10.63% of the annual revenue and
the aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers represented less than 29% of the Group's
total purchases. The sale to the largest customer represented
approximately 2.9% of the annual revenue. None of the Directors
or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five
largest customers and suppliers.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Information on the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set
out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set by the
management of the Group on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are considered and reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company's operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the Year
or subsisted at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Schemes
2010 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 June 2010 (the
“"Adoption Date”) (the “2010 Share option Scheme”). The 2010
Share Option Scheme had expired since 10 June 2020.

The purpose of the 2010 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives or rewards to the participants, including any Directors
(including executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) and any employees of the
Group or any invested entities or substantial shareholders and any
advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers, services providers of
any members of the Group or any invested entities or substantial
shareholders, and any other groups or classes of participants at the
sole discretion of the Board, for their contribution to the Group and
to enable the Group to attract and retain employees of appropriate
qualifications and with necessary experience to work for the Group
and any invested entities. Pursuant to the 2010 Share Option Scheme,
the Board may invite any eligible person including any Director and
employee of the Group to take up options to subscribe for shares of
the Company.

There is no minimum holding period before any options can be
exercised. The maximum number of shares to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) under the 2010 Share Option Scheme in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant to any
participants shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being unless the proposed grant
has been approved by the shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting with the proposed grantee and his associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price at which a grantee may subscribe for shares
on the exercise of an option under the 2010 Share Option Scheme
is determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of
the grant of relevant option and in any case shall not be less than
the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of
grant; (b) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer of grant; or (c) the nominal
value of the shares.
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Save for the grant of options on 15 December 2014 which was
subsequently cancelled on 8 January 2015, as at the date of this
report, no share option has been granted or exercised by the
Company since the Adoption Date. The 2010 Share Option Scheme
became effective on the Adoption Date and had remained in force
for a period of ten years from that date and had expired since 10
June 2020.

2020 Share Option Scheme

At the special general meeting of the Company held on 17
September 2020, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2020 Share Option
Scheme”) which became effective on 17 September 2020. Under
the 2020 Share Option Scheme, the Directors may grant options to
the participant to subscribe for the Company's shares subject to the
terms and conditions stipulated therein. Unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, the 2020 Share Option Scheme will be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date on which it
became effective.

Details of the 2020 Share Option Scheme are as follows:
(@)  Purpose

The purpose of the 2020 Share Option Scheme is to reward
the participants who have contributed or will contribute to
the Group and to encourage the participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the
benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

(b)  Participants

The participants of the 2020 Share Option Scheme comprise
of any Directors (including executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors) and
employees of the Group, any director or employee of a
company or entity in which the Group has invested in and any
advisors (professional or otherwise), consultants, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners,
joint venture business partners, promoters, any director or
employee of any service providers of any member of the Group
who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed
to or will contribute to the Group.
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Total number of shares available for issue

The maximum number of shares in respect of which share
options may be granted under the 2020 Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the 2020 Share Option Scheme. Options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 2020 Share Option
Scheme and (as the case may be) such other share option
schemes of the Company under which such options are granted
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating whether the
abovementioned scheme mandate limit has been exceeded.

The total number of shares available for issue under the 2020
Share Option Scheme is 352,187,751 shares, representing 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant under the
2020 Share Option Scheme (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not (when
aggregated with any shares subject to options granted during
such period under any other share option schemes of the
Company other than those options granted pursuant to specific
approval by the shareholders in a general meeting) exceed 1%
of the shares in issue for the time being.

Any further grant of options to a participant would result in
the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue, such further grant
must be separately approved by shareholders in general
meeting with such participant and his associates abstaining
from voting, and all other requirements prescribed under the
Listing Rules.

AHEITROEAE
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NERBEADBEITRAL 10% -

BRoEERREERD LR
RiTESR28ERNEMI12EA8 ARE
“ECTEBREREER ZERE(E
REITERRITEZBEERE)MD ETR
BT 2B EREERN B BHERE
AR AR EL A BB AR AT SR 2 FE AR
(RBERRBRASRH I EMER 2B
BRHERR SN ) PSR NS BB E I B %17
Befnz 1% °

AR2EEREBRESERRTEES
BRER(BEZE)12EARNEET LG
RYE@ELEEZEERBE(BIEDRT
fF B kMRITECERE) ME %
IRBEITFZLHRE 2RO BEEBAT

BITRMZ21% MASTERBRRERS
@XHx%Ttt/ﬁ MAERSEEREBEA
EMERE AR ETHRAUREZMER
HEK o

Annual Report 2020 4E# 71



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
B Rl

Maximum entitlement of each participant who is a connected
person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled or outstanding) under
the 2020 Share Option Scheme to each participant who is an
Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder (as such
term as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, or any
of their respective associates, in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 0.1% of the shares in issue on the date of such grant and
the aggregate value based on the closing price of shares on the
date of such grant shall not exceed HK$5,000,000.

Any further grant of options in excess of the above-mentioned
limit shall be approved by the shareholders with all connected
persons of the Company abstaining from voting in favour at
such general meeting.

BRERMEANLT S BB ERER
R

BRIE-_T T FERETZIMEE LA
BIEL 2 BRE(RIEEITE - Bk
AT 2 B AR ) 1T M B2 A S BN
BITTERES  TETHRAESRTIER
RERREMARA) 2 BMRL28E 2R
M ERTEBBZE T BRARETRG
01% B BEE ARMDWHEE
2 HA{E TR 5,000,000 % 7T ©

E#E — PR B R B AE
AR - MARBIMABEALA
RNBERBRRAE EHEREKE -

)  Period with which the shares must be taken up under an option  (f)  AIIREERRIERENRD 2 BAFR
The period to be determined and notified by the Board to the HEFEETITANREZENRMGEERA
grantee at the time of making an offer which shall not expire 2 BRfE - Z AR SRR B B ERET 10
later than 10 years from the date of grant. F1&EMm

(@ Minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held (g) BRERITTHFEALERS A 2 &EER0
before it can be exercised B)
The 2020 Share Option Scheme does not specify a minimum —ECTFEREAEMEETTERRE
period for which an option must be held nor a performance IR+ B IR 2 S A8 HAPR s 7R K
target which must be achieved before an option can be ZREBR - AT — T _TFBERMES
exercised. However, the rules of the 2020 Share Option Scheme SR TEFTE A NEEEREER
provide that the Board may determine, at its discretion, such T 2 &R (B BRE 7] @RS R M A Fr
term(s) on the grant of an option, which decision may vary on a TE) o
case by case basis.
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Amount payable upon acceptance of the option and the period
within which payment must be made

An offer shall remain open for acceptance by the participant
concerned for a period of 28 days from the date of grant
provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after
the expiry of the option period or after the 2020 Share Option
Scheme is terminated or after the participant has ceased to
be a participant. An option shall be regarded as having been
accepted when the Company receives from the grantee the
duplicate of the offer letter, comprising acceptance of the offer,
duly signed by the grantee together with a remittance in favour
of the Company of HK$1.00 as consideration for the grant of
option. Such remittance is not refundable in any circumstances.

Basis of determining the subscription price of the options

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five Business Days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the shares.

Remaining life of the 2020 Share Option Scheme
The 2020 Share Option Scheme became effective on 17

September 2020 and will remain in force for a period of ten
years from that date.

During the Year, no share option has been granted, exercised or

cancelled under the 2020 Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s

Bye-Laws, or the laws in Bermuda, which would oblige the Company

to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Board confirms that the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under
the Listing Rules throughout the Year.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable or other donation of approximately
HK$2,597,000 during the Year.

AUDITOR

Zenith CPA Limited (“Zenith") was appointed as the auditor
of the Company to fill the vacancy following the resignation of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company on 24
December 2018. The Company’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 were audited
by Zenith. Save as the above, there were no other changes in the
Company's auditor in the past three years.

Zenith shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

SO S BB

REARRAIAFESZENRLESHAA
EEERABARANBEAFE —BERFRESR
Z ERAREARTIE

Hak

AEERBEAFECFLESHEMIBRY
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On behalf of the Board

Yang Zhihui
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

ASSURANCE | TRANSACTIONS | ADVISORY

.ZEh“TW4§R%~

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LANDING INTERNATIONAL
DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Landing
International Development Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “"Group”) set out on pages 85 to 226, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

¥ S A% B

BESERXRERLARR

(REAEHESEMA LR EREFEZBRL
a])

B
I

BAEEFERBRERARABA(TEQF])
REWMBRAR(GHEEEDINHNFELSE
ROEZHFEEYB®EK BN T _FTF+=
A=+—BZHEAaMBRRE  RBEZA L
FEZEABRER HArEKRER A%
SEPREFEERASRER  MEEMBHRE
M BREIZGHERRME -

BMRE ZEREVBREREBBERT ST
MAg((BERAGTMAE)MBERZE BT
HREAN((EBMBREERN D EEMF 5
kit EEER-_ZT_TF+_A=+—HZ
HRAPBHRIAREHEZBEFEZEEY
BERARGEEERE  UEERBRBELAE
B2 BFEAR T H Al -

B Z R

BAERBEEESHMASRMZBERE
AI([EBETER DETHRT - RPIEZXFTE
AN AR 2 RECEARE KRR FT45E
HHBXAEZEE | P EE—SEA - 1R
BEABGTMASRM I EXSHEER TR
(T=FRID - #ABLY BEEE - YERETF
Al 2 Kb EREBEME - RMBE - RAFR
BB ENRERER R MEEHRRMAZETT
BRIRHEAR -

Annual Report 2020 43 75



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
P8 7 A% B H e

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

We draw attention to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements
which describes the Group's cash incident (the “Cash Incident”) and
reported a loss of KRW4,405,000,000 (equivalent to HK$28,961,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2020. As at the reporting date,
the Cash Incident is still under investigation by the Jeju Special Self-
Governing Provincial Police Agency of Korea (the “Jeju Police”),
together with KRW10,150,000,000 (equivalent to HK$72,325,000)
held by the Group as at 31 December 2020 and subsequent cash
found by the Jeju Police, totalling of KRW13,400,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$95,483,000) has been seized and retained by the Jeju Police
until the investigation process of the Cash Incident is complete. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HREETEE

T 7 A% S e

ToH i 2t = 0 ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Rz BT NNEERRENSEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment of the
business for development and operation of the integrated leisure
and entertainment resort operated in Jeju Shinhwa World (the
“Integrated Resort Development Business”)
RENSFEEARNEECERRQREGERARREEBRN XL (&F
EERBRRER ) 2UWE  BERREZBETG

Refer to Notes 3 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

ELEGE R TERERAEIR 14

The Group has been developing the Integrated Resort Development
Business, which include hotels, theme park operated in Jeju Shinhwa
World. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group incurred
capital expenditure of HK$6,878,000 related to the Integrated Resort
Development Business, and the carrying amount of the property,
plant and equipment related to the Integrated Resort Development
Business amounted to HK$10,042,288,000 as at 31 December 2020
which mainly included hotels and theme park.
EEELERECERBREREYR  ETEERNEMNMELEREEL
BERFENE -BE_Z_TF+_A=+—HILFE - E5EH
REEREEREBELEEARRMZ 6,878,000 - RZE-TF+ =
A=1+—R HaERREREZKZVE BELRBZERER
10,042,288,000 87T * £ EEBIFEEREEAHE -

In determining whether property, plant and equipment related to
the Integrated Resort Development Business were impaired required
an estimation of the fair value less cost of disposal of the relevant
assets. The fair value less cost of disposal was determined by the
management with reference to the market value.

ETARSAEREEREB YR BELRBAESRER @ A
AAFEERLEEHEBEEZKE - EREL2ETMEEEATFEER

Management engaged an external valuer to assist in performing an
impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment related to
the Integrated Resort Development Business.
EREEFBIILEMRDETERFEEERREREB YR K
P X it 2 WA R ©

We focused on this area due to the significance of the carrying amount
of the property, plant and equipment related to the Integrated Resort
Development Business to the consolidated statement of financial
position and the high level of judgements required by management
in assessing if impairment indicators existed at the date of the
consolidated statement of financial position.

HAEINLER  REERGAERRERER 2WE - BE KK
BZRAEHFSMBRARKEEE - N LEE NGRS HBIRR
= BHHEREREREFERFEHEXRHE -

Our procedures in relation to the carrying
value of property, plant and equipment
related to Integrated Resort Development
Business included:
EMBGEERERRER ZUE  BERR
BEREE2EFESE :

— Understanding, evaluating and
validating the operating effectiveness
of the controls over additions property,
plant and equipment related to
Integrated Resort Development
Business;

T FEEEREEFESERRER
X EBIRINDE - BERRBEZE
YERCRR

—  Performing substantive test of additions
during the year on a sample basis by
examining relevant documents such as
invoices to evaluate whether additions
have been properly capitalised;
RERMEEBRIIKAETEL LR
& ERBERRESHE T ARG
BINKAREEEEERNE

— Evaluating management’s policy in
determining the estimated useful life
and depreciation;

ML EREEE A EAFRARTE
ZHR

— Assessing the competency, objectivity
and independence of the external
valuer engaged by management, and
discussing with the external valuer
their work scope, and assessing the
appropriateness of the valuation
methodology used; and
FHEEE BRI ERM 2B
BFERE MBI - BN EM R
FzTrERBET®R - LHEMAZ
HETERERE &

— Understanding and evaluating the
Group's procedures regarding the
identification of sources of information
relevant to impairment indicators.
TERERE SEEEEMNERERERS
BB RARIREVIZFE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HREETEE

ToH i 2t = 0 ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Rz BT NNEERRENSEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill, intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment for the business and operation of the gaming
and entertainment facilities operated in Jeju Shinhwa World (the
“Gaming Business”)
REMGEERAANEECBERRERBCLEEREB 2HE - BF
BEEURYE - BERREZREFTE

Refer to Notes 3, 14, 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BRI A TSR iE3 14~ 17K 18 °

The Group recognised impairment losses of HK$5,438,000, and
HK$294,462,000 on goodwill and intangible assets allocated to
Gaming Business, respectively, during the year ended 31 December
2020. As at 31 December 2020, carrying amounts of goodwill,
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment related to the
Gaming Business were Nil, HK$612,366,000 and HK$121,314,000,
respectively.

HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=1+—HLFE EEEERIETHE
MEGORZBBRMENEE ZRERED 5 /5,438,0007% T K&
294,462,000 T R—FT_FF+_A=1+—8 ARABEEH
DHBEE BEEEARYE BEEKRBZEHESIRE -
612,366,0007%8 7T} 121,314,000 8 7T °

In determining whether goodwill, intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment related to the Gaming Business were impaired
required an estimation of the value in use of relevant assets. The value
in use was determined by the management based on the five-years
profit forecast of this cash generating unit discounted to its present
value.
EETHEBYRBHEBIEE  BREENRYE  BEMRER
ERER  FEHEMEEEZEREEETHET - ERABENHE
BEERUREFEVUREAREBEZ AFRMNEAIERE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment on goodwill,
intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment related to the Gaming Business
included:
EMPEEEETRAYEK AR HE &
MEEURN¥ BERRERENGZRRF
B

— Evaluating management’s five-year
approved cash flow forecast;

FEEEEz ATFHLIAERSRETE
Al

— Assessing the competency, objectivity
and independence of the external valuer
engaged by management;

AR ERERIE BN ER 2 B
BERE MBI

— Discussing with the external valuer
their work scope, and evaluating
the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology used;
EANBIEEM R EF 2 TIESRETT
i WaHhFTAZ MEFERRRE ¢

— Assessing the reasonableness of the

key assumptions used by the external
valuer and management such as
revenue growth rate, terminal growth
rate and discount rate by comparing
these assumptions against historical
information and relevant market data
and industry research;
AN EMREREMA FER
RELARE  RHERER  REER
RNBRER - TERBZERREBE
BF - METSEEBRITERTETL
20
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HREETEE

T 7 A% S e

ToH i 2t = 0 ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Rz BT NNEERRENSEE

Management engaged an external valuer to assist in performing
an impairment assessment on the goodwill, intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment related to the Gaming Business using
a value-in-use calculation.
ERERRINBEEMGAACABEFEYREYEEBE A
B BEEARDE - BEMREETRERE -

We identified impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment related to the Gaming Business as a key audit
matter due to the significant management judgements involved in the
underlying assumptions of the impairment assessment, including the
revenue growth rate, terminal growth rate and discount rate.
HREREFEEBRRTIREEENERAE  BEKaER
R REERREERE  HREABYESZEHE  BREENMNR
WE - BEMEEIBREMS - RF@EH SREREZSEERA -

Testing the arithmetical accuracy on the
value-in-use calculation of the Gaming
Business; and
AABEEBEREEAEZEM 2B
FERRE &

Evaluating the potential impact of the
impairment assessment based on the
possible changes of key assumptions
used in valuation model.

RIB G ERE T A ERRR AT
FHERER O BERE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HREETEE

ToH i 2t = 0 ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Rz BT NNEERRENSEE

Net realisable value of properties under development (“PUD") and
completed properties held for sale (“CPFS”)
REPYEXR(BRETIRDIRGECERDE(FECERIED 2
ARRFE

Refer to Notes 3, 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
ARG A REN S - 2122 -

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of the Group's
properties under development and completed properties held for
sale amounted to HK$122,622,000 and HK$875,637,000, respectively.
These balances were stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

NZZE_FF+_A=+—H BEEERITVERFEDEXME
Z BREE D 55 122,622,000 7% 7T } 875,637,000 7 TT © 7% 5 4 871X
REA BB FEME P 2 BRIEETIER

The calculation of the net realisable value of the PUD and CPFS as at
31 December 2020 was performed by the management.

ERENR T _EF+t A=+ —HiAEERTMERGEDEXY
¥R EIEFE -

We focused on this area because the calculation of the net realisable
value of PUD and CPFS involves significant management judgement
and estimation in preparing the updated estimations of the costs to
complete each properties development as well as in assessing the
expected future net selling prices for each property development with
reference to recent sales transactions generated internally or nearby
locations, the estimated future selling costs and relevant taxes.
BHAEINLER  REERFEERTYERSESRRKYMEZA
SR RESREREREHE AT UWRERHTKEEYEERIAR
ZERHKAMGE - URB2ZABAMEMELRAEER S - H5HKRK
HEK R REAREMN GSBEYEERER CRPARKFEE -

Our procedures in relation to assess the net
realisable value of PUD and CPFS included:
BB FEBRRTURRGECERNRTE
BFECRFEE

Assessing the design, implementation
and operating effectiveness of key
internal controls over the preparation
and monitoring of management
budgets and forecasts of properties
development projects;

AR NEREEERE R ESE
RIEBBEAMG EHERAMBERE 2R
it B SREERR

— Conducting site visits to property
development sites, on a sample basis,
and discussing with management the
progress of property development
project;

MBI M ERRBEMAEN - WEE
EENWYFREREAR ZER

—  Comparing the estimated selling prices

to the recent market transactions
making reference to the Group 's selling
prices of the sold units in the same
project or the prevailing market prices of
comparable properties with similar size,
usages and locations, after considering
future market development.
KERARTHERE FR2E &
SERREECEEUZEEHALR
B RAEMEZAIELBRYE 2R
MHER - BEHEERETRATS
REITHE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

T 7 A% S e

A iz A R

BERRESFAHEMENAR - HBWEHNBR
FHRAMBER  BETBREFEETBRE LK
P2 X BED R

BRIHGEEMBRERZBERALNRERME
B BT AEZSFEMERERTMEAZ
FBABMESRAEMBHRR 2B RAIZEE
EREEMEN > FHBRET  EEREMER
EREEAMBRRARMEFABETRAT
RZIBENFEERBERUFFEEAHERRK
MZIER - ERBEFIEHITZ T M FIR
REMENFAEEAHERRL  RAFTERS
ZEE - HENE - HITLAEAHRSE o

S0 A A I R R IS 2 AT

BERREFARERBEBGTHASRM
BEMBEREEAREB QRGN 2 WERTE
REEEMTEZHEMBRE - AHERA
RERAMBRRZBENFERRKFFENE
RMER 2 EAHRRAMMFTZAMEREE -

ERBEAVHERRE - EAREFARN
i BEREFELEZREN  XEERBERT
BEEREQKEAMITE URERFKE
REEREAER K BERREFTEAER
B BEEEFBRRELLE HFEEGER
BRA%=-

BERRESEERZBEMB TETEE &
SEHBERERFZBE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

®  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

T 7 A% S e
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{E(#44)

s HERRAFEKLESTERZIIBEMNE
hiEwm o RIBFAIENETRE  BEREE
FHERZEFIBFNEEIEXNTHEEME -
ftmAEEHY BEEERELSENE
HERRE - WEMARRFEEATEE
1 AN EERBERETIRBERE
AREEUBHRRT IAERE - REH
AERETE  ABRMEEERRFEERER
R Bz Em e RN 2B E B LR
B2 EERE - AT RRFEKUFERA
BB BEEBETREELE -

o HERAMBHmRIBEIIHRSA  &EB
AR BREERE  UARGEHBHREKE
BHRERRZZHMER -

s B BERERNERAXKEHHBEH
EEGtE - BE BN RE  WEHERS
MHHmRERER - ZMBAE EEEEFE
Rt BEBMAIT - APIAFAER
EERFEE -

HPREZZEQETAR (AT EE)TE
B HE REZHEREARITER  B8FER
IR ARl R BB BRI 2 (AT ABREE -

BATREZZESRIBH  SHRRMEF
EEBBY M HBERBRATE  LHESE
BBRANRAEMKARETERMBELIEL
FBREMEMSEAREERZERT @ B
BREXA LUBBREVE T8 1 3 E R R RV 8845 1 ©

Annual Report 2020 43 83



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
P8 7 A% B H e

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Cheng Po Yuen.

Zenith CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Cheng Po Yuen

Practising Certificate Number: P04887
Hong Kong

31 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AR TR AR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE — T - F +-_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—EB-EF —E—NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FET AT
REVENUE U &= 5 788,011 815,533
Cost of properties and inventories sold B H&E#E RFERA (110,812) (109,597)
Other income and (losses)/gains, net HAuw A K (E518) /IzS - F58 6 (72,604) 4,816
Gaming duties and other related taxes  EF % R E AR AT 1E (24,296) (38,161)
Amortisation and depreciation BENITE (620,508) (655,137)
Employee benefit expenses EERFER (553,574) (692,316)
Other operating expenses HEipEiEE A (685,540) (852,355)
Finance costs, net BATSAAN - JR 58 8 (125,020) (187,390)
Fair value losses on WEMEZ AN EEEE  F58
investment properties, net (343,496) (241,016)
Impairment of goodwill and REREEERE
intangible assets (299,900) —
Impairment of trade and JEW B 5 /IR K EAth e R IR
other receivables, net E - FER (52,815) (181,383)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BB A S 7 (2,100,554) (2,137,006)
Income tax (expenses)/credit FrisFi (FI) iK% 11 (14,447) 4,151
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE B A REEAELFEERE
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT (2,115,001) (2,132,855)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO # A T#EEAEESRER
OWNERS OF THE PARENT 13
Basic FHK HK(63.28) cents HK(72.67) cents
B4l AL
Diluted B HK(63.28) cents HK(72.67) cents
AL &I
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Ak 2 T WL 2 3R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E — T =T F +-A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
liEs3 TERT FBT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEBSR (2,115,001) (2,132,855)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME /(LOSS) Hftt 2 [ Wz, (&518)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that AJFERE 18 HfE, 735 MR
may be reclassified to profit or loss Bm Az
in subsequent periods: Yoz /Eﬁé) :
Revaluation of property, plant and REEEIREYERE-YE
equipment upon transfer to R ki - JFER
investment properties, net - 3,496
Exchange differences on translation BREBINEZ[ER Z5
of foreign operations 521,488 (546,139)
Release of exchange reserve R EHE A RERER 2
upon disposal of subsidiaries M 5 f 31 19,296 -
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) BERHEEHRER ER
that may be reclassified to profit or loss in ?El 52 HMEMH
subsequent periods Wz, (&8 )58 540,784 ‘_______f!_ié_l_Z_,(_Jfl_S}_
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will T & RE & I EF 72
not be reclassified to profit or loss BaZ Bt 2 H
in subsequent periods: Yeas ~(E#8) -
Remeasurements of employee SHErEEERMNEMR
benefit obligations 4,345 2,494
Equity investments designated at fair value 87 E BIZ A FEEFT AHAL
through other comprehensive income: PHEWER 7 RIERE
Changes in fair value NEEBEED (5,426) (44,490)
Net other comprehensive loss that will B ranHeRER EE
not be reclassified to profit or loss B i 2 HERFE
in subsequent periods (1,081 (41,996)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FEH b2 H Kz, (H18) -
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX HIBRTE 539,703 (584,639)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR BRARABRARGEER@
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO BRARE
OWNERS OF THE PARENT (1,575,298) (2,717,494)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

i B AR DL

As at 31 December 2020 R—ZE-_ZF+—-H=+—H

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
fzE FHT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 14 10,210,788 10,700,729
Investment properties wEMZE 15 537,164 776,838
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 7,857 94,111
Goodwill kS 17 - 5,336
Intangible assets BVEE 18 614,911 870,842
Equity investments designated at EEARATEER AL
fair value through other comprehensive 225 Z iR E
income 19 30,420 35,846
Prepayments, trade and other TERNFRIAE - EIE 58 K
receivables HAth FE W IR 20 110,410 113,773
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 11,511,550 12,597,475
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties under development BEREAPYE 21 122,622 236,781
Completed properties for sale CARNIDEIES 22 875,637 982,533
Inventories =& 23 70,497 76,435
Prepayments, trade and other TERNFRIAE - EMCE 558 K
receivables H A FE W TR IR 20 314,683 825,853
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEEFARRZ
profit or loss I EE 24 - 2,511
Tax recoverable BEEEE 6,135 219
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREeZEY 25 647,418 398,033
Total current assets mENEEMEE 2,036,992 2,522,365
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables e E 5 /I8 K Bty A 5RIR 26 471,735 510,418
Interest-bearing bank and TRIRITREHMER
other borrowings 27 829,234 859,016
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) 7,689 38,777
Tax payable FERTFRIR 8,286 7,719
Total current liabilities BB EETE 1,316,944 1,415,930
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 720,048 1,106,435
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BREERRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 12,231,598 13,703,210
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fo e B B IR DL A

As at 31 December 20200 R=—ZE—ZFF+—-A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-®F  —T-hF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FHT AT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5518 R E A FE T 5/ 18 26 31,877 37,577
Interest-bearing bank and STERITREMEE
other borrowings 27 1,707,264 1,707,895
Lease liabilities HEBE 16(b) 786 41,924
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIER R 28 45,054 31,747
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEERE 1,784,981 1,819,143
Net assets BEEFRE 10,446,617 11,884,767
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners BRREE AELER
of the parent
Share capital [N 29 35,219 29,350
Reserves it 30 10,411,398 11,855,417
Total equity ERER 10,446,617 11,884,767
Yang Zhihui Wong Hoi Po
mEs Ei/K
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director

FERATEF HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AR RESR AR B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —Z T F+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADRHEAER
Share Other Accumulated Total
capital reserves losses equity
BRA Hibf@E 2itER R
(Note 29) (Note 30) (Note 30)
(&£ 29) (Fff&E 30) (Fi#zE30)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TER
At 1 January 2020 R=Z-Bf-A-H 29,350 16,700,180 (4,844,763) 11,884,767
Loss for the year EEER - - (2,115,001) (2,115,001)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FEEMPABE
Remeasurement of employee benefit obligation ~ EFrEEERFIEE - 4,345 - 4,345
Changes in fair value of equity investments at RATEEF AL M2 ERR
fair value through other comprehensive income ZBREREZ DT EEES - (5,426) - (5,426)
Exchange differences on translation of BEBIEBELER
foreign operations - 521,488 - 521,488
Release of exchange reserve upon RHERE R RERR 2
disposal of subsidiaries (Note 31) B 5 s (P 31) - 19,296 - 19,296
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXABELE - 539,703 (2,115,001) (1,575,298)
Release of revaluation of investment properties ~ REBZNE « FiE KR fEE
upon transfer to property, plant BERENEZER
and equipment - (2,053) 2,053 -
Issue of shares (Note 29) Fritn (A5 29) 5,869 132,070 - 137,939
Share issue expenses (Note 29) BRER(ME29) - (791) - (791)
At 31 December 2020 R-2-BF+-A=t+-H 35,219 17,369,109* (6,957,711) 10,446,617
At 1 January 2019 R-E-NE-FA—-H 29,350 17,293,262 (2,720,351) 14,602,261
Loss for the year EEER - = (2,132,855) (2,132,855)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FREAMPEEE :
Remeasurement of employee benefit obligation ~ EXFrEEERFIEE - 2,494 - 2,494
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment RERZRENERERDE
upon transfer to investment properties, net BfE Rk b - R - 349 - 3,49
Changes in fair value of equity investments at BRATEEFARM2ELE
fair value through other comprehensive income ZBREREZATERS - (44,490) - (44,490)
Exchange differences on translation of BERNEBZERER
foreign operations - (546,139) - (546,139)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEPAEBRASH - (584,639) (2,132,855) (2,717,494)
Release of revaluation of investment properties REEEYE -« BE k& ER
upon transfer to property, plant BERENEZER
and equipment - (8,915) 8,915 -
Transfer to accumulated losses ERZ 2R - 472 (472) -
At 31 December 2019 R-B-AF+=A=1+-A 29,350 16,700,180* (4,844,763 11,884,767

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves

of HK$10,411,398,000 (2019: HK$11,855,417,000) in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

*

WEFEBERERLEGAUBRARZEE
f#18510,411,398,0007 T(= & — L& ¢
11,855,417,000 37T o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
maBERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & E — T =T F +-A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
ZRCEF —TNEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Btk TER THT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES B&(BzRERE
Loss before tax BRL A B (2,100,554) (2,137,006)
Adjustments for: BE
Dividend income from equity investmentsat R AFEEFTAEMERRE 2
fair value through other comprehensive BRI E 2 IR EWA
income 6 (484) (699)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HEWRBARZER,/ (M) 6 21,386 (114)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of property, Hj'%*%% = R RBIEE 2
plant and equipment ),/ B8 6 (5,471) 107,808
Recover of land lease payment upon E"Tfﬁﬂ-ﬂ&@iﬂﬁﬁg?\
cancellation 6 - (144,936)
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets and RERIHERHEZ
lease liabilities on early termination FRREAEREERRECER
of leases 6 18,950 30,253
Revision of a lease term arising from a change AN AIHH AT S4B E &)
in the non-cancellable scope of a lease PTE % 2 HEIESHIERT b (1,013) -
Derecognition of interest accretion REBRIRITEERKZILRER
on early redemption of bank borrowings 2RISR 6 815 18,926
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %1% * BE k&EZITE 7 607,548 604,286
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEECITE 7 12,629 50,580
Amortisation of intangible assets EREE B 7 331 271
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets ~ 2 REF EER(E 299,900 =
Impairment of trade receivables, net [EWE S5 ZIERE @ T 7 74 1,859
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of BRERFECRERR),BE
gaming receivables, net R 7 (7,720) 155,023
Impairment of other receivables, net Hith BUGRIBRE « 55 7 60,461 24,501
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 1% + R &R ERE 7 184,887 259,326
Provision for inventories GFEEE 7 1,398 4,905
Fair value losses on investment properties, net &&WFE 2 AT EERE @ F8 343,496 241,016
Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value ~ &/AFEE A2 775
through profit or loss BEZAFEERE 7 - (53)
Finance costs B 8 146,304 199,949
Finance income FIBUA 8 (21,284) (12,559)
(438,347) (596,664)
Increase in properties under development ?ﬂ?&@%%iﬁjﬂ] - (288)
Decrease in completed properties for sale HECERMERD 67,800 57,881
Decrease in inventories T— R 8,760 6,850
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, trade and  JRNFUA ~ FEIRE 55008 R H Ath
other receivables FEWRIEm A/ (3Ehn) 554,141 (313,078)
Decrease in trade and other payables e E S F0B R E bR ZIER D (59,759) (413,491)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations LR mE/ (R)EE 132,595 (1,258,790)
Interest received EYFIE 21,284 12,559
Interest paid ERHME (123,977) (119,787)
Interest element on lease liabilities MEGERRDH (1,447) (57,642)
Income tax refunded Ei&@ﬁﬁ S 1 113,269
Income tax paid BTATEH (11,045) (2,594)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities £ % ¥£15F715,/ (FTH )R &R EF8 17,411 (1,312,985)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEaBamER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE — T - F + - A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—BCEF “F-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt aE TER THET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZHZRERE
Dividend received from equity investments BURERE 2 RE 484 699
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BERATEESAER
through profit or loss I EE - (2,495)
Proceeds from disposals of financial assets HERATEBETABREZ
at fair value through profit or loss IS EEMSHIE 2,527 -
Purchase of items of property, plant BEYX  BERRIBER
and equipment (6,939) (205,501)
Additions of investment properties NEREYE - (699)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, &I - BiE R&HEEE
plant and equipment FriEs08 150,561 11,930
Proceeds from disposal of HEREMEFEHIR
investment properties - 61,000
Additions of intangible assets NEEREE 18 (526) 613)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries & W A RTS8 31 118,864 216
Proceeds from recover of prepaid land lease ~ FAsEiEE Ul - ETE (7B
upon cancellation FrSs08 - 171,640
Net cash flows from investing activities REEDMBERETEFHE 264,971 36,177
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZB HEHRE
Net proceeds from placing of shares A& AR (A TS s IR F 2 29 137,148 =
New bank and other borrowings ERITREMES 1,890 3,053,010
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EBRETIEMEE (186,797) (2,409,337)
Principal portion of lease payments HERFEEHS 32 (18,713) (17,686)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities B& &SN (FTF ),/ FrisH & REF @ (66,472) 625,987
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASHAND ~ RE&RB&ZEWEM/(BD)FHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 215,910 (650,821)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FNZHRERREEED
of the year 398,033 1,098,459
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ~ INEEXREH) 7 &/& « F5 33,475 (49,605)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSATEND  S#ZRERALEEY
OF THE YEAR 647,418 398,033
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERBTEHZIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B e KR4 25 477,390 362,881
Non-pledged time deposits with original BERREHEIR=EA 2
maturity of less than three months EHAEHER
when acquired 25 170,028 35,152
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in BBRRRAT R R AT F
the statement of financial position -t 647,418 398,033
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of registered
office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda, and the principal place of
business of the Company is located at Suites 5815-16, 58th
Floor, Two International Finance Centre, 8 Finance Street,
Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group is principally engaged in
development and operation of the integrated leisure and
entertainment resort (the “Integrated Resort Development”);
gaming and entertainment facilities (the “Gaming Business”);
and property development (the “Property Development”).

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company is Landing International
Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

1

o ] B A R

RRARARFAEHSTEMNLERBER
EFBE2ERAA  ERONEBESEE
R BBRABI(BRA])ER LM -
R R) 2 5k M 3% = B 3k & Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda ® AR A Z = BE 52
URBBHRIRESETSHBBR S /P L=
Hi58125815-16 % ©

FR - AEEXTERFTERIGLHEEIK
BRREERN((FEEBRNBR]) 8
FRRERE((ERER])  REER
(T*BRE]) -

BEERA ARRZEERERIZR AT
AR RBRELESEMKL 2 ERBERE
RAA] -

FEMEARZER
ARREEMBAB ZFBWT :

follows:
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
Name registration and business registered share capital ~attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ EmR BRITEER/
£ BEXBHH dMRA  FAREGEZEIL  EERXE
Direct Indirect
E# A
Bright House Company Limited Macau Macau Pataca 25,000 - 100%  Investment holding
BEARAH AP 25,000 2P RERR
Callisto Business Limited British Virgin Islands United States dollars 100% - Investment holding
("US$") 76,470,000
Callisto Business Limited RERNAS 76,470,000 X7([ % 7)) REER
Chi Shun Investment (Yangzhou) The People's Republic of China Renminbi (“RMB") - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited* (“Chi Shun”) ("PRC") 400,000,000
(Note i) (Note i)
BEREGM)ARLE *(8R)) hEARAME(HE]) ARE(TARS]) RESR
GEINGELD) 400,000,000 7¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B S R B
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 A REEER ()
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EREMBARZER(E)
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity

Name registration and business registered share capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ EmR BRITEER/
L BEXHHH dMRA  FAREGEREAL  IRER
Direct Indirect
ER A

Datsun Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Asset holding

KEERARAT 5t 10000747 FE

Golden House Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands Us$2 - 100%  Marketing

Golden House Ventures Limited EERNAS 2% BH

Happy Bay Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore dollar - 100%  Investment holding

("SGD") 97,472,000
Happy Bay Pte. Ltd. A 97,472,000 REER
s (T M ])
Landing Entertainment Korea Co., Ltd. South Korea Korean Won - 100%  Gaming business
("KRW") 27,176,895,000
Landing Entertainment Korea Co., Ltd.  BJ& 27,176,895,000 54 BRES
((&8))
Landing Estate Management South Korea KRW100,000,000 - 100%  Residential
Services Co., Ltd. management
Landing Estate Management B 100,000,000 % Bl FEER
Services Co., Ltd.

Landing Jeju Development Co., Ltd. South Korea KRW465,000,000,000 50% 50%  Development,
management,
operation and
rental of facilities for
tourism, commerce,
accommodation
and recreation

ESEMNRER a4 L 465,000,000,000 &8 ¥R EE HER

HERE B
(AT RIRER 1
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1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 A6 REEER ()

(continued)

BFRKNE QR 2ER (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
Name registration and business registered share capital  attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ EmR BRITEER/
L BEXHHH dMRA  FAREGEREAL  IRER
Direct Indirect
& A
Landing Management Company Limited  Hong Kong HK$100 100% - Management office
ERERERRA &R 10077 ERHER
Landing Resorts Management Hong Kong HK$100 100% - Management office
Company Limited
ERREERERAT &R 10077 ERHER
Landing Resorts Philippines Republic of the Philippines Philippine Pesos - 100%  Management office
Development Corporation ("PHP") 10,300,000
Landing Resorts Philippines FEEHNE 10,300,000 ERHER
Development Corporation FEERZ
(E 5t ed)
Leader Rainbow Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Securities Investment
BIABRAH i 1B BARE
Rainbow Source Developments Limited  British Virgin Islands US$100 100% - Asset holding
TRERARAR EBRARS 100 €7 BERA
Royal Dragon Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Property holding
Royal Dragon Limited B 15871 NERE
Shinhwa World China Co., Ltd. PRC 1S$59,860,000 = 100%  Sales and marketing
(“Shinhwa China")* (Note i) (Note i) services
BRKEESAA(LE)ARAF G 59,860,000 %7 HERERRS
(- ENGEDIGESD)
Win Rich Group Limited British Virgin Islands US$50,000 100% - Asset holding
SEREARLA] EBRARS 50,000% 7 BERA
Yao Zhan Trading Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% - Property holding
RREHABRAA ERRARS 1% WERE

The English name of the company referred to in these consolidated

financial statements represent management'’s best effort to translate

the Chinese name of the company, as no English name has been

registered.

Landing International Development Limited & % B B 5 e A FiL A ]
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2.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Note i:  These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

under PRC law.

Note ii:  The registered capital of Chi Shun amounted to RMB400,000,000,

of which RMB385,020,000 was paid up as at 31 December 2020.
The Group had the remaining unpaid capital contribution of
RMB 14,980,000 as at 31 December 2020.

Note iii: The registered capital of Shinhwa China amounted to

US$59,860,000, of which US$57,844,955 was paid up as at 31
December 2020. The Group had the remaining unpaid capital
contribution of US$2,015,045 as at 31 December 2020.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

1

2.1

for B 25 AR M

O ] B SR BB (%)

BFRKNE QR 2ER (&)

Mzt WEERBREPEEGEMAINEEE
% -

Mz« 25 MR & A A A R ¥ 400,000,000
T HPRZZEZEF+_A=+—H
B &l A R 385,020,0007C ° R=F
—EF+ZA=+—H8  AEEHER
YAEERE AR 14,980,000 7T ©

18 5 & 5 it & 4 & 59,860,000 T -
HEPR—_ZT-_TF+_A=+—HEE
1§57,844,955% T c RZZE_TF+=
A=+—8 A&EESERIITEEE
2,015,0453<7C °

M= iii

ERIHBERREBZREAREFAR
BAERAREFEEERF D ZARAE
MEAE  EFERARHEEMCHBERARZ
HEESRBENTTE -

ZEGAVBHRROREFTESTMAE
((BERESFMAE )RG2BFEMBRE
EQ((BERMBHREE D (BEMEE
BUBHREEL  BEGAEN(ERS
FrER D RRE)  BELREFRAR
BFEARGOIZHBERTRE - RRED
X BERATEEFAHRMEENKEZ
B E kIR A FEEFABR M BE
ERAFHEEFEIN  ZEPHHRRIR
BESLKABEHRE - ZFHEEMHRE
BTTZ2S - B RBHRAEN FBEEE
EMEAARREOTME(TET) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

96

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Landing International Development Limited & % B B 5 e A FiL A ]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or accumulated losses,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

for B 25 AR M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

98

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for

Financial Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs for

the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

(early adopted)

Definition of Material

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(a)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive
set of concepts for financial reporting and standard
setting, and provides guidance for preparers of financial
statements in developing consistent accounting policies
and assistance to all parties to understand and interpret
the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes
new chapters on measurement and reporting financial
performance, new guidance on the derecognition
of assets and liabilities, and updated definitions and
recognition criteria for assets and liabilities. It also clarifies
the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement
uncertainty in financial reporting. The Conceptual
Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts
contained therein override the concepts or requirements
in any standard. The Conceptual Framework did not
have any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

Landing International Development Limited & % B B 5 e A FiL A ]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A
business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments
remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to
produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs
to focus on goods or services provided to customers,
investment income or other income from ordinary
activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance
to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to
permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set
of activities and assets is not a business. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to transactions
or other events that occurred on or after 1 January 2020.
The amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period before
the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark
with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR"). The amendments
provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting
to continue during the period of uncertainty before
the introduction of the alternative RFR. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging relationships
which are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group as the Group
does not have any interest rate hedging relationships.

for B 25 AR M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

2.2 Gt BOR KRB (4])

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. The practical
expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as
a direct consequence of the pandemic and only if () the
change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than,
the consideration for the lease immediately preceding
the change; (i) any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021;
and (iii) there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease. The amendment is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
with earlier application permitted and shall be applied
retrospectively.

The amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information,
or both. The amendments did not have any significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
foi A B 5 A R i

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate orJoint Venture*

Insurance Contracts®

Insurance Contracts®®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®®

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16,
and HKAS 412
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 2.3 OAH M AH VR A 3 2 7 s B % i

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

g As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for
an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do
not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify
that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that
date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any
such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only
to items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented
in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 2.3 AH M AH VR A R 2 7 s B % it

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well
as contract management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract
and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to
the counterparty under the contract. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which an entity has
not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group
are as follows:

e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new
or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies
the amendment. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not expected
to have a significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

e  HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
[llustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.

2.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEGFIBORME

POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHBORBE (M)

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3— based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHBORBE (M)

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, completed properties held for sale, properties
under development, financial assets, deferred tax assets and
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(viij a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHECORBEE(4)

POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bring the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are
dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If
the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an
individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the
statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus
is credited to the statement of profit or loss to the extent of
the deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset,
the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised
in respect of previous valuations is transferred to accumulated
losses as a movement in reserves.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold land outside Hong Kong  Not depreciated

Buildings Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 50 years
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of

the lease terms or

4.5% to 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 18% to 20%
office equipment
Motor vehicles 10% to 25%
Aircraft 5%
Gaming equipment and 20%

accessories

Structure and other facilities 2% to 33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings and assets
under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHBORBE (M)

POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a
property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned property up
to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property
is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the policy
stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

Properties under development and held for sale are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Development cost of
properties comprises cost of land use rights, construction costs
and borrowing costs incurred during the construction period.
Once the construction or development of these properties is
completed, these properties are reclassified to the appropriate
categories of assets. If a property under development is
intended to be redeveloped into an owner-occupied property,
it is transferred to construction in progress at the carrying
amount.

Net realisable value takes into account the price ultimately
expected to be realised, less applicable variable selling
expenses and the anticipated costs to completion.

Properties under development and held for sale are classified
as current assets unless the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete beyond
normal operating cycle.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHBORBE (M)

POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Gaming licenses

Gaming licenses acquired in business combinations are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Gaming licenses
have indefinite useful lives and are carried at cost less any

impairment losses.

Trademarks and patents

Trademarks and patents acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks
and patents have finite useful lives and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the cost of trademarks and patents over their estimated
useful lives of 7 to 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Buildings

Over the lease terms
Over the lease terms

Facilities Over the lease terms

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

®)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery, motor
vehicle and office equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for
leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

118 Landing International Development Limited #5424 B 5 f A iR 2

2.4 EEEEHBORBER (4])

HE (&)
FEBEBEBEA ()

(b)

(c)

HERBEREERKAMAEER
AEL 2 HERAREER - HE
RABRERMNR(EEEERNK
TH ) R AE fr] e 7R & B FRIE - BUR
ST E I EPAE FiE-§/ 0 1791
EHRBERNSKEERERTXNZE
B HERANBREASE S ER
ETEZBEEREZITEERM
EHESNARRASEETELL
MEREEN  AEKRLIAEXM
R - WIBURREEEF K
AEHERRELRBENRZE
etz MEARR R -

Rt EHERBRZERER - M
EAMENELHEE  BAKH
FEREE RN B H 2 B8 B X
AE - RRAKBEHE HEAES
BZIBMMRBRA S 2 WE
NHEERBMRD - I MAE
N HEEE - HEFRZE(fm
R R F YRR E SR
%imﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁéﬁ\&
BZEE  RIEFTEHEEAGZ
%@ﬁo

FTHIHERIBEEEEHE

AEEBEBHERRNECERE
Hpees  AERBAREGZEHE
EENBHERMK B BETHEEA12
BAZKAT  WETEESEEERE
BoHE) EMBEEEEEMAE
HRARCEAZEREERBRER
ZMAEREHRE -

RHEEEREEEEEMENEE
NHRIEERENEBAER R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHECORBEE(4)

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued))

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.
The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHECORBEE(4)

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

* the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHECORBEE(4)

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade and
gaming receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2—  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3—  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and gaming receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

For trade and gaming receivables that contain a significant
financing component, the Group chooses as its accounting
policy to adopt the general approach in calculating ECLs with
policies as described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings or payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, lease liabilities, and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHBORBE (M)

POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHBORBE (M)

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

* when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

® in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHBORBE (M)

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair values where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the costs, for which
it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Gaming duties and other related taxes

According to the respective local legislation by the Government
of South Korea, the Group is required to pay certain percentage
gaming tax on the net gaming wins from gaming operations.
In addition, the Group is also required to make certain variable
and fixed payments to the Government of South Korea based
on the gaming wins generated from tables and slot machines
in its possession. These expenses are recognised as “Gaming
duties and other related taxes” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Integrated resort revenue

Revenue from integrated resort, mainly comprised
hospitality; food and beverage sales and theme park ticket
sales. Revenue from hotel room rental, food and beverage
sales and other ancillary services is recognised at the point
in time when the services are rendered. Revenue from
theme park ticket sales are recognised at the point in time
when the tickets are used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

®)

Gaming revenue

Gaming revenue represents the net difference between
gaming wins and losses. Commissions related directly to
customers are recorded as a reduction to gaming revenue.
Gaming contracts include a performance obligation
to honor the patron’s wager and typically include a
performance obligation to provide a product or service
to the patron on a complimentary basis to incentivise in
exchange for points earned under the Group's loyalty
programs.

For wagering contracts that include products and services
provided to a patron in exchange for complimentary
commissions or points earned under the Group's loyalty
programs, the Group allocates the estimated stand-
alone selling price of the points earned to the loyalty
program liability. The loyalty program liability is a deferral
of revenue until redemption occurs. Upon redemption of
loyalty program points for Group-owned products and
services, the standalone selling price of each product or
service is allocated to the respective revenue type.

For redemption of loyalty program points with third
parties, the redemption amount is deducted from the
loyalty program liability and paid directly to the third
party.

Commission and allowances to gaming counterparties is
calculated based on certain percentages of net gaming
wins or rolling amount and is recorded as a reduction to
gaming revenue when the relevant services have been

rendered by gaming counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(c)

Sales of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the
point in time when the purchasers obtained the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property
and the Group has the present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

Revenue from other sources

(a)

(d)

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Management fee income is recognised when such services
have been provided to customer.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or

a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before

the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract

liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs

under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or

services to the customer).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHBORBE (M)

POLICIES (continued)
Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset
is measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be
returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods and any
potential decreases in the value of the returned goods. The
Group updates the measurement of the asset for any revisions
to the expected level of returns and any additional decreases in
the value of the returned goods.

Share-based payment

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants is measured by reference to the fair value on the date at
which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payment (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
the statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's certain subsidiaries which
operate in South Korea are required to participate in a
defined contribution is a pension plan under which the
South Korea subsidiaries pay fixed contributions into
a separate entity. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expenses when an employee has
rendered service.

In addition, the subsidiaries in South Korea also operates
a defined benefits scheme in South Korea, the assets of
which are generally held in separate trustee-administrated

funds.

The schemes are generally funded through payments
to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds,
determined by periodic actuarial calculations. A defined
benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined
contribution plan. Typically, defined benefit plans define
an amount of pension benefit that an employee will
receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more
factors such as age, years of services and compensation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(a)

Pension obligations (continued)

The liability recognised in the statement of financial
position in respect of defined benefit pension plans
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets.
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually
by independent actuaries using the projected unit
credit method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms
to maturity approximating to the terms of the related
pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they arise. Past-service costs
are recognised immediately as income.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries, which operate
in the Philippines, are members of government-managed
“Social Security System Scheme”. The Philippine
subsidiary is required to pay a monthly fixed contribution
or certain percentage of the employees’ relevant income
and met the minimum mandatory requirements of the
Social Security System Scheme. The Philippine subsidiary
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due.

Certain subsidiaries which operate in Singapore make
contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in
Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. Contributions
to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the related service
of the employee is performed. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the fixed contributions have
been paid. The Group's contributions are recognised as
employee compensation expense when they are due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEEGGHECORBEE(4)

POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
(b) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the date of
consolidated statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company's functional currency. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and
owner- occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are described below.

(a)

Impairment of trade and gaming receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. An impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date using a loss rate approach to measure
expected credit losses. The credit risk categorisation is
determined based on a number of factors which include
(i) debtors’ ageing; (ii) historical repayment behaviour
of debtors; and (iii) other debtors’ specific information
available to the Group which is relevant for credit risk
assessment. The credit risk categorisation is adjusted to
reflect subsequent information uncovered to an extent
that such information provides evidence of conditions
existed as at the year end date and forward-looking
information. The expected loss rates are estimated based
on the expected cash flows that can be recovered from
the estimated repayments based on historical recovery
ratios.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
recovery ratio, estimated repayment and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and estimates may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade and gaming receivables is disclosed in note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of other receivables

The impairment provisions for other receivables are
based on assumptions about expected credit losses. The
Group uses judgements and estimates in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions at the end of each reporting period. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecasts of future
economic conditions may also not be representative of
a debtor’s actual default in the future. Changes in these
assumptions and estimates could materially affect the
results of the assessment and it may be necessary to
make an additional impairment charge to profit or loss.
Details of other receivables are disclosed in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and gaming licences
with indefinite useful lives

The Group determines whether goodwill and gaming
licences with indefinite useful lives are impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units or the
fair value of gaming licences to which the goodwill and
gaming licences with indefinite useful lives are allocated.
Estimating the value in use and fair value requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or change in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of future
cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a material
impairment loss or further impairment loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment assessment of goodwill and gaming licences
with indefinite useful lives (continued)

The estimated cash flows and discount rate are subject to
higher degree of estimation uncertainties in the current
year due to uncertainty on how the COVID-19 pandemic
may progress and evolve the volatility in financial markets,
including potential disruptions of the Group's operation
of Integrated Resort Development and Gaming Business.
Changes in the key assumptions including the growth
rates of revenue and costs, working capital needs and
pre-tax discount rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts arising from the
current changing in market conditions after the outbreak
of COVID-19. The duration of the travel restrictions and
the related impact on the financial performance of the
Group is unknown subjecting these key assumptions to
greater uncertainty.

Details of goodwill and gaming licences are disclosed in
notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right- of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

for B 25 AR M

HOK & wh A B & A (4

it 2 NABEE (&)

(c)

(d)

B8 RAER o (& f5 S 1 2 18R JE A el
B ()

Ei/ﬂh%fﬁ E\J&?ﬁfﬁfﬁ/\$¢f
E‘JEKT@IBEE’JWE A A&
RER BN R KRS A&
AEEEW%E’J&@J(@%;T$¢.E’J%?\
AERBRNERKBR ERKAEEK
MR E)FENETE - ARHTER
SBREREBYEMBRABEEZLNE
g BRER(EEBARKAIE &
. EBESHERRESMEEAR
BB A% B BA IR 3K ) B9 & B Al g ¥ A] Uk
ESBEKBRELE ARZEH
REZFERANDEEE - Bt
BRFT PR i) & HA PR DA K2 3 7 &= 8 B 75
FEMBEFER A -

EE LB R 2 FBERERE IS
SRRMIEE17 & 18I EE -

HUBEE (BEEI) BE
AEEREREHRTAAIEY

BEEBRERREE)=RERFH
ERIRETR - AERFHZ B
BEESFETREANR  WELHR
BTN R 2 H s ETRE R o
EAURBRREER S EEKE
- Rt M IEI B E EETTRIE
AR WEEXBREEFBN 2R
EEBBHAEATKRESREBIELTE
BERHEXEREEREEMREF
ZB&EE)  RTEFERE- - 2F
BERHEXRAEZEZEN AR
FREBEUEEENRNIRTRSH
BRAIBETERLEEE B
A RETEEREER  EBE
R EESIRSELBN A
ARBERE  WEFFENRE
u\u'l'kk*?<$fﬁﬁ//|u§,\zfﬁfﬁ °

Annual Report 2020 43 143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(e)

(7)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines whether an asset is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
fair value of the asset. The fair value for the impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment is estimated
based on either (i) fair value less cost of disposal, or (ii)
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved
by management and by reference to external valuation
reports. Details of property, plant and equipment
are disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties for sale

The Group's properties for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Based on the Group's recent
experience and the nature of the subject properties, the
Group makes estimates of the selling prices, the costs
of completion in cases for properties under or held for
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the
properties based on prevailing market conditions. If there
is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in net
sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in provision for properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. Such provision
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate,
the carrying value and provision for properties in the
periods in which such estimate is changed will be
adjusted accordingly. In addition, given the volatility of
the property market and the unique nature of individual
properties, the actual outcomes in terms of costs and
revenue may be higher or lower than that estimated at
the end of the reporting period. Any increase or decrease
in the provision would affect profit or loss in future years.
Details of properties under development and completed
properties for sale are disclosed in notes 21 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Q)

(h)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for
similar properties, the Group considers information from a
variety of sources, including:

(i) Current price in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to
reflect those differences;

(i)  Recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the dates of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(iii)  Discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the
terms of any existing lease and other contracts and
(when possible) by external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that
reflect current market assessment of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

Details of investment properties are disclosed in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay
to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security,
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).

Details of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company are considered to
be the Group's Chief Operating Decision-Maker (“CODM").
Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the CODM that are used to
make strategic decisions. The CODM considers the Group
is operating predominantly in three operating segments as
follows:

(@) Integrated Resort Development
(b)  Gaming Business
(c)  Property Development

The CODM monitors the results of the operating segments
separately for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
performance. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment results, which is a measure of adjusted
profit or loss before tax. The adjusted profit or loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group's loss before tax except
that finance costs, net, changes in fair value of investment
properties in Hong Kong, gain or loss on disposal of subsidiaries
as well as head office and corporate income and expenses, net
are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, investment
properties in Hong Kong, equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income, tax recoverable
and other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GR A BA B R M RE
4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4 EER(H)
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-_ZEF+-A=+—HLHF
E
Integrated
Resort Gaming Property
Development Business Development Total
wE
ERERE BEEK L E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
Segment revenue: (Note 5) 2&fUz - (BffEE5)
Sales to external customers KEINBEE Z
HE 504,233 186,486 97,292 788,011
Segment results DEEE (1,280,324) (509,375) 8,725 (1,780,974)
Reconciliation: HHk -
Finance costs, net BITER AN - VR EE
(other than interest on (HEAEF B
lease liabilities) BRI (123,573)
Corporate and other EREMRDE
unallocated expenses, net  FY ' F&E (175,621)
Fair value gains on BBREME
investment properties ZAEERE
in Hong Kong 1,000
Loss on disposal of T B A A
subsidiaries 2 518 (21,386)
Loss before tax BB A S 1R (2,100,554)
Segment assets DEEE 9,924,839 1,339,495 963,054 12,227,388
Reconciliation: #HEE -
Investment properties BAEREMZE
in Hong Kong 189,000
Equity investments BERRATFEE
designated at fair value T AEAD
through other 2 W 2 AR
comprehensive income & 30,420
Cash and cash equivalents & KBS EEY 647,418
Tax recoverable A Y [E] F 28 6,135
Corporate and other EEREMARDE
unallocated assets BE 448,181
Total assets BERE 13,548,542
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i B B s R
4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) g1 R B (A)
Year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) BE-—E-_EF+-H=1+—HLHF
E(%&)
Integrated
Resort Gaming Property
Development Business Development Total
= A
LA =|
EREZRE HREL MEER At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
Segment liabilities AEBEE 244,880 119,628 28,917 393,425
Reconciliation: Hik -
Interest-bearing bank and ST RERTT R EAD
other borrowings ’tg 2,536,498
Tax payable e HHIR 8,286
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBAE 45,054
Corporate and other EEREMARDE
unallocated liabilities afE 118,662
Total liabilities BfERE 3,101,925
Other segment information ~ T AZEEE >
included in segment results: ~ Hfth A ZBER :
Amortisation and depreciation &5 & ITE 542,430 55,166 - 597,596
Impairment of goodwill EEKELEE
and intangible assets RIE - 299,900 - 299,900
Impairment FEWE 5 /I8 K
of trade and other H th fE W IR
receivables, net B - FE 68,674 (1,572) - 67,102
Fair value losses on investment FISER B Y2
properties in South Korea N EEEE 344,496 - - 344,496
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4

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019

for B 25 AR M

g3 Hk & B (4)

BE-Z-NF+-A=t—HLHF
E

Integrated
Resort Gaming Property
Development Business Development Total
o)
ERERER LR MEER “Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FHTT FHT FHT
Segment revenue: (Note 5) 2Bk ©  (FIEES)
Sales to external customers REIMNBRFZ
HE 488,615 213,117 113,801 815,533
Segment results DEFELE (1,076,090) (469,038) 23,226 (1,521,902)
Reconciliation: E9r
Finance costs, net BTSN - JRER
(other than interest on (HEEaERE
lease liabilities) BRIN) (129,748)
Corporate and other ¥ REAM R DA
unallocated expenses, net ~ FX ' 5 (483,270)
Fair value losses on BERBREYE
investment properties Z N HEEEE
in Hong Kong (2,200)
Gain on disposal of & — AT B A A
a subsidiary Z W 114
Loss before tax BRAT A E 18 (2,137,006)
Segment assets DEPEE 10,553,262 1,594,950 1,224,087 13,372,299
Reconciliation: #AR -
Investment properties BB EYE
in Hong Kong 188,000
Equity investments EERRATEE
designated at fair value FTAEAD
through other ZHE W 2 A
comprehensive income K& 35,846
Cash and cash equivalents BHE&RBESEEY 398,033
Tax recoverable BIRqEEE 219
Corporate and other EREAMRDER
unallocated assets BE 1,125,443
Total assets BERE 15,119,840
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B B A i
4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) g3 #b &R (4)
Year ended 31 December 2019 (continued) BE-Z-hE+=-A=+—HL#F
E (%)
Integrated
Resort Gaming Property
Development Business Development Total
SR
EREER LR MR #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FABT AT
Segment liabilities PHERF 342,520 113,883 20,793 477,196
Reconciliation: H -
Interest-bearing bank and ST RERTT R EAD
other borrowings ’tg 2,566,911
Tax payable FER TR 7,719
Deferred tax liabilities BT IRAE 31,747
Corporate and other EREMARDE
unallocated liabilities afE 151,500
Total liabilities BEAE 3,235,073
Other segment information ~ T AZEEEZ
included in segment results: ~ HAt D EHER :
Amortisation and depreciation #§H &ITE 540,486 52,606 = 593,092
Impairment of trade JEWE 5 /I K
and other receivables, net H A FE W FRIR
HE - FE 1,859 155,023 - 156,882
Fair value losses on investment FFEIREYIZE 2
properties in South Korea N BEEE 238,816 = = 238,816
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B R M R
4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4 IrERERH(H)
Geographical information HwWEER
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) XRENBEFZ WKz
2020 2019
—EIEH —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
South Korea AR 788,011 815,533
The revenue information above is based on the locations A EWEER IR IRE P TR [E
of the customers. FH o
(b) Non-current assets b) FRBEE
2020 2019
—EC-BE —TNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
South Korea FOEE 10,554,823 11,140,523
Hong Kong T 198,186 416,840
Others Hity 2,800 14,315
10,755,809 11,571,678
The non-current assets information above is based on the N EFERBEEELRTDREBEERM
locations of the assets and excludes gooduwill, intangible EUEB(TBRENE BEREE &
assets, prepayments, trade and other receivables and RIE - JEWE 5 50E & A fib FE UL
equity investments designated at fair value through other HEREER/RATFEET AR
comprehensive income. 2HE G 2 RERE )T -
Information about major customers FHRFXrEEFZEHR
During the year ended 31 December 2020, no single customer BE_Z_ZF+_A=+—HILFE"
(2019: Nil) contributed over 10% of the Group's total revenue. BMEE-—XF(ZT—NF : BE)LhAEE

W e B EEEB R 10% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B £ B S
REVENUE e %5
An analysis of revenue is as follows: W DT -
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers EEAE AN 776,269 803,375
Revenue from other sources B FR K 7
Gross rental income from investment REREYHELEHE
property operating leases HeWAERE 11,742 12,158
788,011 815,533
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEAHWE
Disaggregated revenue information Z W B
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-_ZEF+-A=+—HL#TF
E
Integrated
Resort Gaming Property
Segments Development Business Development Total
wE
P ERERE BEER MERRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Types of goods or services AmRRBEEE
Hotel rooms B & = 362,814 - - 362,814
Theme park ticket sales B UNESE=E"1— 25,351 - - 25,351
Food and beverage sales BHIHE 98,018 - - 98,018
Retail sales =E 6,308 - - 6,308
Table games SEER - 178,439 - 178,439
Electronic machine games BB - 8,047 - 8,047
Sales of properties HEMZE - - 90,769 90,769
Property management MEEREBERA
fee income - - 6,523 6,523
Total revenue from contracts B A KUz A2%8
with customers 492,491 186,486 97,292 776,269
Geographical markets MBS
South Korea EE: 492,491 186,486 97,292 776,269
Timing of revenue recognition Y5 7 52 B &
Goods transferred at a point  HE — K& B
in time 2 P8 492,491 186,486 97,292 776,269
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

sk (48)

for B 25 AR M

EFEEM Wz (&)
7z EH ()
BE-_Z-NF+-A=+—HLHF

E
Integrated
Resort Gaming Property
Segments Development Business Development Total
fre
Ban:i EREEE BRI MEER wmEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FH&T FA&T
Types of goods or services AmBREES
Hotel rooms B 5 321,420 - - 321,420
Theme park ticket sales FELBEMRHEE 43,302 = - 43,302
Food and beverage sales BHE 103,445 - - 103,445
Retail sales TE 8,290 = - 8,290
Table games SHEEL = 189,972 = 189,972
Electronic machine games BT EEIEL = 10,618 = 10,618
Events EE) - 12,527 - 12,527
Sales of properties HEWZE = = 106,712 106,712
Property management MEEEERA
fee income = = 7,089 7,089
Total revenue from contracts ~ BFE & 445
with customers 476,457 213,117 113,801 803,375
Geographical markets HET S
South Korea (3L 476,457 213,117 113,801 803,375
Timing of revenue recognition W & 72 ks
Goods transferred at a point AR —BFREIZHERE
in time ZEm 476,457 213,117 113,801 803,375
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REVENUE (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Contract and contract related liabilities

In providing goods and services to its customers, there may
be a timing difference between cash receipts from customers
and recognition of revenue, resulting in a contract or contract-
related liability.

The Group primarily has five types of liabilities related to
contracts with customers: (1) loyalty program liabilities, which
represents the deferred allocation of revenues relating to
incentive earned from the loyalty programs; (2) unredeemed
chip liabilities, which represents the amounts owed in exchange
for gaming chips and tokens held by a customer; (3) patrons
deposits and other gaming liabilities, which represents casino
front money deposits that are funds deposited by customers
before gaming play occurs; (4) contract liabilities for sales of
goods and services, which represents the advance payments on
goods and services to be provided, such as advance ticket sales
and deposits on hotel rooms; and (5) liabilities for pre-sales of
properties, which represents advances received from buyers
in connection with the Group's pre-sales of properties. These
liabilities are generally expected to be recognised as revenues
within one year of being purchased, earned, or deposited and
are recorded within other payables, accruals and deposits
received on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Increase in balance mainly due to the increase in advanced
payments received in relation to sales of goods and services
and increase in cash received from buyers in relation to the pre-
sales of properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B S R B
REVENUE (continued) 5 Wets(4)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) BEEFEHWE (&)
Contract and contract related liabilities (continued) BAIREAIIEHEE & (E)
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: BHEEFBHINOT
Patrons
Loyalty Unredeemed deposits and Sales of
program chip other gaming  goodsand  Pre-sales of
liabilities liabilities liabilities services  properties Total
BHE ARB  BEEIR HEBR
HEEE  EEAf HtBEYER k%K EENE Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER THER THER THER THER
Balance at 1 January 2019 R=B-1%-HA-H
i 22,896 23,239 1,841 9,202 52,624 109,802
Increase in contract liabilitiesas ~ FZEFPELIRLEH
aresult of cash received from ANEEEN
customers in advance 513 16,433 2,336 75,832 65,672 160,786
Decrease in contract liabilities as ~ FARERKEALA
aresult of recognising revenue  BESHALEERD
during the year was included in
the contract liabilities (19,089) (22,202) (1,760) (73,685) (97,752) (214,488)
Exchange realignment fE 5 AR (1,010) (983) (73) (374) (2,288) (4,728)
Balance at 31 December 2019  R=ZE—h&
and 1 January 2020 +TZRA=+t-BK
—Z-2F-f-H
Pk 33 3,310 16,487 2,344 10,975 18,256 51,372
Increase in contract liabilitiesas ~ FZEFELIR LB
aresult of cash received from ANEEEN
customers in advance 8,052 9,725 2,660 38,014 74,084 132,535
Decrease in contract liabilities as ~ FRRERKEIAL A
aresult of recognising revenue  BESHAHEERD
during the year was included in
the contract liabilities (7,114) (16,070) (3,049) (34,159) (68,853) (129,245)
Exchange realignment [ AR 265 398 100 941 1,467 317
Balance at 31 December 2020 R=-Z=Zf
+ZRA=t—-Hz&&H 4,513 10,540 2,055 15,771 24,954 57,833
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OTHER INCOME AND (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

A A K (5 18),Weas > 398

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FitEE FHET FABT
Management fee income BIREUWA - 2,237
Dividend income from BAEES AR MEERE
equity investments ZRHERE Z IR BUA
at fair value through other
comprehensive income 484 699
(Loss)/gain on disposal of HERBARZ
subsidiaries (E518) Wz 31 (21,386) 114
Gain/(loss) on disposal of items of HEWME - BMENMKRMEER
property, plant and equipment Wz (EE) 5,471 (107,808)
Recover of land lease payment SR E AR &
upon cancellation RIE - 144,936
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets HEF 4L IFFAEHFHE
and lease liabilities on early EREEEREERERZ
termination of leases B8 (18,950) (30,253)
Revision of a lease term arising from B NA] #585# 70 & &6 (& &
a change in the non-cancellable PREE S 2 BB IRFERT
scope of a lease 1,013 =
Derecognition of interest accretion  #EFEEIRITEER K ILER
on early redemption of Z BB
bank borrowings (815) (18,926)
Early redemption charges of RITREMEE 2IRE
bank and other borrowings f& o] & A (2,537) (9,061)
Foreign exchange differences, net PE R ZXE 58 (39,428) 20,398
Others EHfth 3,544 2,480
(72,604) 4,816
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i B s R M
LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 BRBLAT R
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBEZKRBATEBE IR, (GTA) T
(crediting): BIA -
2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aE FET FHET
Cost of properties and EEMERFERA
inventories sold
— Cost of properties sold —BEEWERKK 67,678 67,491
— Cost of inventories sold —BEFEEKAK 41,736 37,201
— Provision for inventories —FEEE 1,398 4,905
110,812 109,597
Employee benefit expenses EERNER(TEEES
(excluding directors’ FE (BT EE 9)) -
remuneration (Note 9)):
— Wages, salaries and other —T&  HehEf
staff costs* BIRA* 484,712 620,401
— Retirement benefit costs** — IR RAB B AR ** 36,337 46,611
521,049 667,012
Amortisation and depreciation: BIHNMITE:
— Depreciation of property, — - BB REEZ
plant and equipment e 14 607,548 604,286
— Depreciation of right-of- —(FAEEEZITE
use assets 16(a) 12,629 50,580
— Amortisation of intangible assets ~—#&f & 2 #EdH 18 331 271
620,508 655,137
Impairment of trade and FEWE 5 318 & H A e U
other receivables, net: SRIBRE « 558 -
— Impairment of —EWE 5 IARE -
trade receivables, net R 20() 74 1,859
— (Reversal of impairment)/ — g R W FRIA
impairment of CRERRE)/ BE -
gaming receivables, net R 20(ii) (7,720) 155,023
— Impairment of other —H fth R IRRE
receivables, net HEE 20(iii) 60,461 24,501
52,815 181,383
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

7  LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

I 58 i s 182 (48)

2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FtEE FHET FABT
Expenses included in "Other STATHMEEER P2
operating expenses” ***: B
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN BN
— Audit services to the —RAARRARME 2
Company FETARTS 3,500 2,500
— Audit services to the —mARE ZHERF]
subsidiaries of the Company M2 B R 2,778 2,958
6,278 5,458
— Building, equipment and facility =~ —1&F « R MEBERE
maintenance expenses t=4;3) 111,411 127,397
— Bad debt written off SRR 44,784 3,040
— Fair value gains on financial —RBRAFEE AR
assets at fair value through W EE AT EE
profit or loss W - (53)
— Impairment of property, —WZ - BB RERE 2 RIE
plant and equipment 14 184,887 259,326
— Cash on hand written off —FIAIR S h Y 25 28,961 =
— Sales and marketing, promotion  —$HE N EH « HENES
and advertising expenses & 45,704 136,580
— Lease payments not includedin ~ — st AME&AGBFEZ
the measurement of HERIE
lease liabilities 9,486 8,340

*%k

During the year ended 31 December 2020, government grants of
HK$1,064,000, HK$8,592,000 and HK$530,000 were received under
the "“Anti-epidemic Fund” of the Government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, the “Employment Retention Subsidy” of the
Government of South Korea and the “Jobs Support Scheme” of the
Government of Singapore, respectively. These amount are included in
the “wages, salaries and other staff costs” and there are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies related to these grants (2019: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had no forfeited
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the pension
schemes in future years (2019: Nil).

The remaining items of “Other operating expenses” including but
not limited to aircraft operating expenses, consumable supplies and
administrative expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B S R B
FINANCE COSTS, NET 8 HAE A - HH
2020 2019
—EEF —F-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest expenses: MERAX :

— Lease liabilities —HEBE (1,447) (57,642)
— Bank borrowings —RITEE (144,857) (142,307)
Finance costs mgAA (146,304) IS T

Interest income: FEUWA :

— Bank interest income —RTTH B UL A 361 2,058
— Other interest income —E 7 B U A 20,923 10,501
Finance income mEHA 21284 12,559
Finance costs, net B A o R ER (125,020) (187,390)

DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the

9 B
RIEETAEE - BE R A 55 5 383(1)

Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong @~ o) ) MHIEARAT(HEEZESA
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure AR HGIE 2 EBIRER 2 AN FEE S
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as R
follows:
2020 2019
—E-FF e
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Executive directors: HITESE
Fees e 17,245 16,443
Other emoluments: Eipl< :
Salaries, discretionary bonuses, Fe - BIBTEL
allowances and benefits in kind ERE N B YR T 14,332 7,286
Employer’s contributions to a retirement 1B £ Z R IRTEHETEl
benefit scheme HER 262 607
31,839 24,336
Independent non-executive directors: BUIFRITES :
Fees e 686 968
32,525 25,304
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

9 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9 EHHM(E)

BITESRBYFHTESZHE

Executive directors’ and independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments

RERNEXN FRITEFTRBILIFNITE
EZMEWT

The emoluments paid to executive directors and independent
non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-ZE-FEF+-A=1+—BLHF

i3

Employer's
contributions
to
Allowances  a retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Name #e Fees Salaries bonuses inkind scheme Total
Exz
BER  RAEN
fe ¥&¢  BERL  'UEA TR ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR  FRR AR TER  TER  TER
Executive directors: HITES:
Dr. Yang Zhihui EzEt 10,000 - 13,780 - - 23,780
Ms. Zhou Xueyun’ AERRTT 48 - - - - 48
Ms. Chan Mee Sze BEELL 1,500 - - - 18 1,518
Mr. Chu Huafeng? fiEte i 4 - 400 - - 444
Mr. Yeung Lo? BREE 2,073 - - 76 69 2,218
Dr. Wong Hoi Po® THREL" 1,826 - - 76 90 1,992
Ms. Pu Shen Chen'" BEY LT 1,754 - - - 85 1839
17,245 - 14,180 152 262 31,839
Independent non-executive BUFHITES
directors:
Ms. Wang Yuying® FRELLS 1 - - - - 1
Mr. Bao Jingjao® MEMEAES 235 - - - - 235
Mr. Li Mingfa B RLE 88 - - - - 88
Mr. Li Chun Ke® FHRMEL® 115 - - - - 115
Mr. Nguyen Van Tu Peter’ el 61 - - - - 61
Mr. Lin Liangyong2 HRBFEE? 62 - - - - 62
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham'* ARREL" 114 - - - - 114
686 - - - - 686
17,931 - 14,180 152 262 32,525
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i B s R M
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9 HEFHM ()
Executive directors’ and independent non-executive BITESRBYFATESZHE
directors’ emoluments (continued) (#8)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-ZE-NF+ZA=1+—BHLF
E
Employer's
contributions
to

Allowances  aretirement

Discretionary  and benefits benefit

Name k4 Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
EExz
2ER  RAER

e e  BEEL  EUEN  GEER Bzt

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET  TAR THET TAL TAL TAL

Executive directors: RTESE:
Dr. Yang Zhihui PBEE+ 10,000 7,286 - - 607 17,893
Ms. Zhou Xueyun’ AERLL’ 2,000 - - - - 2,000
Ms. Chan Mee Sze BEBELL 1,500 = = = = 1,500
Mr. Chu Huafeng? fifdL s o A 2 208 - - - - 208
Ms. Xu Ning? ffrrts 2,735 = = = = 2,735
16,443 7,286 - - 607 24,336
Independent non-executive BUFTES:
directors:
Mr. Bao Jingiao™ g e 480 - - - - 480
Mr. Fok Ho Yin, Thomas' EEREE! 180 = = = = 180
Mr. Wong Chun Hung' BT 180 - - - - 180
Ms. Wang Yuying® FERBERLS 64 - - - = 64
Mr. Li Mingfa* FHRFE 64 = = = = 64
968 - - - - 968
17,411 7,286 - - 607 25,304
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

9 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9

Executive directors’ and independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments (continued)

! Retired on 27 June 2019
2 Appointed on 26 July 2019 and resigned on 3 February 2020

3 Resigned on 26 July 2019
4 Appointed on 23 August 2019 and retired on 26 June 2020

° Appointed on 23 August 2019 and resigned on 22 January 2020

¢ Appointed on 9 January 2020

" Resigned on 9 January 2020

8 Appointed on 15 January 2020

? Appointed on 22 January 2020 and passed away on 16 June 2020

1 Appointed on 3 February 2020
" Appointed on 19 February 2020
12 Appointed on 26 June 2020

13 Retired on 26 June 2020

4 Appointed on 14 August 2020

There were no other emoluments payable to the executive
directors and independent non-executive directors during the
year (2019: Nil).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 12 March
2021, Mr. Lin Liangyong was ceased as a director of the
Company and Mr. Du Peng was appointed as a director of the
Company.

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fo 1 T 5 A M
10 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10 e B 0 H
The five highest paid employees during the year included two RAFEE  IEEeHEEREMEES
directors (2019: one director), details of whose remuneration are “E-NF: —REF) BHEHEF
set out in note 9 of the consolidated financial statement above. BEHN EXEE T BIRKRMT - Hek
Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2019: four) ZR(CE-NAF  WR)RSHRIFEES
non-director highest paid employees are as follows: BEZBHEFBHOT -
2020 2019
— —F-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe R KREYET 15,952 18,612
Employer’s contributions to a retirement 1B £ Z R IRBHET SR
benefit scheme 85 341
16,037 18,953
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose HEEZERSFREREZFMEBENFUT
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: #Anl
2020 2019
—g-®F  —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THBT
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 BT E
2,500,00078 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 BTE
3,000,000 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 BTE
3,500,000,8 7T 1 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 BT E
5,000,00078 7T - 1
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 8,000,001 BTLE
8,500,000 7T - 1
HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000 10,500,001 AT E
11,000,000 77T 1 -
3 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B R
11 INCOME TAX 11 Fifesi
No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the Group HE-_Z-ZTF+-_A=1T—HILFE -
did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong EEIECZIK%II%E’\\%E’EEEEHJE%TR/@
during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil). Taxation A WEEREBNETIELEE (=
on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated —NF &) BINEN 2 HIBTIRAE
assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing B 4K 2 P B K G A ik 5T FEER A
in the countries in which the Group operates. ZBIREGTE -
2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Current — South Korea BNER — Fa %
Charge for the year F AR 166 5,726
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR - 522
166 6,248
Current — Elsewhere BNER — Eftbith =
Charge for the year FAHER 5,795 4,465
Overprovision in prior years BB - (2,713)
5,795 1,752
Deferred tax FEFIA 8,486 (12,151)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FARBEL(ER)E5E 14,447 (4,157)

The tax on the Group's loss before tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using weighted average tax

rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

REBBRBLAT JEETEZ%R%EE@%H% ?é? i%i
i FE R 2 hniE I B R St B S I
BMZERMT

2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Loss before tax BrEERTE 1B (2,100,554) (2,137,006)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates R BAER 2 & 1iE R
applicable to profits in the MEREFE 2 HIE
respective countries (432,034) (448,838)
Adjustments in respect of current tax FHEBEFE 2 BNEAFIIE
of previous years - (2,191)
Income not subject to tax HERBUA (193,057) (376,765)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR AR B S 555,067 472,123
Tax losses utilised from prior periods B BRETIEEER (97,300) -
Tax losses not recognised REERNTIBEE 181,771 351,520
Tax expenses/(credit) at the BAEENERTERGTHE
Group's effective tax rate MEERY (EE) 14,447 (4,157)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i B s R M
12 DIVIDENDS 12 BB
The directors did not recommend the payment of a final EETEEAMEE=_Z T +=A
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil). =t —HLEFERIRARE(ZZE—N
Fom) e
13 LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13 BRo ] B N AN 4 i s 4R
OWNERS OF THE PARENT
The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based BREARREEER 2 FTERETIER ¢
on:
2020 2019
b —FNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss B8
Loss attributable to owners of AR ESRERKR
the parent, used in the basic and e SE A SN
diluted loss per share calculation: BB AEIEEE (2,115,001) (2,132,855)
Number of shares
RHOEE
2020 2019
t —TNF
‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Shares &y
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR EBRERREE
in issue during the year used in B FADBEITE B
the basic and diluted loss per share calculation  Jii#F35%L 3,342,256 2,934,898
The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding REERAFENEBITEINEEEEE
during the year (2019: Nil). EER( =N E\) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 W3k -~ W Kk

Furniture, Gaming
Freehold fivtures equipment Structure
[and outside Leasehold and office Motor and andother  Construction
Hong Kong Buildings  improvements  equipment vehicles Aireraft accessories faclities in progress Total
BN HENE  GA%E B¥RE GRAR
KARE1H B RB REAZHAE hE it RE# AfbRiE kEIE it
HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Tin ThEn TEn Tin Tin Thn TEn Tin Tin TAn
31 December 2020 ZEIRETAZT-B
At 1 January 2020: R-%-%%5-5-R:
Cost 78 1177890 6,876,817 312 1427801 89,730 426531 138,163 1782726 482,58 12,445,966
Accumulated depreciation ZHTERRA
andimpairment (15,778) (428,517) (35,875) (558,929) (50,667) (239919) (40,054) (375,502 - (1,745,237)
Net carrying amount RHFE 1,162,112 6,448,300 1,847 868,676 39,063 186,612 98,109 1407224 482,586 10,700,729
At 1 January 2020, net acumulated R=F=F%-A-H
depreciation and impairment BRATERAE 1,162,112 6,448,300 7847 868,876 39,063 186,612 98,109 1407224 482,586 10,700,729
Additions e - - - - - - 61 - 6,878 6,939
Depreciation provided for the year £EHERf - (153969) (88) (252,122 (10,162 (8630) (19,363) (162414) - (607,548)
Disposals HE - - - (1,024) (2,331) (146,288) (379 (36,279 (21,099) (207,39)
Disposal of asubsidiary HE-FHERR
(Note 31 (HiE31) (53.177) (63642 - (8,289) 63) - - (5,780) 7981 (122954)
Transfers &% - 21781 - 5,241 - - - 1134 (278,156) -
Transfer from investment BEEREME (W3 19)
properties (Note 19) - 25816 - - - - - - - 25816
Transfer to investment BEZRANE (Wit 10)
properties (Note 19) - (55,941) - - - - - - (61,683) (117,624)
Transfer from properties EREZRMIZ
under development (Note 21) (& 21) 6,678 188 - - - - - - 124,183 131,049
Transfer to properties BRZURMNE
under development (Note21) (i 21) (5,0%) (750) - - - - - - 23) (5,809)
Transfer from completed properties BB fFEE M,
held for sale (Note 22 nx (M) - 164,001 - - - - - - - 164,001
Transferto completed properties  ERZHEE A
held for sale (Note 22 VESGiE/) - (21,250 - - - - - - (61923) 83173
Impaiment il (1,050 (1.437) (7,088) (197) - (31,694) - - (143421) (184,887)
Exchange realignment Eige 55975 378,305 129 27,053 93 - 3843 57976 (12,609) 511,645
At 31 December 2020, it mt2:3
net accumulated depreciation  TZA=t-H >
and impairment FRIHTERAE 1165502 6991402 - 639,538 249 - Qa1 1261861 Q2724 10210788
At 31 December 2020; k2.3
tZA=t-R:
Cost A 1,165,502 7,460,585 38,803 1447915 88,333 - 145,060 1,808,712 4724 12,197,634
Accumulated depreciation BHTERAA
andimpairment - (469,183) (38,803) (808,377) (60,843) - (62,789) (546,851) - (1,986,846)
Net carrying amount BAFE 1,165,502 6991402 - 639,538 21490 - 82211 1261861 Q724 10210788
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i B B A B i
14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 W€ ~ Wb Kot i (48
(continued)
Furniture, Gaming
Freehold fixtures equipment Structure
land outside Leasehold and office Motor and andother  Construction
Hong Kong Buidings  improvements  equipment vehicles Aircraft accessories faclities ~ in progess Total
FR BENE Rl RE B GRIR
KAFHEL B 2B REAZRE il it Rt kit kEIR a3t
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS000 HK$ 000
T T Tin T ThAL Tin Tin T T Tin
31 December 2019 ZE-NE+ZA=1-B
At 1 January 2019: R=B-nE-A-R:
Cost A 1211327 6464528 13615 1353792 93,055 426531 134,561 1,529,551 1454005 12680965
Accumulated depreciation ZiHERRE
and impaiment - (173439) (5630) (289921) (40,559) 7.740) (12,269 233173) - (852734)
Net carrying amount FHFE 1211327 6,291,089 7985 1083871 5249 328,784 122,29 1,296,378 1,454,005 11828231
At 1 January 2019, net acumulated R=F-15-A-R
depreciation and impairment BFEERRE 121300 6,291,089 7985 1003871 549% 38764 122,29 1296378 1,454,005 11,828,231
Additions AE - - - 4830 - - L 133 200464 205,501
Depreciation provided for the year £EHERfE - (136,45) (807) (262008 (12024) (21327) (18.469) (153208 - (604,286)
Disposals HE - (8442) - (150) (159 - (2014 (3125 (105,848) (119.738)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHERA
(Note 31) (H£31) - - (69) (3) - - - - - (102
Transfers £z 16,049 608,767 501 107,162 470 - 1431 38121 (1,052,501) -
Transfer from investment BRARENE (3 10)
properties (Note 19) - 136,715 - - - - - - - 136,715
Transfer to investment BRZREME (Wi 10)
properties (Note 19) - (31,631) - - - - - - - (31,631)
Revaluation of property, RNERERENZR

plant and equipment upon Bfth%  BERZE

transfer to investment properties - 4,064 - - - - - - - 4064
Impairment A (15721) (122754) - - - (120845) - - - (259.326)
Exchange realignment EHRE 49,531) (293083 bl (44,79) (1720) - (5209 (51,075) (13,534) (458,699)
At 31 December 2019, H%-1%

net accumulated depreciation ~ TZA=T-H"

and impairment FRHTRRAE 1,162,112 6,448,300 84 868,876 3003 184,412 98,109 140724 856 10700729
At 31 December 2019: H%-1%
t=AZt-R:
Cost A 117789 6876817 B2 1427 801 8730 126531 133,163 1782726 8586 1204596
Accumulated depreciation TERAA
and impairment (15778) (428517) (35879 (558,925) (50667) (239919) (40054) (375,502 - (1,745,231)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,162,112 6,448,300 84 868,876 3063 184412 98,109 140724 8256 10700729
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B 5 A R i

14

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, certain of the Group's property, plant
and equipment with a net carrying amount of HK$1,405,418,000
(2019: HK$1,523,652,000) were pledged to banks to secure
general banking facilities and other facilities granted to the
Group (Note 27).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, property, plant and
equipment with cost of HK$6,878,000, HK$61,000 and Nil (2019:
HK$204,349,000, HK$272,000 and HK$10,000) were added to the
Integrated Resort Business, the Gaming Business and corporate
asset which are related to Jeju Shinhwa World, respectively. As
at 31 December 2020, net carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment of Jeju Shinhwa World was HK$10,163,602,000
(2019: HK$10,315,937,000).

The directors considered that certain property, plant and
equipment of the Group were subject to impairment because
(i) respective cash-generating units of these property, plant and
equipment were underperform, suffered from substantial losses
and asset’s value has declined more than would be expected for
the year, or (i) certain subsidiaries continued to underperform
and incurred losses, or (iii) construction in progress were
either terminated or temporarily suspended. The Group has
performed an impairment assessment with recoverable amounts
of the relevant assets determined based on either (i) fair value
less cost of disposal, or (ii) value in use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by management.

In determining the fair value of the relevant property, plant
and equipment based on fair value less cost of disposal, the
Group either (i) engaged Daeil Appraisal Co., Ltd. (Kyungi
Buktu Branch), an independent professionally qualified valuer
to perform the valuation in Korea, or (i) arrived at on the basis
of market approach with reference to the second-hand market
value. The fair value assessment, which were performed by
the valuers, have been arrived at based on either (a) sales
comparison approach with reference to the current comparable
prices, or (b) cost approach with reference to the reproduction
costs less depreciation. The key assumption on determining the
fair value less cost of disposal was the economic obsolescence.
The fair value hierarchy on assessing the fair value less cost of
disposal was level 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B T B MR
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 3k - Wb Kot ()
(continued)
The impairment assessment of certain property, plant and SEEBREBReEEEM([EEER
equipment, which is allocated Gaming business cash generating REBEEBN ) 2E5TYE  BFEKRK
unit (the “Gaming CGU"), were included in the value-in-use ZREBEARE MARLGE T IEHRERMIEE 17
calculation as disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial ZEREEFECA -
statements.
An impairment provision of HK$184,887,000 (2019: HK$259,326,000) (BB 15 184,887,000 8 7L (= Z — L4F ¢
was recognised in the statement of profit or loss to write down 259,326,000/ 7)) E N BER KRR - A
the carrying amounts of these property, plant and equipment to ZEWE  BELREZREERRE
their recoverable amount of HK$42,943,000 as at 31 December HR-_Z-_TF+_A=+—HBZAK
2020 (2019: HK$1,641,810,000). [l & %8 /542,943,000 8 TT( =T — L5 :
1,641,810,000# 7T ) °
The Group’s management decide to appoint which external AEEEBEZEINBEEMABERE
valuer to be responsible for the external valuation of the BN A - BUERERBE TS M
Group's properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, B BE BUMRESHESEETE -
reputation, independence and whether professional standards AEEzERED N GEREGERME
are maintained. The Group's management have discussions it ERRREEER - UE25F KR
with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation &
results when the valuation is performed for financial reporting
purpose.
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 #EWHE
2020 2019
2R —F-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAxT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HZiREE 776,838 1,225,514
Additions NE - 699
Transfer from property, plant HEYE  BEX
and equipment (Note 14) i (FsE14) 117,624 31,631
Transfer to property, plant EEEYE. BER
and equipment (Note 14) H A (MHEE14) (25,816) (136,715)
Disposals HE - (61,000)
Fair value losses, net NEEEEE - F58 (343,496) (241,757)
Exchange realignment M 5 SR EE 12,014 (41,534)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+=A=+—HZERHEE 537,164 776,838
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o B 5 A R i

15

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group's investment property are residential properties
in Hong Kong and commercial properties in South Korea.
The directors of the Company have determined the class
of asset (i.e., residential and commercial) based on the
nature, characteristics and risks of the properties. The
Group's investment properties in Hong Kong was revalued
on 31 December 2020 based on a valuation performed by
Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer, while the properties in Korea was revalued
on 31 December 2020 based on a valuation performed
by Daeil Appraisal Co., Ltd. (Kyungi Buktu Branch), an
independent professionally qualified valuer. The fair value was
HK$537,164,000 (2019: HK$776,838,000), and fair value loss of
HK$343,496,000 (2019: HK$241,757,000) was recorded in the
statement of profit or loss for the year. Each year, the Group's
management decide to appoint which external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuation of the Group's properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group's management have discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results
when the valuation is performed for financial reporting purpose.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included
in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2020, the Group's investment properties
with an aggregate carrying value of HK$54,649,000 (2019:
HK$3,936,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (Note 27).

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are
included on page 227.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

15

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's investment properties:

for B 25 AR M

BE Wk (4)
DNPEESER
TREMEARERANMEZ AT EEFE

=4

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2020 using
R-B-EF+=-A=+—HEHR
UT &8> AT EENE

Quoted Significant Significant
pricesin  observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EXRTEHE EAFATEHE
ERTSRE BWARE BWARE
(B—%%) (B=4%) (B=#) Ly
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiB7 FiBT FHBT FiBT
Recurring fair value AR EIEz &8
measurement for: NFEERE
Residential properties in BEEEME
Hong Kong - - 189,000 189,000
Commercial properties in EEESIES
South Korea - - 348,164 348,164
- - 537,164 537,164
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

15 #HEWE(HE)
AR EEEHR(E)

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2019 using
R-ZE—hF+-_A=+—HEH
ATEEZ AT EES

Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BEAFEE EATAHEE
h BT I% Wm(E B A SR W AR
(B—%) (B=%) (B=4&) ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TFET THET THET
Recurring fair value ATNEIEZ &F 1
measurement for: NEEEE
Residential properties in BEEEYE
Hong Kong - - 188,000 188,000
Commercial properties in EEAHESES
South Korea = = 588,838 588,838
= - 776,838 776,838

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2019: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i B B A B i
15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15 #&EWE(H)
Reconciliation of fair value measurement categorised within RAFEBEERE=ZHFRNDBEZAFEE
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: TR
Hong Kong Korea
o EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 R=F-hF—H—H
ZAREE 251,200 974,314
Additions NE - 699
Transfer from property, plant and EEEYE  KE
equipment (Note 14) PECACEEREY) = 31,631
Transfer to property, plant and EREEYX BB
equipment (Note 14) R (M5t 14) - (134,702)
Transfer to owner-occupied properties EREEARME
(Note 14) (PfF5E14) - (2,013)
Disposals HE (61,000) —
Changes in fair value recognised RERXERZ A TEEE
in the statement of profit or loss (2,200) (239,557)
Exchange realignment HE 5, 58 B = (41,534)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 R=Z-hF+=HA=+—H
and at 1 January 2020 kR=—ZE-_ZF-H—H
ZEREE 188,000 588,838
Transfer from property, plant and BEEEYE  KFE
equipment (Note 14) PEIACIEEREY - 117,624
Transfer to property, plant and equipment  BEEE Y « BE M EE
(Note 14) (PifEE14) - (6,648)
Transfer to owner-occupied properties ERFEERmE
(Note 14) (Bf=E14) - (19,168)
Changes in fair value recognised in RERXRERZ A TEEE
the statement of profit or loss 1,000 (344,496)
Exchange realignment M 54, 8 B - 12,014
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 R=-Z2=-ZF+=-H=+—H
ZBREE 189,000 348,164
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T 5 T 5 A M
15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15 & ()
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the TR IR E Y EEET R ZEER
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: EREERH AR
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range of unobservable inputs
EER % EXTUBRBARE TABEERARBEE
2020 2019
—F-%F —TNF
Residential properties Direct comparison Adjusted market value 50,900 50,800
— Hong Kong (HK$/square feet) (Note i)
FEWE— B BEEEA EAEMSERE 50,900 50,800
(B, FAR) (M)
Commercial properties Income capitalisation — Avenge monthly unit 4,000 to 70,000 7,000 to 60,000
— South Korea approach rate (KRW/square meter)
(Note ii)
— Capitalisation rate per annum 5.8% 5.5%
(Note iii)
E/E Sl L ON-EN |47 —FHEf ARER 4,000t0 70,000  7,000% 60,000
(%@, FHK) (M)
—BFERM R (M) 5.8% 5.5%
Notes: MisE
(i) The higher the market unit rate, the higher the fair value. (i) MisEMERER A TFEESS °
(i) The higher the market rent, the higher the fair value. iy WmEHAeYS ATFEESS -
(i)~ The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value. (i) BRXNEXR@E AFEEBE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Valuation technique

Fair values of residential properties in Hong Kong are generally
derived using direct comparison method. The fair value is
estimated using assumption regarding the market value of the
comparable sales transactions as available in the market. The
valuation takes into account the characteristics of the investment
properties, which include the location, size, shape, view, floor
level, year of completion and other factors collectively, to arrive
at the market price per unit. The key input was the market price
per unit, which a significant increase/decrease in the market
price would result in a significant increase/decrease in the fair
value of the investment properties in Hong Kong.

Fair value of commercial properties in South Korea are generally
derived using the income capitalisation approach. Under
the income capitalisation approach, fair value is estimated
on the basis of capitalisation of existing rental income and
reversionary market rental income. The market rentals of the
investment properties are assessed and capitalised at market
yield expected by investors for this type of properties. The
market rents are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved
in the investment properties as well as other lettings of similar
properties in the neighbourhood. The market yield, which
is the capitalisation rate adopted, is made by reference to
the yields derived from analysing the sales transactions of
similar properties and adjusted to take account of the valuers'
knowledge of the market expectation from property investors
to reflect factors specific to the Group's investment properties.
The key inputs were the monthly rent rate and the market yield,
which a significant increase/decrease in the monthly rent rate
in isolation would result in a significant increase/decrease in
the fair value of the investment properties and a significant
increase/decrease in the market yield in insolation would
result in a significant decrease/increase in the fair value of the
investment properties in Korea.

for B 25 AR M

15 HEWE(H)

fhESE
BEEEMEZIAFEE-RAEELR
EETE - RFEEVEREAREYMELZ
BERMSZ A LEHER MM - #&
THRERSEZEREMEZEERRFE 8
BUE - A iR - BB BE - T
FOREMEER URHEBEMLTHE
%o ERHABBLEBEMNMHER B
MSERARE LT - @8HREE
REWERNTEEANE LT -

MEBENEZIATEE - RARAERR
LABRE - REBERAENDE - 2 HEE
DREREHSWARAREETSEES
WA ZBERfhET - REMEZMSHEE
TR BEEWZ BRI E 2 AR SR
ETHERERE - MEHE2ERE
MERZASHS U RZREMBELUNE
HAE B R MAERT (4 - AR 2 T 55 e
(AERER)RBESHMRARMEHE
R ok - WIRERMAEMS Y ERE
EMSBRHZRAELRABREEH IR
MRAKERENEZHERNE - TEBA
gESARBEERT S KRR - B AHE
BEEBAE LA THRE  283REY
EZRFEEKNELATYK METS
W REEAR L TR - 258
BIREMEZ AT EEAE TR L -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB T 5 R M
16 LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of leasehold
land, buildings and facilities used in its operations. Lease of a
leasehold land has a lease term of 25 years (disposed in early
termination in prior year), leases of buildings and facilities
generally have lease terms between 1 and 5 years while
leases of facilities generally have lease terms of 6 years. Other
buildings and facilities generally has lease terms of 12 months
or less and/or is individually of low value.

16 ME
AEEERFEEAA

AEEHAEHEEMAcSRBEE L -
BFLREBEAZHEHEAN - HELMYZ
HER2BF(RNEFRELIERDRE)
HEBFRREZEAH KRN F1ES
FrMEEREIEM—RRB6F - Hit
BF kR HB—RS12EAZATR
SHERBEEE -

(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) REHEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets REBOFERAEEERDRERRN
and the movements during the year are as follows: FREZ2EHWT :
Leasehold
land Buildings Facilities Total
HELTH BgF i et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2019 R=ZB-—hF
—H—H 605,853 62,577 64,780 733,210
Additions N - 2,786 = 2,786
Depreciation charge EEZR (17,121) (22,374) (11,085) (50,580)
Disposals on early REKRIETH
termination of HEREE
a land lease (597,096) = — (597,096)
Exchange realignment (ERTIEEE=S 8,364 149 (2,722) 5,791
As at 31 December 2019 R=ZF—hF
and 1 January 2020 +=A=t+—H
kR=%2=%F
—HA—H - 43,138 50,973 94,111
Depreciation charge TEEH - (10,822) (1,807) (12,629)
Disposals on early REKLILEER
termination of a lease RE - - (47,876) (47,876)
Revision of a lease term  E A BUEEMIHE
arising from a change SEZBMESL
in the non-cancellable ZHEBRIERT
scope of a lease - (24,560) - (24,560)
Disposal of a subsidiary & —Ei B2 A - (42) - (42)
Exchange realignment (ERTIEEE=S - 143 (1,290) (1,147)
As at 31 December 2020 R=Z=_FF
+=A=+—8H - 7,857 - 7,857
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

G A R M
16 LEASES (continued) 16 HME(4H)
The Group as a lessee (continued) REBEARBA(E)
(b) Lease liabilities b) HEERE

(c)

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

HERBREENRFAZEMNT

2020 2019
b —ETNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HIREE 80,701 604,993
New leases A4 - 2,758
Accretion of interest recognised F AR I8N
during the year 1,447 57,642
Payments (DB (20,160) (23,6006)
Disposal on early termination of leases RERITHERES (28,926) (566,842)
Revision of a lease term arising from ESENCIR 6O~ e
a change in the non-cancellable PREE & 2 HERFIER]
scope of a lease (25,573) =
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—fE AT (27) -
Exchange realignment e H R 1,013 5,756
Carrying amount at 31 December R+=-—BA=+—BZEEE 8,475 80,701
Analysed into: DM
Current portion BNERER 2 7,689 38,777
Non-current portion SERNERER 5 786 41,924

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
37(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

HEBRIHABDMREGESHBHR
KM 37(c) P BYEE -

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) BHEEREZEERZLHUT
leases are as follows:
2020 2019
— —FNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FHBT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEME 1,447 57,642
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ FHAEEENEE R 12,629 50,580
Expense relating to short-term leases EREBREE 2R
(included in other operating expenses) (FFAEMEEER) 2,469 2,801
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets B FEEBEEEREE 2 HAX
(included in other operating expenses) GtAHMEEER) 7,017 5,539
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RERER B 23,562 116,562
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AR A A B R M R
16 LEASES (continued) 16 HME(H)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32(c)
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (Note 15) consisting
of several commercial properties in Korea under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
HK$11,742,000 (2019: HK$12,158,000).

At 31 December 2020, the undiscounted lease payments
receivables by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

REBEREEA(HK)

(d) MERSHEBRENGE M BRRE
Mtz 32(c) R 55 -

REEESHEA

AEERBECEHETHAEEREDE
([3x15) BIEGERETEADE - B
ERR—BNMERBAEINRES - WR
BETMACHARAS - AEERER
R ZHEEL WA A11,742,0008 T (==
— L4 : 12,158,000 7T) °

R-ZE-_TF+_A=1+—0B XEER
IEEREMPRI 2 PAIREHEEHER K
KEARUER 2 REEIR IR EFIE T

2020 2019

— —E-NE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THET

Within one year —F A 7,094 4,392
After one year but within two years —FRERREA 5,391 3,899
After two years but within three years MFERER=FA 1,750 3,256
After three years but within four years = FREREFA 1,056 1,809
After four years but within five years ERERAER 296 1,345
After five years HF1E - 1,229
15,587 15,930
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i B s R M
GOODWILL 17 w5
HK$'000
FTHER
At 1 January 2019: R=B-hF—H—A8:
Cost (DN 5,567
Accumulated impairment REPRE -
Net carrying amount AREDFHE 5,567
Cost at 1 January 2019, R=ZB-—NF—B—HZHEE
net of accumulated impairment MR RETRE 5,567
Exchange realignment M 5, B (231)
At 31 December 2019 R-Z2-h&E+-A=+—AH 5,336
At 31 December 2019: R=ZB-hF+=A=+—8:
Cost B%N 5,336
Accumulated impairment REPRE =
Net carrying amount REHE 5,336
Cost at 1 January 2020, R-BZEF-—RA—HZHEE
net of accumulated impairment kR RERE 5,336
Impairment during the year FNRE (5,438)
Exchange realignment HE 5, 8 B 102
Cost and net carrying amount at RZE_ZTF+_H=+—H
31 December 2020 ZRRAREREEE -
At 31 December 2020: R-B-EHF+-A=+—A8:
Cost DN 5,637
Accumulated impairment E5HRE (5,637)
Net carrying amount BRERE -
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17

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment assessment of Gaming CGU

Certain property, plant and equipment, goodwill acquired
through business combination and intangible assets have been
allocated to the Gaming CGU for impairment testing. The
carrying amount of these assets are as follows:

17 TE(H)

BEEBRTELEMRERNR

ETW%  BELRRE BBXRGAHE
BzBEBEAMENEEC D REBYER
ReELBMMERERR  ZFEEZ
RREIESSIAT ¢

2020 2019

g St 223 —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

T THETT

Property, plant and equipment M - BB NRE 121,314 147,526

Goodwill [SES - 5,336

Intangible assets (Note 18) mEE (KizE18) 612,366 868,632
Gaming CGU BREBREEELEN

The recoverable amount of the Gaming CGU has been
determined by value-in-use calculations using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The management
considered the calculation based on the current condition and
location at Jeju Shinhwa World, South Korea. The financial
budgets are prepared based on a five-year business plan
considering the past performance, achievement of the medium
or long-term growth target. The financial budgets have also
taken into consideration the developments of Casino business
in Korea, including changes in the customer mix and the trends
of the composition of visitors as well as the resulting changes to
expected costs and margins. It has also taken into consideration
the result of the significant decrease in the number of visitors
as result from the adverse impact brought by COVID-19 and
the cost saving initiatives. The calculations was reviewed by
independent qualified valuer, BMI Appraisals Limited. The key
assumptions used for the calculation are as follows:

BYEBREELEMN 2 WEISFE TR
BEAEREIE AFHYBREFER
HZRERERR  HEREEAELE
EoBEERA  FTEIIATN M
(RIS 2 BN R R ) REE - M5
BERBRFEBIEGRE  EhERB
EXEE PREERBEENERIBR -
BRENTERE T BERESEBNER -

BREFHEBNESRIKTHESNBE A
Kl EEMTR A RFBRES - i
S+ INE BB R F LT A B 5 R A
TEMEPRRTBERNBRDHER - A
REFERARE - Wt ERBILAER
HERTANHRTEERARERN - 58
FIAEZM|RAT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1t—HLHFE

2020 2019

g St 223 —T-hF

Average growth rate of revenue R ERIE R K 32.86% 51.98%
Pre-tax discount rate BRATATHTER & 19% 19%
Terminal growth rate BHRIERE 3% 3%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment assessment of Gaming CGU (continued)
Gaming CGU (continued)

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets:

— Annual growth rate of revenue of each projected year
was determined based on various factors including but
not limited to the historical number of visitors, historical
and/or theoretical win rate, and historical gross gaming
revenue per person. Factors were considered based
on each type of gaming revenue which consists of VIP
gaming operations, mass market table, slot machine, and
electronic table game. The projection has also taken into
account of the consumer price index, the implementation
of on-going business strategy by the management and
the adverse impact brought by COVID-19. For the year
ended 31 December 2020, the revenue of the Gaming
Business was HK$186,486,000, representing a decrease of
12.5% when compared to the year ended 31 December
2019 (2019: HK$213,117,000, representing a decrease of
85.7% when compared to the year ended 31 December
2018). Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease
in visitation to the foreigner-only casino in Korea. The
projected average annual growth rate of 32.86% (2019:
51.98%) has reflected the continual uncertainty of the
impact of COVID-19 and the gradual recovery of the
performance of Gaming CGU to past levels with the
implementation of business strategy after normalisation of
business in coming years.

- Terminal growth rates beyond the five-year period has
taken into account of the historical growth rate of the
gaming industry in Korea, average inflation rate in the
past five years and other relevant economic factors for the
gaming business in which it operates.

- Discount rate is adopted based on the analysis performed
by an independent professional valuer which reflects (i) the
current market assessments of the time value of money
with reference to the relevant industry and comparable
companies in relevant countries, and (ii) the risk premium
specific to the Gaming CGU.

The values assigned to the above key assumptions are
consistent with external information sources.

17

for B 25 AR M

7 5% (4)
BEEBRSEEEMWRENR(E)
BREBRELELE N (H)

TXEREEBRE TR A ER
EHRBFRARSAEEN Y SEEE
R

- ZBBRAFERSZEFEEZRIR
BEEREZEB BEETIRR
IREMBAEAS  BERHIER
BARARBEABYBERERZE
o RBARNDERZSHERNEY
W EABREEEYER - &
LR ATHREETEYE - 8
BB ERIEEYERES B8
[E B He B 45 48 5 75 0% B Ko AU iR
REFTROTFFE - BHE=ZF=
TFE+-_A=+—BHILFE B¥
¥ %5 W 25 5 186,486,00078 T 0 &
HE_Z2—NL&F+=-_A=+—8H
IEEERAD125% (T — A& :
213,117,000 7T * HEREHEZ
E-NFE+-A=+—HBILEER
1857%) - BRI EBAHRER
Bl ANEI A B IR EI5 M 5h B 2R
Do TR FIERFE R 32.86% (=
T—NF :51.98%)  RELFTAE R
BENFENFENEE M M
ERARBFEEBERLBRERE
ERE BUEBBRSELEENN
EBEBBZETIRE T AEKE -

- IFEHRNRKEREDIKL IR
BEYENBERERE - BERF
P BRRARREMELHNE
FERBHEMBBEERER

- WREDRBBILEEGEMET
MM MR - ZoTRERG2ZE
REEERNEBITERATELR
NEAHESRHREENRITH ST
b R(NVBEERBREEE BN

FrERBRIGE o

Bt = RRERER T 2 BERIFE K
BB
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17

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment assessment of Gaming CGU (continued)
Gaming CGU (continued)

The management is of the view that the valuation techniques
and estimates they have employed are reflective of the current
market conditions and have taken into account the impact of
COVID-19 based on information available as at 31 December
2020. Given that (i) the heightened uncertainty over the length
of COVID-19 outbreak worldwide, (i) the impact of worldwide
travel restrictions affects the number of visitors to the foreigner-
only casino, and (iii) the ongoing measures being adopted to
address the outbreak, valuations may be subjected to more
fluctuation subsequent to 31 December 2020 than during

normal market conditions.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the impairment
of goodwill and intangible assets of HK$5,438,000 and
HK$294,462,000 were recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. The impairment is mainly a result of the challenging market
environment which was further accelerated by the adverse
effect brought by COVID-19 leading to the significant decrease
in number of visitors during the year.

If the average growth rate of revenue applied the cash flow
projections of the CGU had been 1% lower than management's
estimates while overall expenses have adjusted accordingly,
the value in use of the CGU would be lower than the estimate
amount by approximately HK$47,409,000.

If the pre-tax discount rate applied the cash flow projections of
the CGU had been 1% higher than management’s estimates,
the value in use of the CGU would be lower than the estimate
amount by approximately HK$71,597,000.

If the terminal growth rate applied the cash flow projections of
the CGU had been 1% lower than management'’s estimates,
the value in use of the CGU would be lower than the estimate
amount by approximately HK$25,526,000.

In prior year, the recoverable amount of Gaming CGU in Jeju,
South Korea calculated based on value in use exceeded the
carrying value. The increase in discount rate of Gaming CGU in
Jeju, South Korea by 1 percentage point would not remove the
remaining headroom.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B S R B
18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 EIE&EE
Gaming
Trademarks licenses Total
B BEERR wst

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FET

(Note)
(P k)
31 December 2019 —E-nE+=-HA=+—H
At 1 January 2019: R=Z—-hF—H—H8:
Cost PR 2,177 906,201 908,378
Accumulated amortisation St (230) = (230)
Net carrying amount R FE 1,947 906,201 908,148
Cost at 1 January 2019, RZEB—NF—A—HBZHA
net of accumulated amortisation ks 2 T8 1,947 906,201 908,148
Additions e 613 - 613
Amortisation provided during the year 4 /E & 51 {5 (271) - (271)
Exchange realignment P 5 R 79) (37,569) (37,648)
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-NF+=-A=+—8H 2,210 868,632 870,842
At 31 December 2019: R=B-NAFE+=A=+—-8:
Cost [DE 2,702 868,632 871,334
Accumulated amortisation RETH#EE (492) - (492)
Net carrying amount AREDFHE 2,210 868,632 870,842
31 December 2020 —ZE_ZEF+-HA=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of RZE_TF-—H—-BZKA
accumulated amortisation R RETE 2,210 868,632 870,842
Additions NG 526 - 526
Amortisation provided during the year /E# 51 (331) - (331)
Impairment during the year (Note 17) S ERE(HIFE17) - (294,462) (294,462)
Exchange realignment PE W AR 140 38,196 38,336
At 31 December 2020 R=Z=FF+=H=+-—H 2,545 612,366 614,911
At 31 December 2020: R-E-_FEF+-A=+—H:
Cost B 3,424 917,585 921,009
Accumulated amortisation BT (879) - (879)
Accumulated impairment 2ERE - (305,219) (305,219)
Net carrying amount BRESE 2,545 612,366 614,911
Note: Gaming licenses are regarded as having an indefinite useful life Btk - E‘ﬂﬁ/\ﬁ?ﬁﬁi’laﬂ BRERENE B - ZER
because the licenses have no prescribed validity period and are RREEERACAFERE - WAEH
subjected to annual impairment review. The recoverable amounts of Ef;/}iﬂﬁﬁfﬁ BYEBREELEEMNL
the Gaming CGU were determined based on value-in-use calculations AT [E] b 58 T iR 4R & B 7 SRR M 5E 17 AT
as disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. BEAEEEMERT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

19 EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

19 365 2o 4% 40 F AR A Hfth 2 i

e i < Ji HE 3 B
2020 2019
—E-%F —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THAT

Equity investments designated at fair value EERRATFEETAEM

through other comprehensive income 2HEHREZRERE
Listed equity investments, at fair value TR RIRERE -
BRATFEE

30,420 35,846

The above equity investments are investments in companies
listed on the Stock Exchange and were irrevocably designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
received dividends of HK$484,000 (2019: HK$6992,000) from
the equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The market value of the Group's listed equity investments at the
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements was
HK$26,888,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER

for B 25 AR M

20 FEAFSKE ~ RO 5k H RO i

is normally required. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to three months for major customers. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk and overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade receivables relate
to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest bearing.

RECEIVABLES R Wk I
2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi85 Fx
Trade receivables R E 5508 13,623 28,688
Less: Loss allowance for impairment W ENE SR
of trade receivables BEEERE (80) (11,980)
Trade receivables, net (Note (i) FEUE 5 F0A
JEEE (BEE () 13,543 16,708
Receivables from gaming customers (Note (ii)) FEUUE R = P 5R0A (P 7 (i) 7,059 4,548
Other receivables (Note (jii)) E At Yk 3E (BT & (i) 255,229 489,388
Prepayments (Note (iv)) FEAS FRIE (P 7 (iv)) 23,506 336,004
Value-added tax recoverable A] Ui [o] HE{E F 4,865 7,266
Deposits Hia 13,457 19,032
Restricted deposit for non-current borrowings JERNERfEE 2 IR HIFER 107,434 66,680
425,093 939,626
Less: Non-current portion J8 : FERNEAEE o (110,410) (113,773)
Current portion BNHEAER 5 314,683 825,853
Notes: Mz
(i) Trade receivables (i) EWE ZFHE
The Group's trading terms with its trade customers are mainly REBEHEZEIEFPZESERFEERE
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance B EFERPRIN RS —RAELEMN

Ko GEH-—RA—MER FEXEFAL
RE=ZA - BREFPHRERSEER
B o ARBRAM R BARENERRE
WHIR - UEEBREEERR  fmaHe
HEABREEAB TR o ERN LA
MR AEEZ EWE ZHIBRERED BT
FEM BTFEEAETEERR - &
& B 4 5 B R WE B IR A R A (A
EIR AT E IR EEEE - BIRE
HHFBATER °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,

20

TEAT R IH - W Sk T K 3L At
B Wk 3 ()

SR

(i)

(&)
e & 5 508 ()

RBERREER  ZEFAHARNBRE
BRBRZEKRESFERROMAOT

is as follows:
2020 2019
—BCEHF == lE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Within 30 days 30BA 11,585 16,381
31 to 60 days 31E60H 670 40
67 to 90 days 61£E90H 341 10
Over 90 days 90 HIAE 947 277
13,543 16,708

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

EWE ZHIRR AR BB EZEIT

2020 2019

—E-EF —ZE-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

At beginning of year RELD 11,980 10,552
Impairment losses recognised, net REEIBER - R 74 1,859
Amount written off as uncollectible i 88 74 71 AT Uk [B] < 5B (11,677) =
Exchange realignment PE 5 F 2 (297) (431)
At end of year RER 80 11,980

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating expected
credit losses. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a loss rate approach to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on a number of factors which include
(i) debtors’ ageing; (ii) historical repayment behavior of debtors;
(iii) other debtors’ specific information available to the Group;
(iv) likelihood of recovery; and (v) taking into account prevailing
and future economic conditions which are relevant for credit risk
assessment. The credit risk categorisation is adjusted to reflect
subsequent information uncovered to an extent that such information
provides evidence of conditions existed as at the year end date and
forward-looking information. The expected loss rates are estimated
based on the expected cash flows that can be recovered based on
historical recovery ratios.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Trade receivables (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's trade receivable using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2020

for B 25 AR M

20 TFEAFSKE - RO 5k H RO i
W Wk I ()

BaE - ()

(i)

FEW B 5 KA ()

VAT 8051 75 B8 AN 52 (B 1 W 2 55 R IR 40 PR
BREENEERBRNER

R-ZB-FF+=-A=1t—8

Past due
et

Within 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days Over 90 days Total

30BEA 31E£60H 61E90H #iB90 A Bt

Expected credit loss rate TEHEEBEX 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 7.79% 0.59%

Gross carrying amount RREAR(E

(HK$'000) (F#7T) 11,585 670 341 1,027 13,623
Expected credit losses RHEEEE

(HK$'000) (F&7x) - - - 80 80

As at 31 December 2019

R=-B-AF+=-A=+—R

Past due
peak
Within 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days Over 90 days Total
30HA  31E60H  61E90H #3890 H e
Expected credit loss rate TRHEERBEX 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 97.74% 41.76%
Gross carrying amount BREAE
(HK$'000) (F&7x) 16,381 40 10 12,257 28,688
Expected credit losses THHEE &R
(HK$'000) (FA&T) - - - 11,980 11,980
Receivables from gaming customers (i) FEREEEFNRER

The Group's trading terms with gaming customers are mainly on
credit. The credit term is generally 30 days for gaming operations.
Each gaming customer has a maximum credit limit. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by the management. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group has certain concentration of credit risk as
28% (2019: 1%) and 60% (2019: 6%) of the Group's gaming receivables
represent the Group's highest gaming receivable from a customer
and five highest gaming receivables from customers, respectively. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
its gaming receivable balances. Gaming receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

AEHRBYREFZRHBRREEREE
B - BREBZEEH-—RR/30H -
EBEREPURERSERERE - BEE
EHBATBRGRT RMEPR - AEE
HRERARERABEEPRAREYR
FRFEAFEETERESETRER - 254
REBET B HIAZ 28% (ZF—NF :
1%) % 60% (—F— L5 : 6%) - REEAL
B E B ERFORE SR E EMER R
ST H A ISR E R HE o BB WARSK
EAFHE e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

Receivables from gaming customers (continued)

The ageing analysis of the receivables from gaming customers as at

20 TFEAFKE ~ RO 5 sk H RO i
B Wk 3 ()

SR

(i)

(&)
EWiER R RE(E)

RBEHREER  ZEFAHARNBE

the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of BEER 27 2 RIS E P RIERRK S
loss allowance, is as follows: e :
2020 2019
—BCEHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Within 30 days 30BA - 607
31 to 60 days 312 60H - -
61 to 90 days 61290H - -
Over 90 days 90 B A 7,059 3,941
7,059 4,548
Receivables from gaming customers include receivables from EREFEFRIASEERERER 2.
individual gaming players, which are interest-free and repayable on WHIE EEREREEREARERE

demand. These balances are granted with reference to their credit
history and track record settlement.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of gaming
receivables are as follows:

B RERBRNEBEREZFETHER
ERESEREmMR Y

R EERBREBEREZHNT

2020 2019

—EC-EF —T—NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At beginning of year RED 346,453 190,477
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment losses CRERE), SREEEHER  JF5E

recognised , net (7,720) 155,023

Amount written off as uncollectible, net Wi AT E S5 - FEE (6,526) =

Exchange realignment ME K AR 15,966 953

At end of year RER 348,173 346,453

During the year ended 31 December 2020, reversal of the loss HE_Z-_ZHF+-_A=+—HILFE"

allowance of HK$7,720,000 was recognised as a result of the
continuous recovery of bad debt, which impaired previously, of
HK$4,701,000 (2019: HK$40,998,000) and expected credit loss rate
was adjusted accordingly. As at 31 December 2020, receivables
from gaming customers amounting to HK$348,173,000 (2019:
HK$346,453,000) were impaired and fully provided for. During the
year ended 31 December 2019, the loss allowance of HK$155,023,000
was recognised as a result of the majority of gaming receivables were
past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

(ii)

for B 25 AR M

20 TFEAFSKE - RO 5k H RO i
W Wk I ()

Notes: (continued) MisE : (&)
Receivables from gaming customers (continued) (i) EWEEEFXEE)
The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating expected REBRKABEC A EFERBEEERS -
credit losses. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting & RS B B A 1R A B B R 1T
date using a loss rate approach provision matrix to measure expected WESITAGTERREERRE - BEXT
credit losses. The provision rates are based on a number of factors BREZERZEE  ERBRENEBTAZ
which include (i) debtors’ ageing; (i) historical repayment behavior of BRER 5 (BB ABTERITA S (i) AEE
debtors; (iii) other debtors’ specific information available to the Group; Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfx/\%iﬁﬂ K (iv) Bz E R
and (iv) current industry conditions and future economic outlook which TG B 2 TR R 1T FE AR R R AR A Al
are relevant for credit risk assessment. The credit risk categorisation cEEERSBEERE  URBRE
is adjusted to reflect subsequent information uncovered to an extent ﬁ‘iﬁz&%ﬁﬂ BEEHERREEE
that such information provides evidence of conditions existed as at HEBEREEREZZERAEEER -
the year end date and forward-looking information. The expected ﬁﬁﬂﬁéﬂ@ 3 Ty AR BE HE FE sk Mk ) = 5+ E AT IR
loss rates are estimated based on the expected cash flows that can be Bl FEHRER R E (A5t
recovered based on historical recovery ratios.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the AN E A AR B WS R = P RR R
Group's gaming receivable using a provision matrix: REEGEENEERBRNER
As at 31 December 2020 R-B=-Z2F+=-A=+-—H
Past due
B
Within 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days Over 90 days Total
30B®R 31E60H 61Z90H #BiB90R Mt
Expected credit loss rate ~ TEHAE B 518X 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 98.01% 98.01%
Gross carrying amount BREAA(E
(HK$'000) (F7&7x) - - - 355,232 355,232
Expected credit losses TRHEEEE
(HK$'000) (F7#&7T) - - - 348,173 348,173
As at 31 December 2019 R=2-hE+=A=+—H
Past due
B
Within 30 days  31to 60 days 61to90days Over 90 days Total
30EA 31ZE60H 61Z90H #1890 H st
Expected credit loss rate  TEHAEEHEX 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 98.88% 98.70%
Gross carrying amount FREAA(E
(HK$'000) (F%&T) 607 - - 350,394 351,001
Expected credit losses RHEEERE
(HK$'000) (F#&T) - - - 346,453 346,453
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

Other receivables

Included in the Group's (i) other receivables are loan and interest
receivables from independent third parties and (ii) other receivables
from debtors in non-trade nature amounting to HK$246,365,000
(2019: HK$422,291,000) and HK$8,864,000 (2019: HK$67,097,000),
respectively. Except for the loan and interest receivables which charge
interest rate at 6% per annum and repayable on demand, other non-
trade receivables from debtors are interest-free and repayable on
demand. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its other receivable balances.

Decrease in balance during the year ended 31 December 2020
was mainly due to the continuous repayment of loan and interest
receivables from independent third parties. Increase in balance during
the year ended 31 December 2019 was mainly due to new loans were
granted to the independent third parties.

20 TFEAFKE ~ RO 5 sk H RO i
B Wk 3 ()

SR

(iii)

(&)
H b FE KRR

FTAREE () EtERREBEREWE Y E
=R ZERRFNE R (i) B ER A 2 EHAt
REBIFEEZESEE - 5 5l &246,365,000
B IT(Z T — S 422,291,00058 T ) &
8,864,000 7T (= & — JL4F : 67,097,000 7
T0) ° BRIZEFIR 6% 51 B RBRERIEEN
BRSO - HA R ER AR
FERFIT AR B RBIRERER - AEEH
4 BEE A PR GRIB A SRS B AR RS
HTH MRS BRI ©

HE_Z_ZTF+__A=+—HILFERH%
ERLHNEERARBYE=-FIFEEE
EXRERFE - EBHE-_ZT—HhE+_A
=+ HIEFEARREBEENEEREARRS
SNE=FEEHNER

The movements in impairment allowance of other receivables are as follows: HihEWFIEREREBZZFHWT :

2020 2019

—E-RF —FNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

At beginning of year F4 24,135 =
Impairment losses recognised, net EERBEEE - B8 60,461 24,501
Exchange realignment [ 55 5 2 6,789 (366)
At end of year FR 91,385 24,135
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Other receivables (continued)

In the opinion of the directors, the impairment of HK$60,461,000
(2019: HK$24,501,000) was specific in nature which was considered in
default due to indicators which showed that the Group was unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amount. Where applicable,
an impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering the probability of default of comparable companies with
published credit ratings.

As at 31 December 2020, the expected credit loss rate was applied
ranged from 3.51% to 100.00% (2019: 2.95% to 13.86%). The increase
in the loss allowance was due to the following significant changes in
the gross carrying amount:

(a) Reversal of loss allowance of HK$17,477,000 as a result of a
decrease in the gross carrying amount after the settlement
of loan and interest receivables during the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: impairment of HK$24,501,000 as a result
of an increase in gross carrying amount after new loans were
granted to the independent third parties);

(b) Increase the loss allowance of HK$77,938,000 (2019: Nil) as a
result of an increase in provision of lease-related receivables
and management fee receivables in other receivables which
were past due and the recoverability is remote.

Expected credit losses on the remaining other receivables balances
are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to
historical loss record of the Group. Based on historical loss records
and economic conditions, the directors are of the opinion that
the expected credit losses on the remaining other receivables are
minimal.

Prepayments

Decrease in prepayment during the year ended 31 December 2020
was mainly due to full refund of prepaid purchase cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment.

for B 25 AR M

20 FEAFSE ~ RO 5 sk H RO i
e Wk 3 ()

SR

(iii)

(iv)

(&)
EL o FE WURROR (48)

%?w% HREDPKRBERAEETDT

AR AEREANSE  BWRE
60,461,0005% JT(=ZZF — L4 : 24,501,000
BT BRENEE - EANERT - BE
AMREEREBBBERE RHEET
R EE]E LR B A B AR AT o

R-_ZT-_THF+-_A=+—H EERZ
FEHEEBEEN F3.51%=100.00% 2
BEA(ZZT—NF : 2.95% = 13.86%) °
BIEEEE MY A REEAEEENTE
AEE

(a) ESIEEEE 17,477,000 7T Jh M
REHE-_ZT-_ZF+=-_A=1+—
AEFEANEEERREKFE %
REAE TR ZZ—NE B
{8 24,501,000 7C + 75 B 5 A 58 32
B AREFNEREREOAERL
InFTER)

(b) B EEENT7,938,0008 (==
— N+ &) Th e e B B AT I B 1
Wfiﬂ’]ﬁﬁﬂﬂguﬁzﬁﬁ X R ) 7E S AE 7

LT R TR e B B R LB R e 1
ﬂuﬁﬁ@z

ﬁ%Tﬁ\ﬁﬂﬂgL&ml BEZEHERERT
RABBRXEAL2EAKEZBEBERRL
ﬁf’EHﬂE%ﬁ AR BEBBRLSIEER
5 EB8E2R5 BRTEMEKREZES
EEERMFEN -

AN

BE_Z_ZTH+_A=+—HALFER
?EHMIEHQE’JIEEI% SEREY
¥ BENREABENENBEKAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR A A B R M R
20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 20 THATERIE - EAWCHE 5wk E K H Al

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v) Other than trade receivables, gaming receivables and other
receivables specified in note (i), (i) and (iii), respectively, the financial
assets included in the above balances relates to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default and past due amounts. As at
31 December 2020 and 2019, the loss allowance was assessed to be

minimal.

The carrying amounts of the Group's prepayments, trade and other
receivables approximated their fair values and are denominated in the

following currencies:

FEE Wk L ()
fiaE : ()

(v)  BROBURHIEE () ~ (i) R (i) HEFA 2 W E 5
I - TR R R SR IE K H i FE UK FRIEAh
FIA LS tR 2 BTGB E R EIE L
Ma AR IE Ry ERIBARE - R=ZF
—EFERZTE-NF+_A=t+—H &
BREEGHT AR -

AREBBENKE - BUERE ZREREME
WAz REEEEAFEEHES - LA
THEBFHE

2020 2019
= s —TNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiHT
HK$ BT 10,520 20,143
RMB AREE 246,366 422,305
KRW E2[E 162,346 177,191
us$ =TT 5,860 311,316
Others Hity 1 8,671
425,093 939,626
21 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 21 FEEHYE
2020 2019
—BCFF —E-hNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
At the beginning of the year, at cost RED  BREAE 236,781 248,105
Additions NE - 287
Transfer to completed properties for sale EREFEDEKYE
(Note 22) (PFi7E22) (1,724) (1,931)
Transfer from properties, plant and equipment B G Y% « BB &K &E
(Note 14) (FHEE14) 5,809 -
Transfer to properties, plant and equipment EREYE - BB KRERE
(Note 14) (Bf=E14) (131,049 -
Exchange realignment PE W FH R 12,805 (9,680)
At the end of the year, at cost RER - BRAE 122,622 236,781
Properties under development comprise: BRAYEDIE:
Construction cost and BEKRA KR
other capitalised expenditures HibEARNERAZ - 110,620
Interest capitalised NS - 16,559
Land use rights T3 fsE A 122,622 109,602
Properties under development pending 45 223 i 78 A
construction expected to be recovered TR ERR—F1&
beyond more than one year IR 7 BRERP Y 122,622 236,781
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i B s R M
21 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 21 Rk ()
(continued)
The analysis of land costs with an aggregate net carrying SH AR Y E 2 A AN E R BR EDR (E
amount included in properties under development is as follows: BEZ WA -
2020 2019
—EIEF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET BT
South Korea L
Freehold land KAFERETH 122,622 109,602
22 COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE 22 FEECHERDE
2020 2019
—ECEH —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAxT
Completed properties for sale comprise: FEDEBKMERE
Construction cost and FREERK AN I EAth
other capitalised expenditures BEARAX 816,930 919,918
Interest capitalised BEARMEFE 24,680 28,722
Land use rights T+ 3 fsE AR 34,027 33,893
875,637 982,533
The analysis of land costs with an aggregate net carrying STARER BRI E 2 LKA ERRE
amount included in completed properties for sale is as follows: REBBZOTWT -
2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET BT
South Korea L
Freehold land KAERE L 34,027 33,893
The Group's completed properties held for sale are located in RNEE 2 FED RN FERE © NIk
South Korea. The completed properties held for sale are stated EHR - FEE R IR R R #IR
at the lower of cost and net realisable value at the end of the FEZEIRESER

reporting period.
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o B 5 A R i

22

23

24

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, cost of completed
properties for sale amounted to HK$67,678,000 (2019:
HK$67,491,000) were recognised in the profit or loss.

At 31 December 2020, the Group's completed properties
for sale with a carrying value of HK$875,637,000 (2019:
HK$951,074,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (Note 27).

22

O R (4)

HEZZ-ZTF+-A=+—HILFE -
%’%ET%EE%%E‘Z$E/\\TE@¢E§WDE
67,678,0007870( =& — L4 : 67,491,000
BIT) °

AT -TFEF+-_A=+—H  AEEBEEE
H & & 875,637,000 o(=Z T — N F ¢
951,074,000 7T ) 2 15 & B & K ¥ F
EAAEEER —RFETHRE ZERA
$¥27)

Further particulars of the Group's completed properties for sale REEFECERMEZE—TFEER
are included on page 227. FE227H o
INVENTORIES 23 HE
2020 2019
—Z- QE _j-LEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Raw materials R 58,359 58,343
Finished goods BUAK i 12,138 18,092
70,497 76,435
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24 RA-FEMEG ARG B E E
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Other unlisted investments, at fair value HEMIEEMIRE -
BATEE - 2,511

The above unlisted investments were wealth management
products issued by a bank in Mainland China. They were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as
their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal
and interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

for B 25 AR M

25 BERBE&EFED

2020 2019

—ECEF —ET-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Cash and bank balances He RIRTTAR 477,390 362,881
Short-term time deposits %2 BE AR K 170,028 35,152
647,418 398,033

As at 31 December 2020, bank deposits amounting to
HK$40,000 (2019: HK$27,000) were denominated in RMB
and kept in banks in Mainland China. These RMB are not
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Included in cash and bank balances are restricted bank deposits
of HK$5,208,000 (2019: Nil) and HK$1,425,000 (2019: Nil) which
can only be applied in a lawsuit in Korea prior to its conclusion
and a lease deposit in Korea prior to its expiry, respectively.

Cash Incident

On 4 January 2021, management of the Group discovered that
certain funds amounting to KRW14,555,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$103,713,000) belonging to the Group kept in Jeju, South
Korea was missing (the “Cash Incident”). The Group was unable
to reach the employee-in-charge of the funds and the Cash
Incident was reported to the police in South Korea.

Based upon the Investigation Progress Notification issued by
Jeju Special Self-Governing Provincial Police Agency of Korea
(the “Jeju Police”) to the Group in March 2021, the Jeju Police
revealed that KRW13,400,000,000 (equivalent to HK$95,483,000)
(the “Seized Money") was seized by them in accordance with
the due process of Korean law, and are being kept in the
deposit account of a bank under the name of the Jeju Police.
According to the legal opinions from independent lawyers,
the Seized Money is expected to be part of the amount of
the Group missed as a result of the Cash Incident and will be
retained by the Jeju Police until the investigation process is
complete.

R-ZZBE-FFE+=-_A=+—08 " R1I7EX
40,0008 T(ZF— 14 : 27,0008 7T)
ARG EXFAFBEAMIRIT - AR
BATEREBRBEMEE - AW - BIE
B A HE I B R AR - DA R AEPE - B
RAEEEAE  AEEEEERERE
EITINER ZEBZRITHARE RS
Hib & o

B & RIRTTHERRT B1£55,208,00078 7T(=
T—N%F: ) K1,425000% ﬁ(:g
—NEF  E)NRRBIRT T_/T/\ ol lEES
A] O AR R KA SR AT BR B MO B A K 'J,Hﬁﬁu
EEENEAEERTHA -

REEH

RN—TE-—F—ANA AEEEEER
HBRASEREEEMNRENS T HRIE
14,555,000,000 % & (18 & 7 103,713,000
BIL)BER(BRESEH]) - KEBRAEH
BEEREFENEES TEMRBELEH
MFEEEHRE -

R-Z——F=F BEEBEEMNEFRA
REERE([EMNER ) MAEERHD
HEERBA EMNEHBEEDRER
Bl/AEHIEE R - H1#§13,400,000,000
8 B 5 795,483,000 st )([H] #
;) WAEMNE R BETFTHRRIEITH
BFREFT - REBYEMAEIEER

HBEEMPRTET R AR EHEAE
BER Z B kR Wi EMNE SRS

EERFAERRF o
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o B B 255 R B
25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

Cash Incident (continued)

Based on the report of factual findings issued by an
independent external auditor in Korea, the cash balance in
relation to the Cash Incident located in a premises of the Group
in Korea and under the Group's possession as at 31 December
2020 was KRW10,150,000,000 (equivalent to HK$72,325,000).
Accordingly, cash loss of KRW4,405,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$28,961,000) was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year. The remaining balance of the
Seized Money were found elsewhere but is anticipated to be
part of the missing fund.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between 1 month and 3 months depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and short-term time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following

25 Bl RkBleFHY (M)

BResH (8

BIBFRBEIINBELZEMNEEAER
£ RIZEZEFFT_A=+—8 A&
EEHRERNYETRAESERES
IR & E IR S 4 8 4 10,150,000,000
5% B (3 & 172,325,000 7T ) o A U
I 4 %k 7X4,405,000,000%% BE(H & B
28,961,000 L) ERAFEREGEmE
RRESR o 15 £ h 3 75 £k B B9 F0 38 20 89 £4
R BRI BRI —ED °

FITRSEE B RITERA R H 228
FIE BRERF £, - 18 8172 B 7 3K 2 SR e 1
BAEIEATE  BTEARE MR
SBRME « WS B2 EREHERF
SEERERRL8, o 48174548 B A2 B AU
FURE B R AT BT B30 R R 40 SR8 2 4R
7 o

R PR EEMATINEEE :

currencies:
2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
HK$ BT 419,623 11,707
RMB AR 88 115
GBP HigE 746 723
KRW g2 [E 206,692 205,574
us$ e 19,310 4,538
PHP JFEREHER 565 175,015
Others Efb 394 361
647,418 398,033
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B S R B
26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 MEAT B 5 K YE B fib E Ao K IH
2020 2019
—EEF —F-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables (Note) N RIS 5,398 5,124
Deposit received BUWET® 20,113 18,706
Deferred revenue RIEW 2= 1,830 1,901
Accrued expenses e 61,445 95,261
Accrued employee benefits FEETHE B R A 58,074 73,783
Other tax payables HAbERHIE 198,730 161,580
Other payables (Note) E b e A (M aE) 100,189 140,268
Contract liabilities EHEE 57,833 51,372
503,612 547,995
Less: Non-current portion Sk SEENEAER S (31,877) (37,577)
Current portion BNERER 7 471,735 510,418
Note: BIeE
Trade payables and other payables are non-interest bearing and have an N E SRIAREMENKELSTE - FHH
average term of 1 month. RA1EA -
Trade and other payables are denominated in the following FERTE 50 IE R E A R RIE A T 5| &%
currencies: HE :
2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TFET
HK$ AIT 78,739 78,456
RMB AR 7,633 8,579
KRW 72 B 390,737 435,111
SGD FTINETT 26,387 25,644
Others HAtb 116 205
503,612 547,995
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GRe BA B R M RE
27 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27  wHEEAT B M Al A B
BORROWINGS
2020 2019
- St 22 “T-NE
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity HKS'000 interest rate Maturity HK$'000
BRAIZ ERFI=
(%) Z%A TR (%) 5|%A THT
Current I
Bank loans — secured FIEF— ER 5% 2021 829,234 5% 2020 839,199
5E —BC-F 5E kS 32
Other loan — secured EEH—ER - - - London Interbank 2020 19.817
- - Offered Rate ZEC%F
(“LIBOR")+3.85%
RARTRERE
((MRBBTRE%E
FRIMISSE
829,234 859,016
Non-current FEH
Bank loans — secured ROEH— £R 5% 2022 1,707,264 5% 2021-2022 1,586,938
5E ZBICE 5E —E-—f3
T F
Other loan — secured EEN—ER - - - London Interbank 2021 120,957
- - Offered Rate —E--F
(“LIBOR")+3.85%
RARTRAERE
(RSB TR%
#E1)M38E
1,707,264 1,707,895
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i B B A B i
27 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27wt BERAT B B A 8 (4)
BORROWINGS (continued)
2020 2019
—ECEH —TNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAxT
Analysed into: DT
Bank and other loans repayable: RT5IEREEEZ
RITREME K
Within one year —F A 829,234 859,016
In the second year FE 1,707,264 120,957
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=FEFHF
(BHEEEFE) - 1,586,938
2,536,498 2,566,911
Less: Amount repayable within one year B R—FANERY A
and classified as current portion BNERER » U2 5E (829,234) (859,016)
Amount classified as non-current portion PRI D258 1,707,264 1,707,895
Bank and other borrowings are secured by the Group's RITREMBEEUAEEDE  BE
property, plant and equipment amounting to HK$1,405,418,000 N 2% & /21,405,418,000%8 (= & — N
(2019: HK$1,523,652,000) (Note 14), investment properties £ :1,523,652,0007% 7T (M 5E14) « &
amounting to HK$54,649,000 (2019: HK$3,936,000) (Note 15) and B Y% /54,649,000 T(ZE— NLF :
completed properties for sale amounting to HK$875,637,000 3,936,000 7T ) (Fff 52 15) & 55 & B & B
(2019: HK$951,074,000) (Note 22). 1) % 75875,637,00078 T(—F — AL F :
951,074,000 % 7T ) (P £ 22) 4R °
The effective interest rates of the Group’s borrowings is 5% REEEECERFNERSE(ZE—H
(2019: 5.00% to 5.76%) per annum. The carrying amounts of F:500EE576E) - AEBEBEEZER
the Group's borrowings are denominated in the following EEATIEEE -
currencies:
2020 2019
— —BNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHBT
us$ X7 - 140,774
KRW 5% [E 2,536,498 2,426,137
2,536,498 2,566,911
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A B B A i
28 DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES 28 EFEBLIH(EE)
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year, without FAN - Rt RABRBE AR A EHE
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the HEBRZBEARAT  BEHBEEEZSHN
same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: T
Losses
Accelerated available
rental  Accelerated for offsetting
expenses tax Accrued  against future
and others  depreciation expenses  taxable profits Others Total
A
mEHe mE RRERB
B R A HERE JEHEIX pavilld S = Hth st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TERL THER THER THR THER
At 1 January 2019 R=B-h%
—-A-H - (32,288) (49,275) 101,501 (25,999) (6,061)
Deferred tax (credited)/ ERELHR
debited to the statement  (3fA) /%
of profit or loss during BRK
the year - 31,774 47,077 (96,974) 24,840 6,717
Deferred tax creditedto ~ FRE AER 2
equity during the year BB - (926) - - - (926)
Exchange realignment B A% - 1,440 2,198 (4,527) 1,159 210
At 31 December 2019,  R=ZB-hf
1 January 2020 and +=ZA=t-8"
31 December 2020 “2-Z%-f-A
R=E=2F
+ZA=1+-H - - - - - -
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GR A BA B R M RE
28 DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES 28 EMEBLIE (K E) AR (4)
(continued)
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year, FA - Rt RAERBT K VAR AN EEE
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances HERZBERT  BRERBEEZ BN
within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: N~
Accrued Fair value
expenses adjustments Others Total
st AFEERAE Hith wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FET FERT
At 1 January 2019 R=Z-h#F—-HA—H - 61,682 (8,744) 52,938
Deferred tax (credited)/debited  AFAIELEF A
to the statement of profit CIONVE T
or loss during the year EERER = (43,678) 24,810 (18,868)
Deferred tax credited to the RERIRERIEFT A
statement of comprehensive DHERER
income during the year = (162) = (162)
Exchange realignment M W R - (2,605) 444 (2,161)
At 31 December 2019 and R-E—NF
1 January 2020 +=A=+—-HK
—E_Z¥—H—H - 15,237 16,510 31,747
Deferred tax debited to the RERELEHIBELE
statement of profit or loss B
during the year 8,486 - - 8,486
Deferred tax debited to FABELEER
equity during the year 2RI - 2,457 - 2,451
Exchange realignment HE 35 711 729 930 2,370
At 31 December 2020 R-E-EF
+=—BA=+—H 9,197 18,417 17,440 45,054
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o B 5 A R i

28 DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES 28 BEEBIE(EE),AfE(4H)

(continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred
tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

REJNEE  BETECREARERAED
KRB MBI KIEH - AT /AKEL
MHEREBNHEEHASRIELZD
U

2020 2019
—ECTH —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the iR E AR R R
consolidated statement of financial position EEHIA B EFRE 45,054 31,747

As at 31 December 2020, deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
these entities that have been loss-making for some time and it
is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised. In the prior year,
deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through
the future taxable profits is probable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unrecognised
tax losses to be carried forward against future taxable income
amounted HK$2,917,233,000 (2019: HK$3,017,803,000). Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$2,916,500,000 (2019:
HK$3,017,050,000) that will expire as follows. Other losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

R-ZE-_ZFT-_A=1+—B it t%F
EREEE-RERAERREBRTEA
TRAEHA SR ZHIBAEE - R &
%ﬁ%%ﬁmLLmﬁéﬁ RESF 5t
REREBEMERRLERBEENE
ﬁﬁ%ﬂmTﬁ REREARB G FER 2
BRAR -

RBEHR AEEBEREREE
R IE 5 18 0] K 8 oK R B R B Uk A
£2,917,233,0008 w(= & — L &F:
3,017,803,0007% 7T ) o K fE R T 1H & 1B
B $£2,916,500,00078 JT(= & — 7L F -
3,017,050,0008 7T ) K& 48 + #5121 4F
DEIEE o HAbEsI8n] AR HR4EEE -

2020 2019

—ECEF —ZT—hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

2023 :%:zi 7,945 16,866
2024 —EUE 1,583 81,597
2025 “E-REF 48 147,542
2026 ZERF - 527,262
2027 —E_tF - 151,682
2028 —E-)\F 552,840 657,808
2029 —ENEF 1,483,734 1,434,293
2030 BT 870,350 =
2,916,500 3,017,050
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES
(continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. At 31 December 2020, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled HK$740,000 at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$733,000).

for B 25 AR M

28 EAEBLIE (EE) A ()

RIERBEERERE - R B ARERI
ZHINEREMINEEE E SR Z RSB
MI0% 2 TEMF - BEARENR=_ZZ )\
F—A—HBEAR BEAR_ZTTLE
+—A=1+—B®%ZAF o i B ApEEE
SN B & AT Rl A M [ 5] A TR IS R4
AEA 2 FENMBEEAERE - R =
TEF+-A=1+—8 AEERRRFTEH
KRE 2 M /B A R FE R B4 it A B HH B T 2 g
NTEINF M E - WARBERE(TEEFRIE -
EERE  ZSHBARRA RiGIKE
ERBFZAREMETTA R_TE_TF
+=-A=+—H BRFBEKEKBA A
KRERBATAERECHIEAE 2 T
MEEA 57400008 TT( - — 5 :
733,00077T) °

Annual Report 2020 43 203



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R B R MY R
29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 A
Shares g
2020 2019
—E-EH —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Authorised: EE
1,000,000,000,000 ordinary shares 1,000,000,000,000 &% =& EE
of HK$0.01 each 0.01787T 2 &K 10,000,000 10,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR :
3,521,877,510 (2019: 3,521,877,510 %
2,934,898,710) ordinary shares —E—hF:
of HK$0.01 each 2,934,898,710 %)
SFHREE0.01 B T2 ik 35,219 29,350
A summary of movements in the Company's issued share capital RNARBEITRAZESHLMAT
is as follows:
Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
28T
RGEE ERITREA RORER =)
‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTHET FTERT FTERT
At 1 January 2019, R=ZE-hE—A—H-
31 December 2019 and —E-hE+ZA=1+—H
1 January 2020 kR—ZE-_ZTF—-H—H 2,934,898 29,350 14,020,947 14,050,297
Issue of shares (Note) BT (ML) 586,980 5,869 132,070 137,939
Share issue expenses (Note)  ZEARE A (MiEE) - - (791) (791)
At 31 December 2020 R-B-B£+-A=+-H 3,521,878 35219 14,152,226 14,187,445
Note: B -
On 22 April 2020, pursuant to a share placing agreement, the Company RZZEZZFWOA-+TZH BEROES
placed 586,978,800 ordinary shares of the Company to not less than six HE S ARARERO2BBTHEARAZ
placees, who are independent third parties, at HK$0.235 per share. The 586,978,800 ik & AR AR D Bl & T N DN BB
aggregate cash subscription price received, before share issue expenses, was E=ZFEBRA  BEWARERBEBECRTERE
HK$137,939,000. This transaction resulted in an increase of the issued share F3) 137,939,000 - ZRHLEBITHRARK
capital and share premium account of HK$5,869,000 and HK$132,070,000, 7% 18 Bk 2 512 A0 5,869,000 7% JT & 132,070,000
respectively. Share issue expenses of HK$791,000 were charged to the share BTT © 791,000 7T 2 B AR & A MBI R R D RE
premium account accordingly. BRHIER -
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i B B A B i
30 RESERVES 30 fikfh
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value
Capital  Contributed Asset  through other
Share  redemption surplus Exchange Other  revaluation ~comprehensive  Accumulated
premium reserve (Note) reserve reserve reserve’ income losses Total
RAVEE
FARH2E
W28
-0 N B  BE2LY
B EE ROGE (Hf3) B EHbRE EftGE EEGE ZitER Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TEn Thn Tén TEn Tén TEn Tén TEn Tién
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-2E-H-H 14,020,947 6,503 3,460,931 (58,587) (527,311) 80,866 (283,169) (4,844,763) 11,855,417
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - 2,115,001 (2,115,001)
Other comprehensive EREMEEES
loss for the year:
Remeasurement of employee ~ EX:IEEERFIE
benefit obligation - - - - 4,345 - - - 4345
Changeinfairvalue of equity  RATEEFALMZE
investments at fair value W REREZ
through other comprehensive AT (E{EEE)
income - - - - - - (5,426) - (5,426)
Exchange differences on BEENSHER 2
translation of
foreign operations - - - 521,488 - - - - 521,488
Release of exchange REENBAAGRRZ
reserve upon dlisposal ERGRE
of subsidiaries - - - 19,296 - - - - 19,296
Total comprehensive ERREFRES
loss for the year - - - 540,784 4,345 - (5,426) (2,115,001) (1,575,298)
Release of revaluation REEENZ HER
of investment properties FEREERENE
upon transfer to property, ZEf
plant and equipment - - - - - (2,053) - 2,053 -
Issue of shares (Note 29) Hln (e 29) 132070 - - - - - - - 132,070
Share issue expenses (Note 29) ~ BFRER(Hi29) (191) - - - - - - - (791)
At 31 December 2020 RZ8-%%
tZA=t-H 14,152,226 6,503 3,460,931 482,197 (522,966 78,813 (288,595 (6957,711) 10,411,398
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o B 5 A R i

30 RESERVES (continued) 30 fif (4E)
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value
Capital  Contributed Asset  through other
Share  redemption surplus Exchange Other revaluation ~ comprehensive  Accumulated
premium reserve (Note) reserve reserve reserve’ income osses Total
BATERE
AR
Wi 2B
v NGl BE  BEILT
Bl &E RO (H3E) B2 At EiiGE" Bk ZiER a5t

HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ /000
T TAL T T T T T T TERL

At 1 January 2019 RZF-1E-A-H 14020947 6,503 3460931 487,552 (530,217) 86,285 (238,679) (2720,351) 14512911
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - (2,132,855) (2,132,855)
Other comprehensive EREMIENE -
income for the year:
Remeasurement of employee ~ EXzTE2EERFIE(
benefit obligation - - - - 2494 - - - 2494

Revaluation of property, plant ~ HNERERENEEE
and equipment upon transfer  5%1% * BERRE

to investment properties, net ¥ - - - - - 349 - - 349
Changein fairvalue of equity ~ RATEEALMZE
investments at fair value Y2 RIERE L
through other comprehensive ~ ATEEEE)
income - - - - - - (44.490) - (44.490)
Exchange differences on RERNHBERER
translation of
foreign operations - - - (546,139) - - - - (546,139)
Total comprehensive ERREFRES
loss for the year - - - (546,139) 2,494 349 (44.490) (2132,855) (2,717,494)
Transfer to accumulated losses ~ EEZ 23118 - - - - 42 - - 472 -
Release of revaluation REEENZ HER
of investment properties RERRERENE
upon transfer to property, ZEf
plant and equipment - - - - - (8915 - 8915 -
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-1%
+ZB=1-H 14,020 947¢ 6,503 3,460,931 (58,587)* (527 31)% 80,866* (283,169 (4,844.763) 11,855,417
Note: Contributed surplus of the Group was arisen from the Company's Mzt : AEBE 2 HARBRTIERRREREAM
capital reorganisation. - a0
o These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves * ZERBREPREGRERREIR 2GRS H
of HK$17,369,109,000 (2019: HK$16,700,180,000) in the consolidated b 48 17,369,109,000 8 7T (= F — N 4F :
statement of changes in equity. 16,700,180,000 #7T) °
# The asset revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from an # EEEHHEIEEAVECREEER
owner-occupied property to an investment property carried at fair BRAFEBEIRZREYFEMESE °
value.
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i B s R M
31 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 31 BB R 2 vl
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Net assets disposed of: HE s EEFE :
Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) M - R REREMEE14) 122,954 102
Right-of-use assets EREEE 42 =
Prepayments, trade and TR - BUE H0E
other receivables Ko EAth [ MR TR 56 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFED 1,136 494
Trade and other payables FEHE 5 R I8 e HAth &~ RRIE (181) -
Lease liabilities MEARE (27) =
Loan from an intermediate — P EEZER A F]
holding company B
— Shareholder’s loan —BRER (395,716) (886)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T ERITEE (1,890) =
(273,626) (290)
Outstanding shareholder’s loan disposed of FTH& 2 RIEERRE K 395,716 886
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal R &R ERE 2 [E 7 & 19,296 =
141,386 596
(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARZ (BE), Wi
(Note 6) (KzE6) (21,386) 114
Satisfied by: THRAR
Cash e 120,000 710
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in FHLENBARMNRE RBSEEDR
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: NFBEDITIAT
2020 2019
—BCEF —BNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Cash consideration RERE 120,000 710
Cash and bank balances disposed of FT & 2 & RRITEER (1,136) (494)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents BHETNENBARNRE R
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries ReEBEMRAFE 118,864 216
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31

32

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

In prior year, the Group completed the disposal of the entire
issued share capital of PD International Tourism Limited (“PD
International”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
to an independent third party at a total consideration of
HK$710,000. A gain on disposal of PD International of
HK$114,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019.

In May 2020, the Group completed the disposal of the entire
issued share capital of Stepwide Developments Limited
(“Stepwide Developments”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, to an independent third party at a total
consideration of HK$120,000,000. A loss on disposal of
Stepwide Developments of HK$21,386,000 was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2020.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

()  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group had non-cash termination of an existing
lease resulting in a derecognition of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of HK$47,876,000 (2019:
Nil) and HK$28,926,000 (2019: Nil), respectively,
and corresponding recognition of a loss on lease
termination of HK$18,950,000, in respect of a lease
arrangement for a leased facility.

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group had non-cash revision of an existing lease
resulting in a derecognition of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of HK$24,560,000 (2019: Nil)
and HK$25,573,000 (2019: Nil), respectively, and
corresponding recognition of a gain on lease
termination of HK$1,013,000, in respect of a lease
arrangement for a leased office premises.

(i) In prior year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$2,786,000 and HK$2,758,000 respectively, in
respect of lease arrangements for office premises.
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31

32

B i 2 W) (4)
REFE - ARBERKHEAR R 2EHE

YNGILER B %ﬁﬁ?&*ﬁﬁ&@ﬁ(”ﬁ%ﬁ’i%
EBRTRAT—2BIFE=)

BREAR
710,000 7T - HERE W= 114 00078

TERBEZE-_FT-NAF+-_A=t—HLt
FEZGFABERMER -

R_T-_TERA - AEAZKHEEERR
AEEMBARERERERA A ([ ER
REDEHCBITRAT—EBILE=

75 # R (B A120,000,00008 T o HEE
[ 2% e 2 [E5 18 21,386,000/8 L R E 2 —
E-TEL+ - A=+—RAILEEZHELAE
IR IERR ©

i Bl 4 i i M RE

(@) EXFREXRSH

iy BHEZZ-_ZF+-_A=+—
Eiir; REBRE—-IERA
MEZIERE R IEEHFER
BEERBEAEBED IR
47,876,000 ;L(Z & — N,
47 ) £28,926,00078 7T(—
T—NF:|) WHERER
- HEHEERENHEELZH
HYH & 4% 1 F E5 18 18,950,000 75
=

iy BE-_ZE-_TF+_A=+—
HIEFE  AEER—-BERE
HE 2 IERSIERTEEFE Pk
BEMAEGED BIRIEHER
24,560,000 B L ( = — L4 -
M ) &% 25573,000% T(= =
—NF &) WHEER
H-EAEEFNHELERN
FAERIEEH1,013,0008 7T °

(il =F AEERBEENAE
XHETHBEFEREEER
HEBBZIERSEMD A A
2,786,000 Jt I 2,758,000/
=,



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

2020

A Bl B R M ()

(b) BMEEFBELNEEZL

Interest-
bearing bank

and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
FRBITR
Hit g & HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTHERT
At 1 January 2020 R-—ZE-_ZF—-HF—H 2,566,911 80,701
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREE (184,907) (18,713)
Changes from operating cash flows HEREREH 21,695 -
Interest expense MERX - 1,447
Interest paid classified as DRERREHEREZ
operating cash flows EAALE - (1,447)
Disposal on early termination of a lease RELILE—(AHEREE - (28,926)
Revision of a lease term arising from ESENEIE E:c RN -¢ 1]
a change in the non-cancellable scope SYMEEACHE
of a lease ESXEHI - (25,573)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE — MK E A F (1,890) (27)
Exchange realignment PE 5 2 134,689 1,013
At 31 December 2020 R-ZBZZF
+=A=t+—8H 2,536,498 8,475
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32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities (continued)

2019

A Bl IR B R M T ()

(b) MEFBELENEEZC(E)

Interest-
bearing bank

and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
FHERITR
HEmEE HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT
At 1 January 2019 R=ZE—Nh&—H—H 1,953,381 604,993
Changes from financing cash flows MERSREE 643,673 (17,686)
Changes from operating cash flows HEREREH 41,446 =
New leases Mg = 2,758
Interest expense MBS = 57,642
Interest paid classified as DRERKERERELZ
operating cash flows EFIE = (5,920)
Disposal on early termination of REKLIE— TSR
aland lease RE = (566,842)
Exchange realignment PE 5 (71,589) 5,756
At 31 December 2019 R=ZB-I#%F
+=A=+-—H 2,566,911 80,701

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

(c) HERSRHAHE

HERERERTEERNEERS

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: AR ¢
2020 2019
—2=®FE  —T-N4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within operating activities A 10,933 14,260
Within financing activities BEEEA 18,713 17,686
29,646 31,946
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34

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

for B 25 AR M

33 7RIE

AEERBERRE TIINEAHEIE -

2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FABT
Contracted, but not provided for: BRI 4B REME -
Property, plant and equipment M - WE R&E 12,600 342,803
Properties under development BRPYE - 26,843
12,600 369,646
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BB R %
In addition to the transactions details elsewhere in these BRULFFBmEZEME D il 2 R HIN
financial statements, the Group had the following material AEBRFAGEBYHETIEARS
transactions with related parties during the year: I
2020 2019
e —ET-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FABT
Short-term benefits (Note (i) =EEF (R G) (32,525) (25,304)
Management fee income (Note (ii)) i ONCER D)) - 2,237

Notes:

(i) The amounts represented remuneration of directors of the Company
during the year, which was determined by the Remuneration
Committee having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

(ii) A related company engaged the Company to provide management
services with a monthly fee of HK$240,000 which was mutually agreed
by both parties. The agreement was terminated on 10 October 2019.

The directors are of the opinion that the above transactions
were conducted in the ordinary course of business of the
Group.

) BRASBEARAESRFAZHH T
HFMEZEeRTFEAARRETSBEM
B -

(i) —FBBARNZEAARNRHERRS -
A% #240,0007T - Jyeaa] #1875 EAB 15
- HEER=B-NF+ATBRL -
ESRA/LARZENAKEREXHB
TRARHELT o
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35 MBI 2 HH TH
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EUBITEERNNHRERRZREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: ™
Financial assets MBEE
2020 —ECEE
Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
BEAFEERA
Hit2mEEz
BBEE
Equity  Financial assets
investments at amortised cost Total
BRBEEARYIRZ
RERE BBEE act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET
Equity investments at BATFEES AR MZE
fair value through other Was 2 RHERE
comprehensive income 30,420 - 30,420
Financial assets included in SATENRIE - ERES
prepayments, trade and OB R H A EIGRIE 2
other receivables BB E - 396,722 396,722
Cash and cash equivalents RekREeEED - 647,418 647,418
30,420 1,044,140 1,074,560
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i B B A B i
35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35 BB 2 P T H (4])
(continued)
Financial assets (continued) B EE(E)
2019 —E—hE
Financial
assets
Financial at fair value
assets through
at fair value other
through profit - comprehensive
or loss income
BRATER
BATEE ATAEA
AAREZ PHEKE
NHEE BHEE
Designated Financial
as such assets at
upon initial Equity amortised
recognition investments cost Total
RO T HERR REBERA
BER ik
AR BRAERE MEEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7 57 57 b7
Equity investments at fair value through AT EERT AEA
other comprehensive income FHNE  RIERE = 35,846 = 35,846
Financial assets at fair value through BATEE;ABRZ
profit or loss BB E 2,511 = = 2,511
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AT FUE « EUE 5508
trade and other receivables REMERFIE R BERE - = 596,356 596,356
Cash and cash equivalents BeRALZEYD - = 398,033 398,033
2,51 35,846 994,389 1,032,746
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(continued)

35

RN B 5y 2 BB T H (%)

Financial liabilities BkaE
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
REBERATEZHEERE
2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Financial liabilities included in trade STARNEZFHIEK
and other payables HtENFIE MBEE 246,808 312,632
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTERITREMEER 2,536,498 2,566,911
Leases liabilities HEBE 8,475 80,701
2,791,781 2,960,244

36 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of trade and other receivables
excluding non-financial assets, the current portion of trade
and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities and the
current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short

term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the Financial
Controller is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The Financial Controller reports directly to the
directors and the Audit Committee. At each reporting date, the
finance department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
directors. The valuation process and results are discussed with

the Audit Committee for financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a

forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate

the fair values:

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted

market prices.
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¥

EEEBDEREMREEEY  BEE
558 N EL A R U IR 2 BDEIRE o (1 &
EEVBEE) BNEZREREME
NI N (T EEIFEF B EE) LA
KEtBRITREMBE Z MBS 2 A
BE HBERBEAKEERS  TE2HR
ZETEBREHREIE -

AEBERMHRETECYBHMHARE
EMBETARFEESEZBREER -
MHBEERENETRELZEQER -
REHEBH - MBEFI DM % T AE
E2S YBEHETERZEIZHAK
B MERESERRILE - FERFR
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36

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

In prior year, the Group invested in unlisted investments, which
represented wealth management products issued by a bank in
Mainland China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these
unlisted investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation
model based on the market interest rates of instruments with
similar terms and risks.

The fair value of the non-current portion of trade and other
receivables excluding non-financial assets, the non-current
portion of trade and other payables excluding non-financial
liabilities and the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the Group's
own non-performance risk for trade and other receivables
excluding non-financial assets, trade and other payables
excluding non-financial liabilities and interest-bearing bank
borrowings as at 31 December 2020 were assessed to be
insignificant. Management has assessed that the fair value of the
non-current portion of trade and other receivables excluding
non-financial assets, the non-current portion of trade and other
payables excluding non-financial liabilities and the non-current
portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to
their carrying amount.

The following table presents the Group's financial assets and
liabilities that are at fair value at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

for B 25 AR M

36 WEHLHZAVEMEEAFEE

% (H)

REFAEERERIFLTRE - B—F
REAMIRITEIT 2BV ER - AEER
BEEEGREAR TREZTSMNE
FERMREREREGHERLGZEFIL
MREZ NFEE -

FEUE 5 7R8I H A i W sk 38 2 SEBN AR 0
DT BIEITHEE)  BHEIFER
Hoth FE A 3B 2 IEBVEAEE 9 (DB 3R FEEF
HEBE) ARG EBRITREMER ZIERD
HE o < R EETERB A B
EERREFGHRc TAZRBEERK -
BIRTEHAR RIS REFTESH - AEEH
R-ZE-_TF+-_A=+—HEBEKEZ
S 78 K B Aty B IE (T B B E
E) BNEZFEREMENZKE(TE
FETBEE) ARG ERITEEZR Y
TRYRBRERNAFLEEEDNHTTES
TEKR - EREETHENEZRERE
U SRIB 2 JERNER S o (T B 5 IEM 75
BE) ENESFIENREMENKIEZ
FERNERES o (P BIEEM BB E) ARG &
RITEEZIERHH, 2 AFEE - EH
HEHRmERS
TERENAEBER-_ZE_FTFR_F—N
F+-A=+—HEATFEEFTEZHH
EEREE-

Fair value measurement using

BRUTWABE A FEETE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AERBTS BEXRAUBE ERTUHE
ZHRE LPNEE WAEE
(E—#) (=) (=8 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET
At 31 December 2020 R=-Z=FF
+=A=+-—8H
Financial assets BB E
Equity investments at fair value EAF(EETA
through other Hih2miias 2
comprehensive income R E 30,420 - - 30,420
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36 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 36 MBELHZAFEMEATFHEME
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) A (5)

Fair value measurement using

ERATBAZREZ A FHEENE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

REETS BEARER BEATAEER
ZHRE AR LN ¢

(B—%) (B=#R) (=) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FABT FHBT
At 31 December 2019 R=F—h%F
+t=RA=+—H
Financial assets MBEE
Equity investments at fair value ZAF(EEFTA
through other Hip2miias 2
comprehensive income e tER & 35,846 = - 35,846
Financial assets at fair value BRAFEESA
through profit or loss Baz B EE - 2,511 - 2,511
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair RZE_ZTFER —NEFE+ZA=+—
value as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. H - ﬁ%.lﬂﬁcﬂﬁ’&:ﬁ Bt 228t
waff-
During the year, there were no transfer of fair value RER BBEERUBEERENRE—
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers REE—REERATEETE - NES
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial MREERVBEEEASBHE=R
liabilities (2019: Nil). —E-NEFE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate

risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The

. k
Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise

potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central finance department

(the “Finance Department”) headed by the Financial Controller

of the Group. The Finance Department identifies and evaluates

financial risks in close co-operation with the Group's operating

units to cope with overall risk management as well as specific

areas such as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

(@) Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group's foreign currency transactions are mainly
denominated in HK$, Korean Won and United
States Dollar. The majority of assets and liabilities
are denominated in HK$, KRW and US$, and there
are no significant assets and liabilities denominated
in other currencies. The Group is subject to foreign
exchange rate risk arising from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities
which are denominated in a currency other than
HK$, KRW and US$, which are the functional
currencies of the major operating companies within
the Group. The Group currently does not hedge its
foreign currency exposure.

As HK$ is pegged to US$, management believes
that the exchange rate risk for translations between
HK$ and US$ do not have material impact to the
Group. The Group manages its foreign currency risk
by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates.

At 31 December 2020, if HK$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against KRW with all other
variables held constant, the Group's other components
of equity would have been HK$505,999,000 (2019:
HK$537,917,000) lower/higher, as a result of the
foreign exchange difference on translation of KRW
denominated assets and liabilities.

for B 25 AR M

37 SRR A BE H AR R BOR

AEEEBAXZRBYBRAR - miHRR
(BIEIMERER - F = E R KA ERR
) EERREABDESRAR - AEKE

EEH ﬁﬁfiﬁﬁz”a PRERTH T
AR - YR REEREHAEET
RAGBKZBETMEE

REEAASEMBREERE 2R RY
%%*BF‘EJ(FEHF“BJ)LTTOEM%EBEE$§%
B REEMEEAE - UBERI MFHER
BREE  NEEEBRRER NS ERE
(Plmmsg R FERBRERBE R
f) o

(a) TMIEZEM
(i)  INEEE

AEBZIERZEENE
JC - BEREITTAHE o KED
BERBENET  BEKRE
TLEHE - BN E B E
ZEREERAME - AEEA
ERREERPARLAETT -
BELRET(ASERTE
BREQNAZWEER) LS
EXFTECERREENRERE
FEL 2 SMNERR - NEE R
B0 5 1 ELONE LR o

BB TR T - EIEE
MERTTHETZE X R B
AEEMELTEKN - NEE
BYERIINEEREE - IAE
BESMNER

W:;ff¢+ A=+—

BT HBERE T
ﬁ% i P H fth B B 45
N BIAEBEMES D
1 8 > 38 50 505,999,000 7%
7T(=Z — L% : 537,917,000
BT W RRBREEE
TEZEERBEELERZE
8 o
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(@) Market risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates as the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for cash and bank
deposits, which earn low interest rate. The Group's
interest rate risk arises mainly from borrowings.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash
held at variable rates.

In prior year, if interest rate on floating rate
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, loss before tax
for the year would have been HK$1,408,000 higher/
lower, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
expenses on floating rate borrowings.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price
risk because of investments held by the Group
are classified on the consolidated statement of
financial position at financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. The Group is not exposed
to commodity price risk. To manage its price risk
arising from investments in equity securities, the
Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the
portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by
the Group.
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(a)

% R (&)

(ii)

(iii)

FE @b

REFBZIRARKLRESRE
ABETZTSHEESHF
2 RERANEETES KA
BEE WHRIESZRER
RITTFRERIN o ANE B 2 F| =
RREZEREEERE - EBEE
SAREB AT AFEEFEE
%o ZEEESAEBATE
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FRIFEZEEATIA -
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F+,/ T 1008 E 25 im Fra H
SR~ - BFER
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REEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)
(iii)  Equity price risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, for the listed equity
investments included in financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, the
impact is deemed to be on the fair value reserve
(non- recycling). If the price of the listed equity
investments increased/decreased by 5% (2019:
5%), with all other variables held constant, the
Group's other components of equity will increased/
decreased by HK$1,521,000 (2019: HK$1,792,000)
mainly as a result of the fair value change of these
investments.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, financial assets included in
prepayments, trade and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents. Credit risk is managed on a group basis,
except for credit risk relating to trade receivables and
receivables from gaming customers.

The Group has policies and guidelines in place to assess
the credit worthiness of customers from the Gaming
Business to ensure that credits are made to parties
with an appropriate credit history and a good history
of performance records. As at 31 December 2020, the
gaming receivables representing 1.8% (2019: 0.8%) of the
Group's total financial assets included in prepayments,
trade and other receivables. The Group monitors the
issuance of credit on an ongoing basis to minimise
the exposure to credit risk. The activities of individual
credit account are monitored regularly for management
to decide if the credit facility should be continued,
changed or cancelled. Management regularly evaluates
the allowance for doubtful receivables by reviewing the
collectability of each balance based upon the age of the
balance, the customer’s financial condition, collection
history and any other known information.

37 AR b
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o B 5 A R i

37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year end staging classification
as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2020

37 S R B A B H AR R B (4

(b)

EERE (%)
REREERRFEAEER

TREFERAEEEERRZE
EEZEMEREERR  TENE
HENBEERRFAETREER
ZRAEB N2 BERTESEME
) RR+ZA=+—BF&RM
RHEER M2 SBR/VBEEL
AREARE -

R-ZZE-_ZEF+=-HA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A&
FEFE FHAEREEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
R =324 ERER 292 |Gk (023 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FERT
Trade receivables* JEWE 5 FRIE * - - - 13,623 13,623
Gaming receivables* JEWIE R R I8 * - - - 355,232 355,232
Financial assets included in ST AR FIE -
prepayments, deposits and Re REAEK
other receivables HIBZMBEE
— Normal** —IEF** 376,120 - - - 376,120
— Doubtful** —RAR** - 60,461 - - 60,461
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY
— Not yet past due —iH AR R 647,418 - - - 647,418
1,023,538 60,461 - 368,855 1,452,854
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued))

As at 31 December 2019

37 SRR A BE H AR R BOR (A1)

(b)

FERR(HE)

REEEERRFE A TEREER (E)
R-E-h&+-A=+—A8

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12 {6 A 78 &7
EEEE THEMESER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FE—FEER R F=REER Sk Dapz #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FERT FAT FAET
Trade receivables* fEUE 5 5k08 * = = = 28,688 28,688
Gaming receivables* JE WS 2 2RI * - = = 351,001 351,001
Financial assets included in FTATER KA
prepayments, deposits and RE R HAh FEI
other receivables KL I EE
— Normal** —IIE i #* 575,100 - - - 575,100
— Doubtful** —RER** - 24,135 - - 24,135
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED
— Not yet past due —iH R B R 398,033 - - - 398,033
973,133 24,135 - 379,689 1,376,957

For trade and gaming receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
"doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
and gaming receivables are disclosed in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

*%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i B B s R
37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37  BA# . ba 45 P H A2 K B0oR (4)
AND POLICIES (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBESER
Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating RenEeBADTRAERSLEE
entities of the Group and aggregated by the Finance BEETT - WSS ERMA - B
Department. The Finance Department monitors rolling BHEEREBRBESFTRZR
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to FEA - BMAREEERH IS A
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs MEREFEBRTE  UHEIFHERE
while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn BREEARZEERERRKERRE
committed borrowing facilities at all times. BREE o
At the reporting date, the Group held cash and cash REERE AEERER e RI
equivalents of HK$647,418,000 (2019: HK$398,033,000) © EEY /647,418,000 (=T
(Note 25) and trade and other receivables, net, of — L 4 : 398,033,0005% 7T )(Fft 7%
HK$268,772,000 (2019: HK$506,096,000) (Note 20) that are 25) DA R FE WU B 5 50 I HL Al e UK
expected to readily generate cash inflows for managing SKIEF 58 A 268,772,000 L (= &
liquidity risk. — 11 F 1 506,096,000 7T ) (M &%
20) - TEEARIBLEE REE © R AN
REABREMA °
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities TEROMAEBZ B EE  ZF
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining MBARERBNEGES MBIRAE
period at the date of the consolidated statement of HBR A THEZEENIBHBEES
financial position to the contractual maturity date. The REBEE AR - TRAEESRE
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual RAFTREHNRERE °
undiscounted cash flows.
Less than 1to 2to
1 year 2 years 5 years Total
PR1E 1825 2E5F #et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT THET THET
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE=ZF
+=A=+-H
Trade and other payables [ENE ZHIBR
H At & 5 3R 223,394 10,726 12,686 246,806
Lease liabilities MERE 8,002 808 - 8,810
Interest-bearing bank and FTESRTT READ
other borrowings BE(TeE
(excluding lease liabilities) HEEE) 870,696 1,785,611 - 2,656,307
1,102,092 1,797,145 12,686 2,911,923
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

for B 25 AR M

37 SRR A BE H AR R BOR (A1)

(c) RBESEMRE(E)

Less than 1to 2to  More than
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
PR1E 12245 2E5%F  HBBSF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TATT TR THET
At 31 December 2019 R-B-h#F
+=A=t-8
Trade and other payables BT & ZHIE K
H b R H0R 290,394 1,733 16,086 4,419 312,632
Lease liabilities HERE 41,444 42,375 35,374 - 119,193
Interest-bearing bank and 5T E8R1T R H AL
other borrowings BE(TEE
(excluding lease liabilities) FAE&E) 990,985 208,396 1,627,228 - 2,826,609
1,322,823 252,504 1,678,688 4,419 3,258,434
Capital management EXER

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return

capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

AEEEREAZ BRARBAEERE
REZ8EN  URBRREHEER L SEMD
M AEERMN S - WRFHREEARR
BABEE KA

RRFAFABREARRE  AEENGHE
FABRREKNZBEEEHE  RARREEER
R BT B E B ERIEETS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i B B s R
37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37  BA % B 45 PR H £ 5 Bk (4)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued) EAREE(E)
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. AEBUBELRERER - ZHLEREE
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net R R ABENRGTE - B FERIRIT
debt is calculated as bank and other borrowings less cash and REMEERRERREEBYIE - &
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown BRI A WA R TR = | 5 INE
in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net BEBEFE R _TFR T —NF
debt. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as TZA=T—HBZABLEAT :
follows:
2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THBT
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FRRITREMEE
(Note 27) (£ 27) 2,536,498 2,566,911
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) B HERIREEEY
(BffaE25) (647,418) (398,033)
Net debt BT8R 1,889,080 2,168,878
Total equity B 10,446,617 11,884,767
Capital and net debt BARRERFHE 12,335,697 14,053,645
Gearing ratio BELX 15.3% 15.4%

38

As at 31 December 2020, the gearing ratio is 15.3% (2019:
15.4%).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, on 4 January 2021, the management of the Group
discovered that certain funds amounting to KRW14,555,000,000
(equivalent to HK$103,713,000) belonging to the Group kept in
Jeju, South Korea was missing. The Group was unable to reach
the employee-in-charge of the funds and the Cash Incident was
reported to the police in South Korea.

Further, up to the date of this report, the Cash Incident is still
under investigation by the Jeju Police and KRW13,400,000,000
(equivalent to HK$95,483,000) was seized by the Jeju Police and
the seized money will be retained by the Jeju Police until the
investigation process is complete.

Details of the Cash Incident are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 5 January 2021, 4 March 2021 and 15
March 2021.
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N-ZTE-_TE+-_A=+—H BELX
/315.3% (ZZ— N4 : 15.4%) °

e 5 IR S

BRRLEEGREVBHREREMIBER
EI o RM-_ZT-_—F—FMUH ' KEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR A A B R P R
39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39 AN EIMERIFE
THE COMPANY

RBERR - BEAXARAMBRAKRZE

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting date is as follows: AT
2020 2019
—ECEF —F-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RITB AR ZI&E 1,952,918 1,952,920
Property, plant and equipment M - BE KRR 37 142
Right-of-use assets FREEE 5,448 37,068
Amount due from a subsidiary FEUY — A B B A B FR I8 8,237,613 7,591,337
Equity investments designated at fair value ?EE%TE’R%{ETE::‘U\
through other comprehensive income B 2mikes 2 RIERE 28,820 33,906
Total non-current assets IEmBNEERE 10,224,836 9,615,373
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE BT B A R FUE 1,985,954 3,294,994
Prepayments and other receivables Tﬁiﬁwﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁfu&m 9,913 34,532
Cash and cash equivalents Be NIBEEEY 195,897 11,349
Total current assets MBEERE 2,191,764 3,340,875
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables H fth < 50IE 78,094 77,679
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASTBTE A B FUA 269,572 267,958
Lease liabilities HEAR 5,858 19,366
Total current liabilities mEBEEE 353,524 365,003
NET CURRENT ASSETS RENEERE 1,838,240 2,975,872
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBAE 12,063,076 12,591,245
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE - 19,106
Total non-current liabilities IERBBEEEE - 19,106
NET ASSETS EEFRE 12,063,076 12,572,139
EQUITY s
Share capital [N 35,219 29,350
Reserves (Note) D) 12,027,857 12,542,789
Total equity RS 12,063,076 12,572,139
Yang Zhihui Wong Hoi Po
e Eim%
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director
FTEFEHTEE HITEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GRe BA B R M RE
39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39 A2 EEEHIR B ()
THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: MEE
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RAREEBENT -
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fair value
through
Capital other
Share  redemption  Contributed Other  comprehensive  Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve income losses Total
RATEE
AR
2EUEZ
BREEZ
ROEE ErEERE ANBH Hfhfis ATEERE ZitFR at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TER iR AR TER TET AR
At 1 January 2019 R=E-715-A-A 14,020,947 6,503 3,460,931 193,993 (239,034) (2,972,995 14,470,345
Loss for the year FEER - - - - = (1,882,631) (1,882,631)
Change in fair value of equity investments ~ RAFEEFALMLRE
at fair value through Wi REREZ
other comprehensive income ATEES - - - - (44,925) - (44,925
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2ANELE - - = - (44.925) (1,882,631) (1927,556)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 ~ W=B-AE+=A=+-HR
“ECEE-f-H 14,020,947 6,503 3,460,931 193,993 (283,959 (4,855,626) 12,542,789
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - (641,125) (641,125)
Change in fair value of equity investments ~ RATFEEAEMZE
at fair value through gz RERE 2
other comprehensive income AT EES - - - - (5,086) - (5,086)
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2ANGLE - - - - (5,086) (641,125) (646,211)
Issue of shares (Note 30) B{R(A (K 30) 132,070 - - - - - 132,070
Share issue expenses (Note 30) BRER(M30) 791 - - - - - 191
At 31 December 2020 RZE-55+-A=1+-H 14,152,226 6,503 3,460,931 193,993 (289,045) (5,496,751) 12,027 857

40

40  fb o R

BHEHREN T —F=A=1+—HK=E
EeIERIRETEE -

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2021.
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
ARLEHFA 2 LR %

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES BE Yk

Attributable

interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
NEB A& FEHER REBELER
Units at Jeju Shinhwa World, Andeok-myeon, Shops/commerecial Freehold 100%
Seoguipo City, Jeju Special, Self-Governing
Province, South Korea
FAR N4 R B8 B P R T Andeok-myeon I S KA SEHE
N B RS
Flat A, 38th & 39th Floors, Tower 1, Residential Medium term lease 100%
Larvotto, No.8, Ap Lei Chau Praya Road,
Hong Kong
BBBRINESE8mE 1 38 RIVEAE F= AR ERFE AT
COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE HECERME

Attributable

interest of
Location Total GFA Usage the Group
NE HBREMBE A& REBELER
(‘000 sg.m.)
(FEHXK)

Seogwang-ril in Andeog-myeon, Seoguipo City, 36 Residential 100%
Jeju Special, Self-Governing Province,
South Korea
FSRE MR B AR E T F=

Andeog-myeon Seogwang-ril
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
S P R 2L

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the M TFAXREEEHEZE—T—"F —T—LF -

five years ended 31 December 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020, =Z—N\F  ZE—NEFER=_ZT=_FTF+=A
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial =+—BItAAFEZXE EERAGER
statements, is set out below. T hEER B B TR EEIZAR A M SR o

Year ended 31 December
BE+=-BA=1+—HILEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ZERF ZE—tF ZE-N\F Z=—NF ZTFF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FA&T FHET FH&T FA&T FET
(Note) (Restated)
(BT E) (E%)

RESULTS E
Revenue Weas 363,447 840,244 2,099,025 815,533 788,011
Profit/(loss) for the year FEmA,(EE) (1,321,416) 501,222 (701,527) (2,132,855) (2,115,001)
Attributable to: FEMS :
Owners of the parent (SYNGIEZZEPN (1,067,455) 505,067  (701,527) (2,132,855) (2,115,001)
Non-controlling interests R (253,961) (3,845) - - -
(1,321,416) 501,222 (701,527) (2,132,855) (2,115,001)
Note: Mz -

The financial figures were extracted from the 2017 annual report. No separate ~ BEMBHEF HIRMBEE T —tFFH M_T—~F
disclosures of continuing operations and discontinued operations were made on XIS F W EILFECE LB RERIEEBSHARE -
the financial figures for 2016.

At 31 December

R+=RA=+—H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
TE—RF ZT—+F ZT-\F ZT-NF ZBEEHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FHET FABT FHBT FHET FHER

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Total assets BERE 17,345,233 19,228,926 17,671,019 15,119,840 13,548,542
Total liabilities BfEBE (8,244,092) (3,072,178) (3,068,758) (3,235,073) (3,101,925)
Shareholders’ funds BRES 9,101,141 16,156,748 14,602,261 11,884,767 10,446,617
Equity attributable to: eI

Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZZ= N 7,953,277 16,156,748 14,602,261 11,884,767 10,446,617
Non-controlling interests FEIE R M 1,147,864 = = = -

9,101,141 16,156,748 14,602,261 11,884,767 10,446,617
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